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mondi

sustainable by design ?

What make

Mondi is a leading global  
packaging and paper group  
employing around 26,000 people 
across more than 30 countries.
We are contributing to a better world by making innovative, 
sustainable packaging and paper solutions, working with 
thousands of local and global brands using paper where 
possible, plastic when useful.
We want to create long-term value for the benefit of all 
our stakeholders. That’s why we continuously engage 
colleagues, customers, investors, communities, suppliers, 
non-profit organisations and others to understand their 
needs so that we can better inform our plans – our 
continued success depends on it.







































































































































































































































































































What this means for partners, 
governments and regulators…
We believe global partnerships and  
initiatives can bring about meaningful  
change. Sharing resources and  
best-practice gives us the best chance  
of finding sustainable solutions together, 
and being able to scale up our 
collective action. 

financial 
statements
Directors’ responsibility statement� 149

Independent auditors’ report� 150

Financial statements� 160

Production statistics and exchange rates� 223

Group financial record� 224

Additional information  
for Mondi plc shareholders� 226

Shareholder information� 228

Glossary of terms� 232

What this means for employees…
We all want to work for an organisation  
that shares our sense of purpose. Mondi’s 
focus on working with customers to develop 
innovative and sustainable products gives  
our people the confidence that their work  
is contributing to a better world.

What this means for customers…
With numerous competing routes to 
sustainability, we work with customers to 
help them make the right packaging and 
paper choices. With our EcoSolutions 
approach, we are uniquely placed to help 
navigate the complex landscape, from 
sourcing sustainable raw materials to 
minimising product carbon footprint and 
designing for recycling.
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Directors’ responsibility statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Integrated report, Remuneration report and Financial statements in accordance with 
applicable laws and regulations.

Under the Companies Act 2006, the directors are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation, and have elected to 
prepare the Mondi plc parent company financial statements in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101, ‘Reduced Disclosure 
Framework’ (FRS 101). In preparing the Group’s financial statements, the directors have also elected to comply with IFRS, issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Furthermore, under UK company law, the directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the parent company and of 
the profit or loss of the Group and the parent company for that period.

In preparing the Group’s financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, requires that 
the directors:

ee properly select and apply accounting policies;

ee present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information;

ee provide additional disclosure when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users to understand the 
impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and

ee make an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In preparing the Mondi plc parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:

ee select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

ee make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

ee state whether FRS 101 has been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

ee prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue 
in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s and parent 
company’s transactions; disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any time, the financial position of the Group and parent company; and enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Group and parent company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Group’s website. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

Report on the financial statements
These financial statements have been audited in accordance with the applicable requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The Board confirms that to the best of its knowledge:

ee the financial statements of the Group prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, and Mondi plc, prepared in accordance 
with FRS 101, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of Mondi plc and the undertakings 
included in the consolidation taken as a whole;

ee the Strategic report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of Mondi plc and the 
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it 
faces; and

ee the Integrated report and financial statements 2019, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable, and provide the information 
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s performance, business model and strategy.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements, and related notes 1 to 31, were approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 
26 February 2020, and were signed on its behalf by:

David Williams	 Andrew King 
Chair	 Director
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Mondi plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion:

ee Mondi plc’s Group financial statements and parent company financial statements (the “financial statements”) give a true and fair view of 
the state of the Group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year 
then ended;

ee the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the European Union;

ee the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); 
and

ee the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group 
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Integrated report and financial statements 2019 (the “Integrated Report”), 
which comprise: the consolidated statement of financial position and Mondi plc parent company balance sheet as at 31 December 2019; 
the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of cash flows, and 
the consolidated and Mondi plc parent company statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial 
statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to 
the Group or the parent company.

Other than those disclosed in Note 4 of the Group financial statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the Group or the parent 
company in the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019.
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Our audit approach

Overview

Overall Group materiality: €55 million (2018: €55 million), based on approximately 5% of profit before tax adjusted for special items.

Overall parent company materiality: €35 million (2018: €29 million), based on approximately 1% of total assets. 

We identified three components (2018: three) as individually significant components which required an audit of their complete financial 
information due to their financial significance to the Group and a further four components (2018: seven) where we have concluded 
that the component engagement leader is a Key Audit Partner (as defined under ISAs (UK)). These seven components (2018: ten) are 
located in Austria, the Czech Republic, Poland, Russia, Slovakia and South Africa (2018: Austria, the Czech Republic, Germany, Poland, 
Russia, Sweden, Slovakia and South Africa).

We obtained full scope audit reporting from an additional 21 components (2018: 18), including operating units and treasury operations. 
Audit of specific financial statement line items was performed at a further 21 components (2018: 19). 

We assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements and determined the following key audit matters for 2019:

ee Taxation (Group);

ee Impairment assessment of goodwill (Group);

ee Special items (Group); and

ee Simplification of the corporate structure (Group and parent company).

The acquisition of Powerflute Group Holdings Oy (Powerflute) and the adoption of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ were considered key audit matters 
for 2018, but as they were event driven matters in the prior year they were not areas of most significance in the audit of the financial 
statements in 2019.

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. 

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud 

Based on our understanding of the Group and industry in which it operates, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with 
laws and regulations related to breaches of environmental regulations and unethical and prohibited business practices (see pages 58 
and 60 of the Integrated Report), and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial 
statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial statements such as 
the Companies Act 2006 and the UK Listing Rules. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation 
of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting 
inappropriate journal entries to increase revenue and management bias in accounting estimates and judgements. The Group engagement 
team shared this risk assessment with the component auditors so that the component auditors could include appropriate audit procedures 
in response to such risks in their work. Audit procedures performed by the Group engagement team and/or component auditors included:

ee Discussions with management, internal audit and the Group’s internal legal counsel, including consideration of potential instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulation and fraud;

ee Assessment of matters reported through the Group’s whistleblowing helpline and the results of management’s investigation of such 
matters; and

ee Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its accounting estimates or judgements, in particular in relation 
to taxation, assessment of impairment of goodwill, matters classified as special items and the accounting for the simplification of the 
corporate structure (see related key audit matters below).

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations 
is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of it. Also, the risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) 
identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the 
audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures 
thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Taxation (Group)

The Group has operations in a number of geographical locations 
and as such is subject to multiple tax jurisdictions, giving rise to 
complexity in accounting for the Group’s taxation.

In particular, the interpretation of complex tax regulations and 
the unknown future outcome of any pending judgements by the 
tax authorities results in the need to provide against a number of 
uncertain tax positions. There are also cross-border transactions 
which give rise to transfer pricing related risks that require 
judgement to determine the appropriate tax charge and any 
associated provisions, and for these reasons we considered it to 
be a key audit matter.

In addition, the Group adopted IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over income 
tax treatments’ (IFRIC 23) as issued by the IFRS Interpretations 
Committee in the financial year.

Refer to notes 7 and 31, and the Audit Committee’s views set out 
on page 113.

Our audit work, which involved taxation audit specialists at Group 
and in specific locations where local tax knowledge was considered 
necessary, included the assessment of the Group’s uncertain tax 
positions. As part of our audit challenge, we also involved transfer 
pricing experts to consider the appropriateness of the Group’s 
assessment of its exposure to transfer pricing risks and related 
corporate tax provisions.

Our assessment included reading correspondence with tax 
authorities to understand the current status of tax assessments and 
investigations and to monitor developments in ongoing disputes. We 
also read recent rulings by local tax authorities, as well as external 
tax advice received by the Group where relevant, to satisfy ourselves 
that the tax provisions had been appropriately recorded or adjusted 
to reflect the latest tax legislative developments.

In assessing the adequacy of the tax provisions, we considered 
factors such as possible penalties and interest which could be 
imposed by the local tax authorities. We also determined whether 
the tax provisions were recognised in accordance with the relevant 
accounting standards.

We considered the appropriateness of the related disclosures in 
note 7 and note 31 to the financial statements.

Based on the procedures performed, we noted no material issues 
from our work.

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Mondi plc
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Group)

The Group has goodwill of €948 million (2018: €942 million).

In October 2019, the Group announced a reorganisation of 
business units which led to a change in the Group’s internal 
reporting and identification of operating segments. The 
reorganisation changed the level at which goodwill was monitored 
by the Group and required re-allocation of goodwill previously 
monitored in Consumer Packaging of €419 million to the groups 
of cash generating units (CGUs) of the new business unit structure 
of Engineered Materials and Flexible Packaging.

For the groups of CGUs to which goodwill relates (which require 
an annual impairment test), the determination of the recoverable 
amount, being the higher of value in use (VIU) and fair value less 
costs of disposal (FVLCD), requires judgement and estimation by 
management. This is because the determination of a recoverable 
amount includes management’s consideration of key internal 
inputs and external market conditions such as future paper prices, 
customer demand and forecast growth rates, which all impact 
future cash flows, and the determination of the most appropriate 
discount rate. Therefore, we considered it to be a key audit matter.

Refer to notes 1, 2, 12 and 31, and the Audit Committee’s views set 
out on page 113.

We satisfied ourselves as to the level at which goodwill is monitored 
for impairment by review of the internal reporting of financial 
performance by the Group to ensure the level of monitoring 
is consistent with, and not at a higher level than, the Group’s 
identified operating segments.

We challenged the basis for management’s estimates of growth 
rates and future cash flows with reference to historical trading 
performance, market expectations and management forecasts. We 
used our internal valuation experts to independently recalculate the 
discount rates applied and checked the mathematical accuracy of 
management’s valuation models.

For the groups of CGUs that have goodwill attached to them, we 
also compared the Group’s market capitalisation with the aggregate 
enterprise value reflected in management’s impairment models.

We recalculated management’s assessment of the sensitivity 
of the Group’s goodwill impairment models to reasonably 
possible changes in the key assumptions and considered the 
appropriateness of disclosures provided by the Group in relation to 
its impairment reviews.

We focused our procedures on the goodwill balance allocated to 
Engineered Materials, as the carrying value of goodwill is a higher 
proportion of the asset base of this group of CGUs, relative to other 
goodwill balances, and therefore has a greater inherent sensitivity to 
changes in the assumptions used in the impairment test.

We also requested management to perform an impairment 
assessment on goodwill balances at the date of the reorganisation of 
segments, which was completed in October 2019, to ensure that the 
goodwill was recoverable prior to its re-allocation to the new groups 
of CGUs. We tested key assumptions to supporting evidence and 
performed a comparison with the key assumptions applied in the 
annual impairment test performed subsequent to the reorganisation.

We assessed management’s re-allocation of the goodwill balance 
previously monitored in Consumer Packaging of €419 million to 
the Engineered Materials and Flexible Packaging groups of CGUs, 
based on their relative fair value, by testing key assumptions such 
as forecast cash flows, discount rate and medium-term growth 
rates, and performing sensitivity analysis on the relative fair 
value calculation.

Based on the procedures performed, we noted no material issues 
from our work.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Mondi plc

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Special items (Group)

The classification of certain transactions as ‘special items’, which 
is defined in note 31 to the Group financial statements, is a key 
judgement because of its impact on the reported underlying 
financial performance of the Group.

The Group has recognised a net €16 million expense in special 
items during the financial year, principally related to the following:

ee Impairment of assets at the Neusiedler operation in Austria – 
€39 million expense;
ee Implementation of a new law resulting in a third party assuming 
the obligation for future contributions related to the Group’s 
Austrian health insurance fund – €41 million income; and
ee Transaction costs incurred in relation to the simplification of the 
corporate structure (Simplification) – €14 million expense.

In addition, a net €4 million expense was recorded in special 
items relating to other matters.

Refer to notes 3 and 31 and the Audit Committee’s views set out 
on page 112.

Our testing was directed at the significant amounts classified within 
special items in 2019 related to the impairment of assets and the 
impact of the change in law related to the Austrian health insurance 
fund. The costs associated with the Simplification were tested as 
part of the key audit matter described separately below.

Impairment of Neusiedler assets
We satisfied ourselves as to the appropriateness of the judgement 
related to the level at which impairment of property, plant and 
equipment is assessed, being the lowest level at which largely 
independent cash inflows can be identified (the CGU). We also 
evaluated management’s assessment of impairment indicators, as well 
as indicators of impairment reversal, including the conclusions reached.

We specifically tested the impairment related to property, plant and 
equipment at the Neusiedler operation in Austria. We challenged the 
basis for management’s estimates of growth rates and future cash 
flows with previous reference to historical trading performance, market 
expectations and management forecasts. We also used our internal 
valuation experts to independently recalculate the discount rates 
applied by management and medium-term growth assumptions and 
checked the mathematical accuracy of management’s valuation models.

In addition, where management had obtained independent, third 
party valuations to determine the fair value less costs of disposal 
of individual assets in the Neusiedler CGU, specifically land and 
buildings, we assessed the external valuation reports and the 
qualifications of these third party valuers.

Changes related to the Group’s Austrian health insurance fund
We assessed the Group’s analysis of the change in law and related 
accounting by reading correspondence with management’s external 
legal counsel in Austria and discussing the impact of the change 
in law directly with them to confirm our understanding. We also 
assessed the accounting applied by the Group, supported by our 
accounting specialists, and read the disclosure of the matter in 
Note 23.

We tested the scheme asset and defined benefit obligation at 
the year-end date by deploying local actuarial experts to review 
the scheme valuation as well as the key assumptions applied and 
testing scheme assets to supporting evidence. We also read the 
trust deed established by the Group for existing members of the 
health insurance fund to determine whether any future obligations 
remain with the Group beyond 2019 following establishment of the 
independent trust and transfer of future obligations to the Republic 
of Austria.

Overall presentation
We considered and challenged each item disclosed in ‘special items’ 
with reference to the guidance from the Financial Reporting Council 
and European Securities & Market Authority.

We determined whether such categorisation is appropriate and 
consistent with the Group’s stated policy and past practice for 
recognition of such items. Based on the procedures performed 
above, we noted no material issues from our work.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Simplification of the corporate structure (Group and parent company)

The Group completed the Simplification of the corporate structure 
in July 2019 which resulted in a transition to a single holding 
company structure under Mondi plc. This was completed through 
a scheme of arrangement, whereby Mondi plc became the 
shareholder of all Mondi Limited ordinary shares and the dual listed 
company (‘DLC’) structure was terminated.

The Simplification involved significant accounting judgements, 
which affected both the Group and the parent company financial 
statements.

For the Group financial statements, the Simplification was 
accounted for outside the scope of IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations’ 
and the carrying value of the assets and liabilities of Mondi Limited 
were not adjusted to fair value, with the result that the share 
transactions were recorded directly in equity. The transaction costs 
incurred were recorded as a financing special item, except for costs 
directly related to the issuance of new equity shares of Mondi plc, 
which were deducted from the retained earnings in equity.

For the parent company financial statements, the transaction 
required the directors to fair value the equity investment in Mondi 
Limited at the date of the transaction, with a merger reserve 
established based on the fair value of Mondi plc shares issued 
less the nominal value of the shares issued and amounts allocated 
to the premium paid for termination of the DLC structure. 
Mondi plc recognised an investment in Mondi Limited of €783 
million (including the direct costs of acquisition) in the parent 
company financial statements and this required consideration by 
management of key internal inputs and the use of external market 
data. In addition, there were numerous material accounting entries 
posted as a result of the Simplification. Therefore, we considered 
it to be a key audit matter.

Refer to notes 21 and 31 of the Group financial statements, and 
notes 1 and 5 of the parent company financial statements, and the 
Audit Committee’s views set out on page 112.

We assessed management’s transaction step plan to effect the 
Simplification and management’s expert’s opinion on the accounting 
for the Simplification, including the implications for the Group and 
parent company financial statements. We used our accounting 
specialists to help assess the accounting entries recorded by the 
Group and parent company, including consideration of possible 
alternative accounting treatments.

We tested the implementation of the transaction step plan by 
corroboration to supporting evidence for the journals recorded.

For the parent company, we tested the appropriateness of 
management’s valuation of Mondi Limited through involvement 
of internal valuation experts and assessment of the valuation 
methodology. The testing included obtaining supporting evidence 
for key inputs such as discount rate, forecast cash flows, growth 
rates and the appropriateness of comparable companies used in 
benchmarking the overall valuation. We also tested the mathematical 
accuracy of the valuation model and performed a cross check 
of the equity value recorded by comparison with the Group’s 
market capitalisation at the date of the transaction. In addition, we 
recalculated management’s assessment of the sensitivity that is 
disclosed in the financial statements.

Our testing of the transaction costs incurred included verification 
to underlying supporting documents and consideration of 
management’s allocation of costs between equity and the income 
statement.

We considered the appropriateness of the related disclosures in 
notes 21 and 31 to the Group financial statements and notes 1 and 5 
to the parent company financial statements.

Based on the procedures performed, we noted no material issues 
from our work.
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How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a 
whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and the parent company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in 
which they operate.

In establishing the overall approach to the Group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be performed at components by 
us, as the Group engagement team, or component auditors operating under our instruction.

We identified three components (2018: three) as significant components (as defined within ISAs (UK)) which, in our view, required an audit 
of their complete financial information, due to their financial significance to the Group. Outside of these components, we obtained full 
scope audit reporting from a further four components (2018: seven), where we concluded that the component engagement leader is a Key 
Audit Partner (as defined under ISAs (UK)), and an additional 21 components where full scope audits were performed (2018: 18). Together, 
these components were in 11 countries (2018: 11), representing the Group’s principal businesses, and accounted for 66% (2018: 67%) of the 
Group’s revenue.

Audit of specific financial statement line items was performed at a further 21 (2018: 19) components and central testing was performed on 
selected items, such as goodwill, primarily to ensure appropriate audit coverage. In aggregate, the locations subject to audit procedures 
represented 82% (2018: 81%) of the Group’s revenue.

The components included within our scope of audit were determined based on the individual component’s contribution to the Group’s 
key financial statement line items (in particular revenue and profit or loss before tax), and considerations relating to aggregation risk within 
the Group.

Where work was performed by component auditors, we determined the level of involvement we needed to have in the audit work at those 
components to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the 
Group financial statements as a whole.

We issued formal written instructions to all component auditors setting out the audit work to be performed by each of them and 
maintained regular communication with them throughout the audit cycle. These interactions included attending certain component audit 
clearance meetings, as well as reviewing and assessing any matters reported. The Group engagement team also reviewed selected audit 
working papers for certain in-scope component teams, including all significant components and the further four components where we 
concluded that the component engagement leader is a Key Audit Partner.

In addition, senior members of the Group engagement team visited component teams in Austria, the Czech Republic, Finland, Germany, 
Poland, Turkey, Russia, Slovakia and South Africa. These visits included meetings with local management and with the component auditors, 
and typically involved operating site tours.

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Mondi plc
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Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, 
together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually 
and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements Parent company financial statements

Overall materiality €55 million (2018: €55 million). €35 million (2018: €29 million).

How we determined it Based on approximately 5% of profit before tax 
adjusted for special items as described in Note 3 to 
the financial statements.

Based on approximately 1% of total assets.

Rationale for benchmark 
applied

For overall Group materiality, we chose an adjusted 
profit before tax measure as the benchmark. The 
adjusted profit before tax measure removes the 
impact of significant items which do not recur from 
year to year or otherwise significantly affect the 
underlying trend of performance from continuing 
operations. This is the metric against which the 
performance of the Group is most commonly 
assessed by management and reported to 
members. We chose 5%, which is consistent with 
quantitative materiality thresholds used for profit-
oriented companies in this sector.

For overall Mondi plc parent company materiality, 
we determined the materiality based on total assets, 
which is more appropriate than a performance-
related measure as the Company is an investment 
holding company for the Group. Using professional 
judgement, we determined materiality for this year 
at €35 million (2018: €29 million), which equates to 
approximately 1% of the current year’s total assets.

For each component in the scope of our Group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall Group materiality. The range 
of materiality allocated across components was between €2.5 million (2018: €2 million) and €35 million (2018: €40 million).

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above €2.5 million 
(2018: €2 million) as well as misstatements below those amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Going concern

In accordance with ISAs (UK) we report as follows:

Reporting obligation Outcome

We are required to report if we have anything material to add 
or draw attention to in respect of the directors’ statement in the 
financial statements about whether the directors considered it 
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in 
preparing the financial statements and the directors’ identification 
of any material uncertainties to the Group’s and the parent 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern over a period 
of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the 
financial statements.

We have nothing material to add or to draw attention to.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be 
predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the Group’s  
and parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
For example, the terms of the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from  
the European Union are not clear, and it is difficult to evaluate all  
of the potential implications on the Group’s trade, customers, 
suppliers and the wider economy. 

We are required to report if the directors’ statement relating 
to Going Concern in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) is 
materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit.

We have nothing to report.
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Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Integrated Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ 
report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form 
of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform 
procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the Companies Act 
2006 have been included.

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 (CA06), ISAs 
(UK) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) require us also to report certain opinions and matters as described 
below (required by ISAs (UK) unless otherwise stated).

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ 
Report for the year ended 31 December 2019 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements. (CA06)

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and parent company and their environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report. (CA06)

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Group and of the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or liquidity 
of the Group
We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding:

ee The directors’ confirmation on page 53 of the Integrated Report that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks 
facing the Group, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity.

ee The disclosures in the Integrated Report that describe those risks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated.

ee The directors’ explanation on page 61 of the Integrated Report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over 
what period they have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a 
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of 
their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We have nothing to report having performed a review of the directors’ statement that they have carried out a robust assessment of 
the principal risks facing the Group and statement in relation to the longer-term viability of the Group. Our review was substantially 
less in scope than an audit and only consisted of making inquiries and considering the directors’ process supporting their statements; 
checking that the statements are in alignment with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”); and 
considering whether the statements are consistent with the knowledge and understanding of the Group and parent company and 
their environment obtained in the course of the audit. (Listing Rules)

Other Code Provisions
We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to report when: 

ee The statement given by the directors, on page 149, that they consider the Integrated Report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced and 
understandable, and provides the information necessary for the members to assess the Group’s and parent company’s position and 
performance, business model and strategy is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the Group and parent company obtained 
in the course of performing our audit.

ee The section of the Integrated Report on pages 110 to 116 describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address 
matters communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

ee The directors’ statement relating to the parent company’s compliance with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a 
relevant provision of the Code specified, under the Listing Rules, for review by the auditors.

Directors’ Remuneration
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006. (CA06)

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Mondi plc

Mondi Group 
Integrated report and financial statements 2019

158



Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibility statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also 
responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the parent company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the parent company’s members as a body in accordance with 
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where 
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

ee we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

ee adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or

ee certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

ee the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the members on 11 May 2017 to audit the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is three 
years, covering the years ended 31 December 2017 to 31 December 2019.

Andrew Kemp

(Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London

26 February 2020 
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2019 2018

€ million Notes Underlying
Special items 

(note 3) Total Underlying
Special items 

(note 3) Total

Group revenue 2 7,268 — 7,268 7,481 — 7,481

Materials, energy and consumables used (3,449) — (3,449) (3,526) — (3,526)

Variable selling expenses (549) — (549) (534) — (534)

Gross margin 3,270 — 3,270 3,421 — 3,421

Maintenance and other indirect expenses (363) — (363) (346) — (346)

Personnel costs 5 (1,072) 40 (1,032) (1,039) (15) (1,054)

Other net operating expenses (177) (1) (178) (272) (30) (302)

EBITDA 1,658 39 1,697 1,764 (45) 1,719

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments (435) (41) (476) (446) (81) (527)

Operating profit 2 1,223 (2) 1,221 1,318 (126) 1,192

Net profit from equity accounted investees — — — 1 — 1

Investment income 6 8 — 8 8 — 8

Foreign currency losses 6 (3) — (3) (4) — (4)

Finance costs 6 (109) (14) (123) (92) — (92)

Profit before tax 1,119 (16) 1,103 1,231 (126) 1,105

Tax (charge)/credit 7a (257) — (257) (273) 34 (239)

Profit for the year 862 (16) 846 958 (92) 866

Attributable to:

Non-controlling interests 29 33 1 34 42 — 42

Shareholders 829 (17) 812 916 (92) 824

Earnings per share (EPS) attributable to shareholders

(euro cents)

Basic EPS 8 167.6 170.1

Diluted EPS 8 167.6 170.0

Basic underlying EPS 8 171.1 189.1

Diluted underlying EPS 8 171.1 189.0

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018

€ million
Before tax 

amount
Tax 

credit
Net of tax 

amount
Before tax 

amount
Tax 

charge
Net of tax 

amount

Profit for the year 846 866

Items that may subsequently be reclassified to the 
consolidated income statement

Fair value (losses)/gains arising from cash flow hedges (4) — (4) 1 — 1

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 143 — 143 (219) — (219)

Items that will not subsequently be reclassified to the 
consolidated income statement

Remeasurements of retirement benefits plans: (21) 3 (18) (12) (1) (13)

Return on plan assets 10 (6)

Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from changes in 
demographic assumptions 12 (24)

Actuarial (losses)/gains arising from changes in financial 
assumptions (47) 16

Actuarial gains arising from experience adjustments 4 2

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 118 3 121 (230) (1) (231)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) attributable to:

Non-controlling interests (9) — (9) (12) — (12)

Shareholders 127 3 130 (218) (1) (219)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Non-controlling interests 25 30

Shareholders 942 605

Total comprehensive income for the year 967 635
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€ million Notes 2019 2018

Property, plant and equipment 10 4,800 4,340

Goodwill 12 948 942

Intangible assets 13 81 91

Forestry assets 14 411 340

Investment in equity accounted investees 14 9

Financial instruments 31 21

Deferred tax assets 7b 49 49

Net retirement benefits asset 23 17 6

Total non-current assets 6,351 5,798

Inventories 15 984 968

Trade and other receivables 16 1,111 1,190

Current tax assets 15 22

Financial instruments 5 9

Cash and cash equivalents 24b 74 52

Assets held for sale — 3

Total current assets 2,189 2,244

Total assets 8,540 8,042

Short-term borrowings 20 (780) (268)

Trade and other payables 17 (1,143) (1,186)

Current tax liabilities (101) (140)

Provisions 18 (47) (61)

Financial instruments (9) (13)

Total current liabilities (2,080) (1,668)

Medium and long-term borrowings 20 (1,496) (2,002)

Net retirement benefits liability 23 (225) (234)

Deferred tax liabilities 7b (301) (253)

Provisions 18 (37) (46)

Other non-current liabilities (16) (14)

Total non-current liabilities (2,075) (2,549)

Total liabilities (4,155) (4,217)

Net assets 4,385 3,825

Equity

Share capital and stated capital 21 97 542

Retained earnings and other reserves 3,918 2,943

Total attributable to shareholders 4,015 3,485

Non-controlling interests in equity 370 340

Total equity 4,385 3,825

The Group’s consolidated financial statements, and related notes 1 to 31, were approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 
26 February 2020 and were signed on its behalf by:

David Williams	 Andrew King
Chair	 Director

Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2019
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2019

€ million

Share capital 
and stated 

capital
Treasury 

shares
Retained 
earnings

Other 
reserves

Equity 
attributable 

to 
shareholders

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total  

equity

At 1 January 2018 542 (27) 3,571 (403) 3,683 324 4,007

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year — — 824 (219) 605 30 635

Dividends — — (793) — (793) (18) (811)

Purchases of treasury shares — (15) — — (15) — (15)

Distribution of treasury shares — 16 (16) — — — —

Mondi share schemes’ charge — — — 11 11 — 11

Issue of shares under employee share schemes — — 11 (13) (2) — (2)

Put option held by non-controlling interests — — (4) 4 — — —

Other movements in non-controlling interests — — (4) — (4) 4 —

At 31 December 2018 542 (26) 3,589 (620) 3,485 340 3,825

Total comprehensive income for the year — — 812 130 942 25 967

Dividends — — (396) — (396) (3) (399)

Purchases of treasury shares — (17) — 5 (12) — (12)

Distribution of treasury shares — 18 (18) — — — —

Mondi share schemes’ charge (see note 22) — — — 11 11 — 11

Issue of shares under employee share schemes — — 13 (13) — — —

Issue of ordinary shares, net of expenses  
(see note 21) 23 — (6) (23) (6) — (6)

Cancellation of deferred shares (see note 21) (37) — 8 29 — — —

Transfer of ordinary shares from Mondi Limited 
shareholders to Mondi plc (see note 21) (431) — — 431 — — —

Retirement benefit plan settlement transferred to 
retained earnings — — (30) 30 — — —

Other movements in non-controlling interests — — (9) — (9) 8 (1)

At 31 December 2019 97 (25) 3,963 (20) 4,015 370 4,385

Other reserves
€ million 2019 2018

Cumulative translation adjustment reserve (680) (820)

Post-retirement benefits reserve (52) (75)

Share-based payment reserve 20 22

Cash flow hedge reserve (4) —

Merger reserve1 667 259

Other sundry reserves 29 (6)

Total other reserves (20) (620)

Note:

1 	 The movement in the merger reserve is driven by the Simplification of the corporate structure. Further detail is provided in notes 21 and 31
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€ million Notes 2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 24a 1,635 1,654

Dividends received from other investments 1 1

Income tax paid (248) (248)

Net cash generated from operating activities 1,388 1,407

Cash flows from investing activities

Investment in property, plant and equipment (757) (709)

Investment in intangible assets 13 (12) (10)

Investment in forestry assets 14 (48) (53)

Investment in equity accounted investees (5) (7)

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 12 13

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash and cash equivalents (2) (402)

Proceeds from the disposal of businesses, net of cash and cash equivalents 20 3

Loans advanced to related and external parties (9) —

Interest received 7 8

Net cash used in investing activities (794) (1,157)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from medium and long-term borrowings 24c — 165

Repayment of medium and long-term borrowings 24c (48) —

Proceeds from Eurobonds 24c — 600

Net (repayment)/proceeds from short-term borrowings (20) 9

Repayment of lease liabilities (23) (25)

Interest paid (96) (73)

Transaction costs relating to the issue of share capital 21 (6) —

Dividends paid to shareholders 9 (396) (793)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 9 (3) (18)

Purchases of treasury shares (12) (15)

Financing special item 3 (14) —

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from derivatives 3 (25)

Other financing activities 5 (8)

Net cash used in financing activities (610) (183)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (16) 67

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 8 (66)

Cash movement in the year 24c (16) 67

Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 24c 1 7

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 24b (7) 8

Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

1 Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019 comprise Mondi plc and its subsidiaries (referred 
to as the ‘Group’), and the Group’s share of the results and net assets of its associates and joint ventures.

On 9 May 2019 the Group’s shareholders approved the Simplification of the corporate structure from a dual listed company (DLC) structure 
into a single holding company structure under Mondi plc. With effect from 26 July 2019, Mondi plc became the holder of all the Mondi 
Limited ordinary shares while, by other related actions, the DLC arrangements were terminated. Prior to the Simplification, Mondi Limited 
and Mondi plc operated under a DLC structure as a single economic entity, and as such, together with their respective subsidiaries, were 
reported on a combined and consolidated basis as a single reporting entity. Post Simplification, the Group is reported on a consolidated 
basis. Further detail is provided in note 21. 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
and IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) interpretations, as adopted by the European Union (EU), and the Financial Pronouncements 
as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council. The Group complies with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation and with those parts 
of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out in note 31. 

There are no differences for the Group in applying IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and IFRS as 
adopted by the EU.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as discussed in the Strategic report within ‘Principal 
risks’ under the heading ‘Going concern’ on page 61 under the historical cost basis of accounting, as modified by forestry assets and 
financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit and loss.

Critical accounting judgements and significant accounting estimates

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements includes the use of estimates and assumptions. Although the estimates 
used are based on management’s best information about current circumstances and future events and actions, actual results may differ 
from those estimates. The significant accounting estimates and critical accounting judgements in terms of IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial 
Statements’, are:

Significant accounting estimates

ee Fair value of forestry assets – refer to note 14

ee Actuarial valuations of retirement benefit obligations – refer to note 23

Critical accounting judgements

ee Accounting for the Simplification of corporate structure – refer to notes 21 and 31

ee Goodwill allocation relating to the reorganisation of the Group’s business units – refer to notes 2 and 12

ee Accounting for and presentation of the Group’s Austrian health insurance fund – refer to notes 3, 5 and 23

The consolidated financial statements include other areas of judgement and accounting estimates. While these areas do not meet the 
definition under IAS 1 of significant accounting estimates or critical accounting judgements, the recognition and measurement of certain 
material assets and liabilities are based on assumptions and/or are subject to longer term uncertainties. 

Other areas of judgement and accounting estimates 

ee Taxation – refer to notes 7 and 31 

ee Impairment of non-current non-financial assets – refer to notes 10, 11, 12, 13 and 31

ee Residual values and useful economic lives of property, plant and equipment – refer to notes 10 and 31

2 Operating segments
The Group reorganised its business units to strengthen value chain integration and improve customer focus effective from 7 October 2019. 
The Group’s four business units (previously three business units) are as follows:

ee Corrugated Packaging, comprising the operations of containerboard and corrugated solutions;

ee Flexible Packaging, comprising kraft paper, paper bags and consumer flexibles operations;

ee Engineered Materials, comprising personal care components, extrusion solutions and release liner operations; and

ee Uncoated Fine Paper, which remains unchanged. 

Prior year figures have been restated to reflect the new organisational structure. The reorganisation has no impact on the overall 
Group result. 
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2 Operating segments
The Group generates revenue from the sale of manufactured products across the packaging and paper value chain. Revenue is generally 
recognised at a point in time, typically when the goods have been delivered to a contractually agreed location. Customer payment terms do 
not contain significant financing components.

The Group provides transport services after control of certain goods has passed to the customer. The Group generated transport revenue 
of €59 million (2018: €57 million) in the current financial year. 

The material product types from which the Group’s externally reportable segments derive their internal and external revenues are 
as follows: 

Operating segments Product types

Corrugated Packaging Containerboard

Corrugated solutions

Pulp

Flexible Packaging Kraft paper

Paper bags

Consumer flexibles

Pulp

Engineered Materials Personal care components

Release liner

Extrusion solutions (extrusion coatings and technical films)

Uncoated Fine Paper Uncoated fine paper

Newsprint

Pulp

Year ended 31 December 2019

€ million, unless otherwise stated
Corrugated 
Packaging

Flexible 
Packaging

Engineered 
Materials

Uncoated 
Fine Paper Corporate

Intersegment 
elimination Total

Segment revenue 2,014 2,708 979 1,758 — (191) 7,268

Internal revenue (30) (71) (45) (45) — 191 —

External revenue 1,984 2,637 934 1,713 — — 7,268

Underlying EBITDA 583 543 122 444 (34) — 1,658

Depreciation and impairments (118) (142) (28) (118) (1) — (407)

Amortisation (6) (12) (8) (2) — — (28)

Underlying operating profit/(loss) 459 389 86 324 (35) — 1,223

Special items — (4) — 2 (14) — (16)

Operating segment assets 2,407 3,094 723 2,082 7 (117) 8,196

Operating segment net assets 2,166 2,603 612 1,758 (7) — 7,132

Trailing 12-month average capital employed 1,846 2,485 622 1,290 (81) — 6,162

Additions to non-current 
non-financial assets 275 256 37 310 — — 878

Capital expenditure cash payments 257 248 32 220 — — 757

Underlying EBITDA margin (%) 28.9 20.1 12.5 25.3 — — 22.8

Return on capital employed (%) 24.9 15.7 13.8 25.1 — — 19.8

Average number of employees (thousands)1 6.7 10.4 2.4 6.3 0.1 — 25.9

Note:

1 	 Presented on a full time employee equivalent basis
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Year ended 31 December 2018 (restated)

€ million, unless otherwise stated
Corrugated 
Packaging

Flexible  
Packaging

Engineered 
Materials

Uncoated 
Fine Paper Corporate

Intersegment 
elimination Total

Segment revenue 2,115 2,708 984 1,877 — (203) 7,481

Internal revenue (41) (69) (45) (48) — 203 —

External revenue 2,074 2,639 939 1,829 — — 7,481

Underlying EBITDA 707 461 112 516 (32) — 1,764

Depreciation and impairments (116) (146) (30) (119) (1) — (412)

Amortisation (9) (14) (9) (2) — — (34)

Underlying operating profit/(loss) 582 301 73 395 (33) — 1,318

Special items — (102) (3) (21) — — (126)

Operating segment assets 2,277 2,944 789 1,852 4 (132) 7,734

Operating segment net assets 2,001 2,442 672 1,494 (9) — 6,600

Trailing 12-month average capital employed 1,679 2,112 640 1,240 (88) — 5,583

Additions to non-current 
non-financial assets 535 396 35 280 — — 1,246

Capital expenditure cash payments 157 360 31 161 — — 709

Underlying EBITDA margin (%) 33.4 17.0 11.4 27.5 — — 23.6

Return on capital employed (%) 34.7 14.3 11.4 31.9 — — 23.6

Average number of employees (thousands)1 6.5 10.6 2.4 6.5 0.1 — 26.1

Note:

1 	 Presented on a full time employee equivalent basis

Reconciliation of operating segment assets

2019 2018

€ million
Segment  

assets
Segment  

net assets
Segment  

assets
Segment  

net assets

Group total 8,196 7,132 7,734 6,600

Unallocated

Investment in equity accounted investees 14 14 9 9

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 49 (252) 49 (204)

Other non-operating assets/(liabilities) 204 (302) 189 (360)

Group capital employed 8,463 6,592 7,981 6,045

Financial instruments/(net debt) 77 (2,207) 61 (2,220)

Total assets/equity 8,540 4,385 8,042 3,825
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2 Operating segments
External revenue by location of production and by location of customer

External revenue 
by location of production

External revenue 
by location of customer

€ million 2019 2018 2019 2018

Africa

South Africa 539 609 402 459

Rest of Africa 50 43 289 264

Africa total 589 652 691 723

Western Europe

Austria 1,097 1,106 150 160

Germany 856 887 939 985

United Kingdom 43 64 205 233

Rest of western Europe 720 623 1,437 1,470

Western Europe total 2,716 2,680 2,731 2,848

Emerging Europe

Czech Republic 536 483 184 183

Poland 1,059 1,161 599 636

Rest of emerging Europe 891 952 829 867

Emerging Europe total 2,486 2,596 1,612 1,686

Russia 889 944 707 694

North America 490 525 757 731

South America — — 112 100

Asia and Australia 98 84 658 699

Group total 7,268 7,481 7,268 7,481

There were no external customers which account for more than 10% of the Group’s total external revenue in either year.

There are no contract assets and contract liabilities as at 31 December 2019 (2018: €nil). No contract costs were capitalised in either 
year presented.

The Group does not disclose information about remaining performance obligations that have original expected durations of one year or 
less, as permitted under IFRS 15.
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Net assets by location

2019 2018

€ million

Non-current 
non-financial 

assets
Segment  

assets
Segment  

net assets

Non-current 
non-financial 

assets
Segment  

assets
Segment 

net assets

Africa

South Africa 819 972 865 724 869 755

Rest of Africa 63 124 117 56 103 100

Africa total 882 1,096 982 780 972 855

Western Europe

Austria 467 857 621 508 883 601

United Kingdom 46 78 69 44 65 53

Rest of western Europe 1,245 1,634 1,447 1,243 1,687 1,500

Western Europe total 1,758 2,569 2,137 1,795 2,635 2,154

Emerging Europe

Czech Republic 824 897 799 728 824 734

Poland 781 992 884 793 1,022 916

Rest of emerging Europe 892 1,137 978 698 969 784

Emerging Europe total 2,497 3,026 2,661 2,219 2,815 2,434

Russia 832 1,002 896 653 793 693

North America 167 335 300 166 346 303

Asia and Australia 104 168 156 100 173 161

Group total 6,240 8,196 7,132 5,713 7,734 6,600

Average number of employees by principal location of employment1

thousands 2019 2018

South Africa 1.4 1.5

Rest of Africa 0.4 0.3

Western Europe 7.3 7.3

Emerging Europe 9.1 8.9

Russia 5.3 5.5

North America 1.7 1.9

Asia and Australia 0.7 0.7

Group total 25.9 26.1

Note:

1 	 Presented on a full time employee equivalent basis
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3 Special items
€ million 2019 2018

Operating special items

Impairment of assets (42) (83)

Reversal of impairment of assets 1 2

Restructuring and closure costs:

Personnel costs (1) (15)

Other restructuring and closure costs 4 (30)

Third party contribution relating to the Group’s Austrian health insurance fund (see note 23) 41 —

Provision relating to the 2012 Nordenia acquisition (5) —

Total operating special items (2) (126)

Financing special item

Simplification of corporate structure (see note 21) (14) —

Total special items before tax (16) (126)

Tax credit (see note 7) — 34

Total special items (16) (92)

Attributable to:

Non-controlling interests 1 —

Shareholders (17) (92)

The special items during the year comprised:

ee Flexible Packaging
—— Announced closure of two consumer flexibles plants in the UK. Restructuring and closure costs of €1 million and related impairment 
of assets of €3 million were recognised. Additional restructuring costs will be incurred in 2020 with total costs expected to exceed 
€10 million.

—— Release of restructuring and closure provisions of €5 million, partly offset by additional restructuring costs of €1 million, and reversal of 
impairment of assets of €1 million were recognised. All credits/(charges) related to special items from prior years.

—— Additional provision of €5 million relating to the 2012 Nordenia acquisition was recognised. The provision relates to a special item from 
prior years.

ee Uncoated Fine Paper
—— Impairment of the Neusiedler operation in Austria. Impairment of assets of €39 million was recognised.
—— On 13 December 2018 a change in the Austrian Social Security Law was enacted. Effective 1 January 2020, the law states that the 
plan liabilities of the Group’s Austrian health insurance fund are assumed by the Republic of Austria. The effect of the change in law is 
classified as a third party taking on the obligation for future contributions which is a one-off non-cash benefit to the Group of €41 million. 
Further detail is provided in note 23.

ee Corporate 
—— To effect the Simplification of the corporate structure from a DLC structure into a single holding company structure under Mondi plc, the 
Group incurred one-off transaction costs of €20 million, of which €14 million were charged as a financing special item to the consolidated 
income statement and €6 million were attributed to equity in accordance with IAS 32. Further detail is provided in note 21.
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4 Auditors’ remuneration
€ million 2019 2018

Fees payable to the auditors for the audit of Mondi plc’s annual financial statements 1.1 0.4

Fees payable to the auditors and their associates for the audit of Mondi plc’s subsidiaries1 3.5 3.7

Total audit fees 4.6 4.1

Audit-related and other assurance services 0.5 0.4

Tax compliance services — —

Other services — —

Total non-audit fees 0.5 0.4

Total fees 5.1 4.5

Note:

1	 Includes fees payable to the auditors for the audit of Mondi Limited’s annual financial statements reported separately prior to the Simplification of the corporate structure

5 Personnel costs
€ million, unless otherwise stated 2019 2018

Within operating costs

Wages and salaries 865 835

Social security costs 178 172

Defined contribution retirement plan contributions (see note 23) 14 13

Defined benefit retirement plan service costs net of gain from settlement (see note 23) 4 8

Share-based payments (see note 22) 11 11

Total within operating costs 1,072 1,039

Within special items

Personnel costs relating to restructuring (see note 3) 1 15

Third party contribution relating to the Group’s Austrian health insurance fund (see notes 3 and 23) (41) —

Total within special items (see note 3) (40) 15

Within net finance costs

Retirement benefit medical plan net interest costs 5 5

Retirement benefit pension plan net interest costs 4 3

Total within net finance costs (see note 6) 9 8

Group total 1,041 1,062

Average number of employees (thousands)1 25.9 26.1

Note:

1 	 Presented on a full time employee equivalent basis
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6 Net finance costs 
Net finance costs are presented below:

€ million 2019 2018

Investment income

Investment income 8 8

Net foreign currency losses

Net foreign currency losses (3) (4)

Finance costs

Interest expense

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans (90) (77)

Interest on lease liabilities (see note 11) (13) (14)

Net interest expense on net retirement benefits liability (see note 23) (9) (8)

Total interest expense (112) (99)

Less: Interest capitalised (see note 10) 3 7

Total finance costs (109) (92)

Net finance costs before special item (104) (88)

Financing special item

Simplification of corporate structure (see notes 3 and 21) (14) —

Net finance costs after special item (118) (88)

Net interest expense, as defined in note 31, for the year was €95 million (2018: €83 million). The effective interest rate was 4.2% 
(2018: 4.2%) based on trailing 12-month average net debt of €2,243 million (2018: €1,979 million). 

The weighted average interest rate applicable to capitalised interest on general borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2019 was 4.9% 
(2018: 4.1%) and was related to investments in the Czech Republic (2018: the Czech Republic and South Africa).

7 Taxation
(a) Analysis of tax charge for the year

The Group’s effective rate of tax before special items for the year ended 31 December 2019 was 23% (2018: 22%).

€ million 2019 2018

UK corporation tax at 19% (2018: 19%) 1 1

Overseas tax1 218 265

Current tax in respect of prior years (1) —

Current tax 218 266

Deferred tax in respect of the current year 47 15

Deferred tax in respect of prior years (8) (8)

Tax charge before special items 257 273

Current tax on special items (1) (2)

Deferred tax on special items 1 (32)

Tax credit on special items (see note 3) — (34)

Tax charge for the year 257 239

Note:

1	 Includes SA corporation tax at a statutory rate of 28% reported separately prior to the Simplification of the corporate structure
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Factors affecting tax charge for the year

The Group’s total tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the tax on the Group’s profit before tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 19% 
(2018: 19%1), as follows:

€ million 2019
Restated1

2018

Profit before tax 1,103 1,105

Tax on profit before tax calculated at the UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2018: 19%) 210 210

Tax effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 10 10

Special items not tax deductible 4 —

Other non-deductible expenses 6 10

Non-taxable income — (1)

Temporary difference adjustments 1 (6)

Current year tax losses and other temporary differences not recognised 7 12

Prior year tax losses and other temporary differences not previously recognised (6) (18)

Other adjustments 36 26

Current tax prior year adjustments (1) —

Tax incentives2 (9) (11)

Effect of differences between local rates and UK rate 28 22

Other adjustments 18 15

Tax charge for the year 257 239

Notes:

1	 Prior to the Simplification the Group’s total tax charge for the year was reconciled to the tax on the Group’s profit before tax at the weighted average UK and SA 
corporation tax rate (2018: 19.67%). The 2018 disclosure has been restated for comparability purposes to reconcile to the tax on the Group’s profit before tax at the UK 
corporation tax rate

2	 The tax incentives principally relate to capital investments in Slovakia and the Czech Republic (2018: Russia and Slovakia)
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7 Taxation
(b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

€ million 2019 2018 2019 2018

At 1 January 49 26 (253) (248)

(Charged)/credited to the consolidated income statement (1) 19 (39) 6

Credited/(charged) to the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income 1 1 2 (2)

Acquired through business combinations — — — (24)

Reclassification — 3 — (3)

Currency movements — — (11) 18

At 31 December 49 49 (301) (253)

The amount of deferred tax (charged)/credited to the consolidated income statement comprises:

€ million 2019 2018

Capital allowances in excess of depreciation (11) 8

Fair value adjustments (15) (10)

Tax losses (derecognised)/recognised (1) 10

Other temporary differences (13) 17

Total (40) 25

Deferred tax comprises:

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

€ million 2019 2018 2019 2018

Capital allowances in excess of depreciation (11) (20) (271) (241)

Fair value adjustments 1 — (108) (89)

Tax losses1 24 21 9 14

Other temporary differences1 35 48 69 63

Total 49 49 (301) (253)

Note:

1 	 Based on forecast data, the Group considers it probable that there will be sufficient future taxable profits available in the relevant jurisdictions to utilise these tax losses and 
other temporary differences 

The current expectation regarding the maturity of deferred tax balances is:

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

€ million 2019 2018 2019 2018

Recoverable/(payable) within 12 months 26 23 (1) (1)

Recoverable/(payable) after 12 months 23 26 (300) (252)

Total 49 49 (301) (253)

The Group has the following amounts in respect of which no deferred tax asset has been recognised as it is not considered probable that 
there will be future profit streams or gains against which these could be utilised:

€ million 2019
Restated1

2018

Tax losses – revenue 1,564 1,577

Tax losses – capital 16 16

Other temporary differences 13 11

Total 1,593 1,604

Note:

1 	 Following a review, an additional €171 million of tax losses (revenue) were identified as being available from an entity in the holding company structure. The 2018 disclosure 
has been restated to include these additional tax losses in respect of which no deferred tax asset has been recognised
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There were no significant changes in the expected future profit streams or gains. 

Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses that will expire as follows:

€ million 2019
Restated1

2018

Expiry date

Within one year 1 2

One to five years 3 25

After five years 44 53

No expiry date 1,532 1,513

Total 1,580 1,593

Note:

1 	 Following a review, an additional €171 million of tax losses (with no expiry date) were identified as being available from an entity in the holding company structure. The 2018 
disclosure has been restated to include these additional tax losses in respect of which no deferred tax asset has been recognised

No deferred tax liability is recognised on gross temporary differences of €1,233 million (2018: €760 million) relating to the unremitted 
earnings of overseas subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of these temporary differences and it is probable 
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. The increase in unrecognised gross temporary differences is partly due to the inclusion 
of unremitted earnings of SA subsidiaries as a result of the Simplification of the corporate structure. UK tax legislation largely exempts, from 
UK tax, overseas dividends received on or after 1 July 2009. As a result, the gross temporary differences at 31 December 2019 represent 
only the unremitted earnings of those overseas subsidiaries where remittance to the UK of those earnings would still result in a tax liability, 
principally as a result of dividend withholding taxes levied by the overseas tax jurisdictions in which these subsidiaries operate and non-UK 
corporate taxes on dividends. 

8 Earnings per share (EPS)
EPS attributable to shareholders

(euro cents) 2019 2018

Basic EPS 167.6 170.1

Diluted EPS 167.6 170.0

Basic underlying EPS 171.1 189.1

Diluted underlying EPS 171.1 189.0

Basic headline EPS 172.5 184.8

Diluted headline EPS 172.5 184.7

The calculation of basic and diluted EPS, basic and diluted underlying EPS and basic and diluted headline EPS is based on the 
following data:

Earnings

€ million 2019 2018

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders 812 824

Special items attributable to shareholders (see note 3) 17 126

Related tax (see note 3) — (34)

Underlying earnings for the year 829 916

Special items not excluded from headline earnings 25 (45)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2) (1)

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of businesses and equity accounted investees (9) 3

Impairments not included in special items (see note 10) 2 2

Related tax (9) 20

Headline earnings for the year 836 895
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8 Earnings per share (EPS)
Weighted average number of shares

million 2019 2018

Basic number of ordinary shares outstanding 484.6 484.4

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares — 0.2

Diluted number of ordinary shares outstanding 484.6 484.6

9 Dividends
euro cents per share 2019 2018

Final ordinary dividend paid (in respect of prior year) 54.55 42.90

Special dividend paid (in respect of prior year) — 100.00

Interim ordinary dividend paid 27.28 21.45

Final ordinary dividend proposed for the year ended 31 December 55.72 54.55

€ million 2019 2018

Final ordinary dividend paid (in respect of prior year) 264 207

Special dividend paid (in respect of prior year) — 484

Interim ordinary dividend paid 132 102

Total ordinary and special dividends paid 396 793

Final ordinary dividend proposed for the year ended 31 December 270 264

Declared by Group companies to non-controlling interests 3 18

Dividends proposed and paid to the shareholders of Mondi Limited and Mondi plc prior to the effective date of the Simplification of the 
corporate structure (see note 21) are presented on a combined basis.

The final ordinary dividend proposed has been recommended by the Board and is subject to the approval of the shareholders of Mondi plc 
at the Annual General Meeting scheduled for 7 May 2020.
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10 Property, plant and equipment

€ million
Land and 
buildings1

Plant and 
equipment

Assets under 
construction Other Total

Net carrying value

At 1 January 2018 1,207 2,429 377 115 4,128

Acquired through business combinations 32 97 5 2 136

Additions 42 167 512 41 762

Disposal of assets (6) (6) (3) (4) (19)

Disposal of businesses (3) (3) (2) — (8)

Depreciation charge for the year (69) (304) — (37) (410)

Impairment losses recognised2 (20) (51) — (3) (74)

Impairment losses reversed3 1 1 — — 2

Transfer from assets under construction 43 142 (198) 9 (4)

Reclassification (3) (2) — 2 (3)

Currency movements (44) (96) (24) (6) (170)

At 31 December 2018 1,180 2,374 667 119 4,340

Cost 2,033 6,765 674 394 9,866

Accumulated depreciation and impairments (853) (4,391) (7) (275) (5,526)

Additions 108 300 364 46 818

Disposal of assets (14) (4) — (3) (21)

Disposal of businesses (3) (6) (1) — (10)

Depreciation charge for the year (72) (292) — (41) (405)

Impairment losses recognised2 — (43) (1) — (44)

Impairment losses reversed3 1 — — — 1

Transfer from assets under construction 115 330 (463) 14 (4)

Reclassification 2 (2) 1 (1) —

Currency movements 33 61 25 6 125

At 31 December 2019 1,350 2,718 592 140 4,800

Cost 2,250 7,322 599 436 10,607

Accumulated depreciation and impairments (900) (4,604) (7) (296) (5,807)

Notes:

1 	 The land carrying value included in ‘Land and buildings’ is €179 million (2018: €171 million)

2	 Impairment losses include €42 million (2018: €72 million) classified as special items and €2 million (2018: €2 million) of other impairments

3 	Impairment losses reversed are classified as special items

Included in the additions above is €3 million (2018: €7 million) of interest incurred on qualifying assets which has been capitalised during 
the year. These amounts are deductible for tax purposes either when incurred or included in the amount permitted to be deducted for 
capital expenditure, depending on the jurisdiction in which they are capitalised.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is determined based on the use of the asset within the current business plans. 
Any change in future intentions could result in an impairment of varying magnitude, depending on the assets affected. 
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11 Leases
The Group has entered into various lease agreements. Leases over land and buildings have a weighted average term of 40 years (2018: 39 
years), plant and equipment a weighted average term of 13 years (2018: 12 years) and other assets a weighted average term of four years 
(2018: four years). 

The principal lease agreements in place include the following:

South African land lease

The Group entered into a land lease agreement on 1 January 2001 for a total term of 70 years. The lease commitment and annual escalation 
rate is renegotiated every five years. The lease does not contain any clauses with regard to contingent rent or an option to purchase the 
land at the end of the lease term, and does not impose any significant restrictions on the Group as a lessee.

Russian forestry leases

The majority of the forestry lease agreements were entered into by the Group in 2007, 2008, 2014 and 2015 for an average term of 46 
years. The leases are not renewable. Rental escalates on an annual basis by the consumer price index of the local jurisdiction. The leases do 
not contain any clauses with regard to contingent rent or options to purchase the forestry assets at the end of the lease term, and do not 
impose any significant restrictions on the Group as a lessee. The Group applied the practical expedient per IFRS 16 not to separate non-
lease components from lease components, consistent with prior years. 

Office building

The Group entered into an office building lease agreement for a total term of 20 years from October 2013. The lease may only be 
terminated by the Group, after six months’ notice, in September 2023 and again in September 2028. Rent escalates on an annual basis by 
the consumer price index of the local jurisdiction. The lease does not contain any option to purchase the building at the end of the lease 
term, and does not impose any significant restrictions on the Group as a lessee. Variable lease payments are included in the lease liability 
and calculated at the consumer price index.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets Depreciation charge

€ million 2019 2018 2019 2018

Land and buildings 133 120 (13) (14)

Plant and equipment 43 19 (7) (7)

Other 8 9 (5) (6)

Total 184 148 (25) (27)

Additions to the right-of-use assets during 2019 were €62 million (2018: €25 million).

Lease liabilities

€ million 2019 2018

Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows

Less than one year 37 34

One to five years 95 84

More than five years 302 267

Total undiscounted cash flows 434 385

Total lease liabilities 218 184

Current 25 22

Non-current 193 162

The total cash outflow for leases during 2019 was €39 million (2018: €41 million).
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Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement 

€ million 2019 2018

Depreciation charge (25) (27)

Interest on lease liabilities (13) (14)

Expenses relating to short-term leases (2) (1)

Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets (1) (1)

12 Goodwill
(a) Reconciliation

€ million 2019 2018

Net carrying value

At 1 January 942 698

Acquired through business combinations — 257

Disposal of businesses (2) —

Currency movements 8 (13)

At 31 December 948 942

(b) Assumptions

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the group of cash-generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the combination and represents the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 
The recoverable amounts of these groups of CGUs are the higher of fair value less costs to dispose and value-in-use.

Goodwill is allocated to the groups of CGUs as follows:

2019/€ million, unless otherwise stated

Weighted  
average pre-tax 

discount rate
Medium-term 

growth rate Carrying value

Corrugated Packaging 10.3% 2.7% 343

Flexible Packaging 9.8% 1.3% 359

Engineered Materials 9.1% 1.6% 214

Uncoated Fine Paper 11.4% 0.0% 32

Total goodwill 948

As a result of the reorganisation of the Group’s business units (see note 2), the Group has changed the allocation of goodwill to 
its respective groups of CGUs with four groups of CGUs being identified as the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for 
management purposes: 

ee Corrugated Packaging, comprising the former groups of CGUs of Containerboard and Corrugated Packaging;

ee Flexible Packaging, comprising the former groups of CGUs of Kraft Paper and Industrial Bags, and a proportionate share of the former 
group of CGUs of Consumer Packaging;

ee Engineered Materials, comprising the former group of CGUs of Extrusion Coatings and a proportionate share of the former group of 
CGUs of Consumer Packaging; and

ee Uncoated Fine Paper, which remains unchanged. 

The goodwill previously allocated to the Consumer Packaging group of CGUs was split in accordance with IAS 36 based on the relative fair 
values of the consumer flexibles operations and the personal care components and release liner operations respectively, with €210 million 
allocated to the Flexible Packaging group of CGUs and €209 million allocated to the Engineered Materials group of CGUs. 
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12 Goodwill 
In the prior year, prior to the reorganisation, goodwill was allocated to the groups of CGUs as follows:

2018/€ million, unless otherwise stated

Weighted  
average pre-tax 

discount rate
Medium-term 

growth rate Carrying value

Consumer Packaging 9.3% 2.0% 419

Containerboard 10.2% 2.7% 304

Kraft Paper 9.2% 1.0% 83

Industrial Bags 9.9% 1.0% 62

Corrugated Packaging 9.7% 2.7% 36

Uncoated Fine Paper 11.2% 0.0% 31

Extrusion Coatings 8.9% 0.0% 7

Total goodwill 942

Key assumptions

The key assumptions in the value-in-use calculations are:

ee cash flow forecasts which are derived from the budgets most recently approved by the Board covering the three-year period to 
31 December 2022;

ee sales volumes, sales prices and variable input cost assumptions in the budget period are derived from a combination of economic 
forecasts for the regions in which the Group operates, industry forecasts for individual product lines, internal management projections, 
historical performance, and announced and expected industry capacity changes;

ee cash flow projections beyond three years are based on internal management projections taking into consideration industry forecasts and 
growth rates in the regions in which the Group operates. Growth rates (as per the table above) are applied to the groups of CGUs for 
each of the following seven years beyond the budget period and zero thereafter into perpetuity; and

ee capital expenditure forecasts are based on historical experience and include expenditure necessary to maintain the projected cash flows 
from operations at current operating levels.

The pre-tax discount rate is derived from the Group’s weighted average cost of capital. In determining the discount rate applicable to each 
group of CGUs, adjustments are made to reflect the impacts of country risk and tax. 

Sensitivity analyses

Expected future cash flows are inherently uncertain and could change materially over time. They are affected by a number of factors, 
including market and production estimates, together with economic factors such as prices, discount rates, currency exchange rates, 
estimates of production costs, and future capital expenditure.

Sensitivity analyses of reasonably possible changes in the underlying assumptions for each group of CGUs included:

ee 100 bps increase in discount rate;

ee 0% medium-term growth rate assumed for cash flow projections beyond three years;

ee 5% decrease in sales prices in the Corrugated Packaging, Flexible Packaging and Uncoated Fine Paper groups of CGUs; and

ee 3% decrease in gross margin in the Engineered Materials group of CGUs.

None of these downside sensitivity analyses in isolation indicated the need for an impairment.
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13 Intangible assets
€ million 2019 2018

Net carrying value

At 1 January 91 111

Acquired through business combinations — 14

Additions 12 10

Impairment charge for the year — (11)

Amortisation charge for the year (28) (34)

Reclassification 4 4

Currency movements 2 (3)

At 31 December 81 91

Cost 325 316

Accumulated amortisation and impairments (244) (225)

The carrying value of intangible assets comprises:

€ million 2019 2018

Internally generated

Software development costs 44 40

Acquired through business combinations

Customer relationships 20 28

Patents and trademarks 13 18

Other 4 5

Total intangible assets 81 91

Research and development expenditure incurred by the Group and charged to the consolidated income statement during the year 
amounted to €25 million (2018: €22 million).

14 Forestry assets
€ million 2019 2018

At 1 January 340 325

Capitalised expenditure 46 46

Acquisition of assets 2 7

Acquired through business combinations — 14

Fair value gains 71 43

Felling costs (64) (60)

Currency movements 16 (35)

At 31 December 411 340

Mature 251 197

Immature 160 143

The Group has 253,680 hectares (2018: 254,328 hectares) of owned and leased land available for forestry activities, all of which is in South 
Africa. 80,238 hectares (2018: 80,144 hectares) are set aside for conservation activities and infrastructure needs. 1,045 hectares (2018: 1,045 
hectares) relate to non-core activities. The balance of 172,397 hectares (2018: 173,139 hectares) are under afforestation which forms the 
basis of the valuation set out above.
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14 Forestry assets
Mature forestry assets are those plantations that are harvestable, while immature forestry assets have not yet reached that stage of growth. 
Timber is harvested according to a rotation plan, once trees reach maturity. This period ranges from 6.5 to 16.5 years, depending on 
species, climate and location.

The fair value of forestry assets is a level 3 measure in terms of the fair value measurement hierarchy, consistent with prior years.

The following assumptions have a significant impact on the valuation of the Group’s forestry assets:

ee The net selling price, which is defined as the selling price less the costs of transport, harvesting, extraction and loading. The net selling 
price is based on third-party transactions and is influenced by the species, maturity profile and location of timber. In 2019, the net selling 
price used ranged from the South African rand equivalent of €17 per tonne to €48 per tonne (2018: €15 per tonne to €38 per tonne) 
with a weighted average of €31 per tonne (2018: €26 per tonne).

ee The conversion factor, which is used to convert hectares of land under afforestation to tonnes of standing timber, is dependent on the 
species, the maturity profile of the timber, the geographic location, climate and a variety of other environmental factors. In 2019, the 
conversion factors ranged from 8.5 to 24.3 (2018: 8.4 to 24.5).

ee The risk premium on immature timber of 13.9% (2018: 13.0%) is based on an assessment of the risks associated with forestry assets 
in South Africa and is applied for the years the immature timber has left to reach maturity. A risk premium on mature timber of 3.5% 
(2018: 0.0%) was applied from 2019. The increase in the proportion of mature timber and the risks associated with forestry assets in South 
Africa triggered a change in estimate.

The valuation of the Group’s forestry assets is determined in South African rand and converted to euro at the closing exchange rate on 
31 December of each year.

The Group has performed sensitivity analyses of reasonably possible changes in the significant assumptions and EUR/ZAR exchange rate, 
taking into account historical experience. The reported value of owned forestry assets would change as follows should there be a change in 
these underlying assumptions on the basis that all other factors remain unchanged:

€ million 2019

Effect of €5/tonne increase in net selling price 65

Effect of 1% increase in conversion factor (hectares to tonnes) 4

Effect of 1% increase in risk premium (6)

Effect of 10% increase in EUR/ZAR exchange rate (37)

15 Inventories
€ million 2019 2018

Valued using the first-in, first-out cost formula

Raw materials and consumables 37 35

Work in progress 11 11

Finished products 33 26

Total valued using the first-in, first-out cost formula 81 72

Valued using the weighted average cost formula

Raw materials and consumables 390 392

Work in progress 121 116

Finished products 392 388

Total valued using the weighted average cost formula 903 896

Total inventories 984 968

Of which, held at net realisable value 128 127

Consolidated income statement

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (3,032) (3,104)

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value (37) (21)

Aggregate reversal of previous write-downs of inventories 21 13

Green energy sales and disposal of emissions credits 88 88
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16 Trade and other receivables
€ million 2019 2018

Trade receivables 953 1,052

Allowance for doubtful debts (28) (35)

Net trade receivables 925 1,017

Other receivables 34 30

Tax and social security 122 114

Prepayments and accrued income 30 29

Total trade and other receivables 1,111 1,190

Trade receivables: credit risk

The Group has a large number of unrelated customers and does not have significant credit risk exposure to any particular customer. 
The Group considers that there is no significant geographical or customer concentration of credit risk.

Each business segment manages its own exposure to credit risk according to the economic circumstances and characteristics of the 
relevant markets that they serve. The Group considers that management of credit risk on a decentralised basis enables it to assess and 
manage credit risk more effectively. However, broad principles of credit risk management are observed across all business segments, such 
as the use of credit rating agencies, credit guarantee insurance, where appropriate, and the maintenance of a credit control function.

€ million 2019 2018

Credit risk exposure

Gross trade receivables 953 1,052

Credit insurance (793) (861)

Total exposure to credit risk 160 191

The insured cover is presented gross of contractually agreed excess amounts. In addition, the Group is in possession of bank guarantees 
and letters of credit securing trade and other receivables to the value of €4 million (2018: €8 million).

Credit periods offered to customers vary according to the credit risk profiles of, and invoicing conventions established by, participants 
operating in the various markets in which the Group operates. Interest is charged at appropriate market rates on balances which are 
considered overdue in the relevant market. 

To the extent that recoverable amounts are expected to be less than their associated carrying values, impairment charges have been 
recorded in the consolidated income statement and the carrying values have been written down to their expected recoverable amounts. 
The total gross carrying value of trade receivables that were subject to impairment during the year is €50 million (2018: €55 million).

Included within the Group’s aggregate trade receivables balance are specific debtor balances with customers totalling €31 million 
(2018: €35 million) which are past due but not impaired at the reporting date. The Group has assessed these balances for recoverability 
and considers that their credit quality remains intact. 

An ageing analysis of net trade receivables is provided as follows:

€ million 2019 2018

Trade receivables within terms 894 982

Past due by less than one month 21 23

Past due by one to two months 4 4

Past due by two to three months 1 3

Past due by more than three months 5 5

At 31 December 925 1,017
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16 Trade and other receivables

Movement in the allowance account for bad and doubtful debts

€ million 2019 2018

At 1 January 35 32

Increase in allowance recognised in consolidated income statement 7 11

Amounts written-off or recovered (14) (6)

Currency movements — (2)

At 31 December 28 35

17 Trade and other payables
€ million 2019 2018

Trade payables 574 601

Capital expenditure payables 119 113

Tax and social security 52 57

Other payables 53 52

Accruals and deferred income 345 363

Total trade and other payables 1,143 1,186

18 Provisions

€ million
Restructuring 

costs
Employee related 

provisions
Environmental 

restoration Other Total

At 1 January 2019 37 35 4 31 107

Charged to consolidated income statement 5 7 — 19 31

Disposal of businesses — (1) — — (1)

Released to consolidated income statement — (1) — (3) (4)

Amounts applied (27) (8) — (17) (52)

Reclassification (1) — — 1 —

Currency movements 1 (1) — 3 3

At 31 December 2019 15 31 4 34 84

Current 13 5 — 29 47

Non-current 2 26 4 5 37

Other provisions are mainly attributable to potential claims against the Group and onerous contracts, none of which are individually 
significant. All non-current provisions are discounted using a discount rate relevant in the local countries, based on a pre-tax yield on  
long-term bonds.

19 Capital management
The Group defines its capital employed as equity, as presented in the consolidated statement of financial position, plus net debt.

€ million 2019 2018

Equity attributable to shareholders 4,015 3,485

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 370 340

Total equity 4,385 3,825

Net debt (see note 24c) 2,207 2,220

Capital employed 6,592 6,045

Trailing 12-month average capital employed 6,162 5,583

Capital employed is managed on a basis that enables the Group to continue trading as a going concern, while delivering acceptable returns 
to shareholders. The Group is committed to managing its cost of capital by maintaining an appropriate capital structure, with a balance 
between equity and net debt.
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The Group utilises its capital employed to fund the growth of the business and to finance its liquidity needs.

The primary sources of the Group’s net debt include its €2.5 billion Guaranteed Euro Medium Term Note Programme, its €750 million 
Syndicated Revolving Credit Facility and financing from various banks and other credit agencies, thus providing the Group with access to 
diverse sources of debt financing.

The principal loan arrangements in place are the following:

€ million Maturity Interest rate % 2019 2018

Financing facilities

Syndicated Revolving Credit Facility July 2021 EURIBOR/LIBOR + margin 750 750

€500 million Eurobond September 2020 3.375% 500 500

€500 million Eurobond April 2024 1.500% 500 500

€600 million Eurobond April 2026 1.625% 600 600

European Investment Bank Facility June 2025 EURIBOR + margin 52 62

Export Credit Agency Facility June 2020 EURIBOR + margin 2 15

Other Various Various 72 60

Total committed facilities 2,476 2,487

Drawn (1,816) (1,871)

Total committed facilities available 660 616

The €500 million Eurobond maturing in 2020 contains a coupon step-up clause whereby the coupon will be increased by 1.25% per annum 
if the Group fails to maintain at least one investment grade credit rating from either Moody’s Investors Service or Standard & Poor’s. 
Mondi currently has investment grade credit ratings from both Moody’s Investors Service (Baa1, outlook stable) and Standard & Poor’s 
(BBB+, outlook stable).

Short-term liquidity needs are met through the Syndicated Revolving Credit Facility. 

The Group reviews its capital employed on a regular basis and makes use of several indicative ratios which are appropriate to the nature of 
its operations and consistent with conventional industry measures. The principal ratios used include:

2019 2018

Pre-tax weighted average cost of capital (%) 10.5 10.5

Gearing (%) 33.5 36.7

Net debt to 12-month trailing underlying EBITDA (times) 1.3 1.3

Return on capital employed (%) 19.8 23.6

In order to manage its cost of capital, maintain an appropriate capital structure and meet its ongoing cash flow needs, the Group may 
issue new debt instruments; adjust the level of dividends paid to shareholders; issue new shares to, or repurchase shares from, investors; or 
dispose of assets to reduce its net debt exposure.
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20 Borrowings
2019 2018

€ million Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

Secured

Bank loans and overdrafts — — — 2 — 2

Lease liabilities (see note 11) 25 193 218 22 162 184

Total secured 25 193 218 24 162 186

Unsecured

Bonds 500 1,094 1,594 — 1,592 1,592

Bank loans and overdrafts 250 204 454 237 245 482

Other loans 5 5 10 7 3 10

Total unsecured 755 1,303 2,058 244 1,840 2,084

Total borrowings 780 1,496 2,276 268 2,002 2,270

Committed facilities drawn 1,816 1,871

Uncommitted facilities drawn 460 399

The Group’s borrowings as at 31 December are analysed by nature and underlying currency as follows:

2019/€ million
Floating rate 

borrowings
Fixed rate 

borrowings
Total carrying 

value Fair value

Euro 158 1,679 1,837 1,903

Pounds sterling 106 3 109 109

South African rand 70 29 99 99

Turkish lira 40 26 66 66

US dollar 13 14 27 27

Russian rouble — 85 85 85

Other currencies 29 24 53 54

Carrying value 416 1,860 2,276

Fair value 416 1,927 2,343

2018/€ million
Floating rate 

borrowings
Fixed rate 

borrowings
Total carrying 

value Fair value

Euro 196 1,640 1,836 1,853

Pounds sterling 186 6 192 192

South African rand 6 28 34 34

Turkish lira 52 14 66 65

US dollar 11 20 31 31

Russian rouble 1 71 72 73

Other currencies 17 22 39 39

Carrying value 469 1,801 2,270

Fair value 469 1,818 2,287
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The fair values of the Eurobonds are estimated with reference to the last price quoted in the secondary market. All other financial liabilities 
are estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar 
financial instruments.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s borrowings, presented net of interest, is as follows:

2019/€ million < 1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years > 5 years Total1

Bonds 500 — 497 597 1,594

Bank loans and overdrafts 250 170 30 4 454

Lease liabilities (see note 11) 25 16 38 139 218

Other loans 5 2 3 — 10

Total borrowings 780 188 568 740 2,276

Effective interest on borrowings net of amortised costs 
and discounts 51 32 77 182 342

Total undiscounted cash flows 831 220 645 922 2,618

2018/€ million < 1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years > 5 years Total1

Bonds — 499 — 1,093 1,592

Bank loans and overdrafts 239 31 200 14 484

Lease liabilities 22 18 30 114 184

Other loans 7 — 3 — 10

Total borrowings 268 548 233 1,221 2,270

Effective interest on borrowings net of amortised costs 
and discounts 63 36 79 180 358

Total undiscounted cash flows 331 584 312 1,401 2,628

Note:

1 	 It has been assumed that, where applicable, interest and foreign exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date will not vary over the time periods remaining for future 
cash outflows

In addition to the above, the Group swaps euro and pound sterling debt into other currencies through the foreign exchange market as 
disclosed in note 27.

21 Share capital and stated capital
Since its formation in 2007, the Group had been an integrated corporate group established under a DLC structure with dual holding 
companies, Mondi Limited and Mondi plc. The substance of the DLC structure was such that Mondi Limited, Mondi plc and their respective 
subsidiaries operated together as a single economic entity through a sharing agreement, with neither parent entity assuming a dominant 
role. Accordingly, Mondi Limited and Mondi plc were reported on a combined and consolidated basis as a single reporting entity.

On 9 May 2019 the Group’s shareholders approved the Simplification of the corporate structure from a DLC structure into a single holding 
company structure under Mondi plc by way of a South African scheme of arrangement (the ‘Scheme’) proposed by the Mondi Limited 
board between Mondi Limited and the Mondi Limited ordinary shareholders. On 11 July 2019 the Scheme became unconditional and, 
with effect from 26 July 2019, Mondi plc became the holder of all the Mondi Limited ordinary shares while, by other related actions, the 
DLC arrangements were terminated. Pursuant to the Scheme, Mondi Limited shareholders received one new Mondi plc ordinary share in 
exchange for each Mondi Limited ordinary share held. 

As a result of the Simplification, each Mondi plc shareholder has the same voting and capital interests in the Group as each Mondi 
plc ordinary shareholder and Mondi Limited ordinary shareholder had under the DLC structure. The Simplification did not result in any 
changes to the management, operations, locations, activities or staffing levels of the Group, nor, save for one-off expenses to effect the 
Simplification as disclosed below, did it have any significant impact on the reported profits or net assets of the Group.

Depending on the nature of costs incurred, the Group recognised related transaction costs of €6 million as a deduction from equity 
in accordance with IAS 32 and €14 million as a financing special item charge, as described in note 3, to effect the Simplification of the 
corporate structure. 

Mondi plc is not restricted in the number of shares that can be issued. Any issue of shares is subject to shareholder approval. Mondi plc 
ordinary shares issued on the London Stock Exchange and Johannesburg Stock Exchange have a nominal value of €0.20. All ordinary 
shares are called up, allotted and fully paid.
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21 Share capital and stated capital
Mondi plc 

Ordinary shares Special converting shares Deferred shares Total

Share capital1 Number of shares € million Number of shares € million Number of shares € million € million

At 1 January 2019 367,240,805 74 118,312,975 24 146,896,322 5 103

Conversion of special converting shares2 — — (118,312,975) (24) 118,312,975 24 —

Cancellation of deferred shares — — — — (265,209,297) (29) (29)

Issue of new ordinary shares3 118,312,975 23 — — — — 23

At 31 December 2019 485,553,780 97 — — — — 97

Mondi Limited 

Ordinary shares Special converting shares Deferred shares Total

Stated capital1 Number of shares € million Number of shares € million Number of shares € million € million

At 1 January 2019 118,312,975 431 367,240,805 8 — — 439

Conversion of special converting shares2 — — (367,240,805) (8) 367,240,805 8 —

Cancellation of deferred shares — — — — (367,240,805) (8) (8)

Transfer of ordinary shares from Mondi 
Limited shareholders to Mondi plc3 (118,312,975) (431) — — — — (431)

At 31 December 2019 — — — — — — —

Notes:

1	 There were no movements in share capital of Mondi plc and stated capital of Mondi Limited in 2018 

2	 The special converting shares of Mondi Limited and Mondi plc were converted to deferred shares immediately prior to the effective date and time of the Scheme

3	 111,430,518 (€22 million) of Mondi Limited ordinary shares were acquired by Mondi plc in exchange for newly issued Mondi plc ordinary shares on a one for one basis 
pursuant to the transfer mechanism under the Scheme. 6,882,457 (€1 million) of Mondi Limited ordinary shares were acquired by Mondi plc pursuant to the Buyback Option 
under the Scheme. There were no notices given under section 164(3) of the Companies Act of South Africa 2008

Treasury shares

Treasury shares represent the cost of shares in Mondi plc purchased in the market to satisfy share awards under the Group’s employee 
share schemes (see note 22). These costs are reflected in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Prior to the Simplification, 
treasury shares represented the cost of shares in Mondi Limited (held by the Mondi Incentive Schemes Trust) and Mondi plc (held by 
the Mondi Employee Share Trust). The Simplification resulted in the exchange of the Mondi Limited shares held by the Mondi Incentive 
Schemes Trust for shares in Mondi plc. Mondi plc assumed the rights and obligations of the Mondi Incentive Schemes Trust and became 
the residual beneficiary.

Treasury shares held

2019 2018

at 31 December
Number of  
shares held

Average price  
per share

Number of  
shares held

Average price  
per share

Mondi Incentive Schemes Trust

Mondi Limited ordinary shares with no par value — — 355,471 ZAR230.96

Mondi plc €0.20 ordinary shares 266,788 ZAR222.25 — —

Mondi Employee Share Trust

Mondi plc €0.20 ordinary shares 626,265 GBP17.66 810,641 GBP19.07

A dividend waiver is in place in respect of shares held by the Mondi Employee Share Trust.
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22 Share-based payments
Mondi share awards

The Group has established its own share-based payment arrangements to incentivise employees. Full details of the Group’s share schemes 
are set out in the Remuneration report.

The fair values of the share awards granted under the Mondi schemes are calculated with reference to the facts and assumptions 
presented below:

BSP 2019 BSP 2018 BSP 2017

Date of grant 29 March 2019 27 March 2018 24 March 2017

Vesting period (years) 3 3 3

Expected leavers p.a. (%) 5 5 5

Grant date fair value per instrument (GBP) 16.98 19.31 19.29

Grant date fair value per instrument (ZAR) 318.78 316.76 300.25

Number of shares conditionally awarded 365,679 266,721 301,175

LTIP 2019 LTIP 2018 LTIP 20171

Date of grant 29 March 2019 27 March 2018 24 March 2017

Vesting period (years) 3 3 3

Expected leavers p.a. (%) 5 5 5

Expected outcome of meeting performance criteria (%)

ROCE component 100 100 100

TSR component 25 25 25

Grant date fair value per instrument (GBP)

ROCE component 16.98 19.31 19.52

TSR component2 4.25 4.83 4.88

Grant date fair value per instrument (ZAR)

ROCE component 318.78 316.76 312.04

TSR component2 79.70 79.19 78.01

Number of shares conditionally awarded 465,710 450,955 554,944

Notes:

1	 All participants, except the Group CEO and CFO, were granted an award on 24 March 2017. The Group CEO and CFO were granted an award on 12 May 2017 after the 
remuneration policy approval at the Mondi Limited and Mondi plc AGMs. The weighted average grant date fair value is reflected in the table. All performance requirements 
are identical for all 2017 LTIP awards

2	 The base fair value has been adjusted for contractually-determined market-based performance conditions

All of these schemes were settled by the award of ordinary shares in either Mondi Limited or Mondi plc prior to the Simplification of 
the corporate structure (see note 21). Post the Simplification all of these schemes awards are settled by the awards of ordinary shares in 
Mondi plc. The Group has no obligation to settle the awards made under these schemes in cash. An amount equal to the dividends that 
would have been paid on Bonus Share Plan (BSP) and Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) share awards during the holding period are paid to 
participants upon vesting.

The total fair value charge in respect of all the Mondi share awards for the year ended 31 December is made up as follows:

€ million 2019 2018

Bonus Share Plan 6 6

Long-Term Incentive Plan 5 5

Total share-based payment expense 11 11

The weighted average share price of share awards that vested during the period:

2019 2018

Mondi Limited ZAR329.50 ZAR327.48

Mondi plc GBP17.81 GBP19.81
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22 Share-based payments
A reconciliation of share award movements for the Mondi share schemes is shown below:

BSP LTIP

number of shares Mondi Limited Mondi plc Total Mondi Limited Mondi plc Total

At 1 January 2018 119,512 790,503 910,015 184,432 1,412,613 1,597,045

Shares conditionally awarded 20,930 245,791 266,721 19,165 431,790 450,955

Shares vested (46,841) (302,829) (349,670) (75,283) (499,002) (574,285)

Shares lapsed (8,202) (15,324) (23,526) (11,063) (16,365) (27,428)

At 31 December 2018 85,399 718,141 803,540 117,251 1,329,036 1,446,287

Shares conditionally awarded 27,071 338,608 365,679 20,302 445,408 465,710

Shares vested (44,968) (368,199) (413,167) (47,084) (387,584) (434,668)

Shares lapsed — (30,244) (30,244) (14,382) (197,954) (212,336)

Transfer1 (67,502) 67,502 — (76,087) 76,087 —

At 31 December 2019 — 725,808 725,808 — 1,264,993 1,264,993

Note:

1	 The Simplification resulted in the exchange of the Mondi Limited shares held by the Mondi Incentive Schemes Trust for shares in Mondi plc

23 Retirement benefits
The Group operates post-retirement defined contribution, post-retirement defined benefit pension plans and post-retirement medical 
plans for many of its employees.

Defined contribution plans

The assets of the defined contribution plans are held separately in independently administered funds. The charge in respect of these 
plans of €14 million (2018: €13 million) is calculated on the basis of the contribution payable by the Group in the financial year. There were 
no material outstanding or prepaid contributions recognised in relation to these plans as at the reporting dates presented. The expected 
contributions to be paid to defined contribution plans during 2020 are €13 million.

Defined benefit pension plans and post-retirement medical plans

The Group operates in excess of 100 defined benefit retirement plans across its global operations. A large proportion of the Group’s 
defined benefit plans are closed to new members.

The majority of these plans are unfunded and provide pensions and severance benefits to members of those plans. 

The most significant unfunded defined benefit plans are operated in Austria, Germany and Russia and funded plans are operated 
primarily in the UK. These plans are established in accordance with applicable local labour legislation and/or collective agreements with 
participating employees.

The benefits are based on a variety of factors, the most significant of which are a combination of pensionable service and final salary. 
A number of these plans also provide additional benefits in the event of death in service, disability or ill-health retirement which are derived 
from the final salary benefit formula.

The assets of the funded plans are held separately in independently administered funds, in accordance with statutory requirements or local 
practice where those funds are operated. The boards of trustees of these plans are required to act in the best interest of the plans and all 
relevant stakeholders of the plans (active employees, inactive employees, retirees and employers), and are responsible for the investment 
policy with regard to the assets of the plans.

The post-retirement medical plans provide health benefits to retired employees and certain of their dependants. Eligibility for cover is 
dependent upon certain criteria. The South African plan is unfunded and has been closed to new participants since 1 January 1999.

Developments in 2019

On 13 December 2018 a change in the Austrian Social Security Law was enacted. Effective 1 January 2020, the law states that the 
plan liabilities of the Group’s Austrian health insurance fund are assumed by the Republic of Austria. The law permitted the Group to 
establish an independent trust to which it could contribute the health insurance fund plan assets for the benefit of the plan participants. 
Following further assessment and clarification of the law, and necessary implementation steps, the Group elected to use this option in 2019 
and applied the accounting policy as described below.
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The accounting treatment and presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position and in this note is considered a critical 
accounting judgement, in particular whether the change in law is accounted for as a reimbursement right or a third party contribution.

The impact of the change in law is presented at year end 31 December 2019 by analogy to paragraphs 92-94 of IAS 19 (Revised) due to 
a third party taking on the obligation for future contributions. As there is no requirement under the law for the Group to make continued 
contributions to fund the current deficit and the current deficit will be funded by another party (the Austrian State and an independent 
trust), none of that deficit is attributable to the Group at year end. In respect of the future service costs, there is no obligation for the Group 
to fund these costs. When, subsequent to 31 December 2019, the future service costs are recognised for this health insurance fund, those 
costs will be covered by the contributions of another party (the Austrian State and an independent trust) at that point in time and are not 
an obligation of the Group.

The effect of the change in law is classified as a third party taking on the obligation for future contributions which is a one-off non-cash 
benefit to the Group recognised as a special item reducing total personnel costs by €41 million in 2019. The third party contribution 
by the Austrian state and the contribution of the plan assets to an independent trust is classified as a special item and presented in 
the consolidated income statement. An adjustment to the plan liability for the amount to be assumed by the Austrian state is reflected 
in the consolidated statement of financial position, with a corresponding adjustment to the plan assets for the transfer of assets to an 
independent trust. The effect of the law change and establishment of an independent trust is presented on a ‘net’ basis in the consolidated 
statement of financial position (a net nil position) at year end 2019.

Except for the actuarial risks set out below, the Group has not identified any additional specific risks in respect of these plans. 

Defined benefit plans typically expose the Group to the following actuarial risks:

Investment risk (Asset volatility) The present value of the net retirement benefit liability/asset is calculated using a discount rate 
determined by reference to high-quality bond yields. If the return on plan assets is below this 
rate, it will create a plan deficit that needs to be funded/guaranteed by the employer. Currently 
the plan assets have a relatively balanced investment in equity and bonds. Due to the long-term 
nature of the plan liabilities, the boards of trustees consider it appropriate that a reasonable 
portion of the plan assets should be invested in equities.

Interest risk A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase plan liabilities, however this will be partially offset 
by an increase in the value of the plan’s fixed rate debt instruments.

Longevity risk The present value of the net retirement benefit liability/asset is calculated by reference to the best 
estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their employment. An increase 
in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan liabilities.

Salary risk The present value of the net retirement benefit liability/asset is calculated by reference to the 
expected future salaries of plan participants. An increase in the salary of the plan participants will 
increase the plan liabilities.

Medical cost inflation risk The present value of the post-retirement medical plans is calculated by reference to expected 
future medical costs. An increase in medical cost inflation will increase the plan liabilities.

Independent qualified actuaries carry out full valuations every year using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial assumptions

The weighted average principal assumptions used in the actuarial valuations are detailed below:

2019 2018

% South Africa Europe Other regions South Africa Europe Other regions

Discount rate 9.2 1.2 8.5 9.8 2.1 10.1

Rate of inflation 5.5 2.2 4.7 6.3 2.3 5.9

Rate of increase in salaries 6.5 2.4 6.3 7.3 2.8 7.2

Rate of increase of pensions in payment — 2.8 4.0 — 2.9 4.0

Expected average increase of medical costs 7.0 3.7 — 7.8 3.7 —

The assumption for the discount rate for plan liabilities is based on AA corporate bonds, which are of a suitable duration and currency. 
In South Africa, the discount rate assumption has been based on the zero coupon government bond yield curve.
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23 Retirement benefits
Mortality assumptions

The assumed remaining life expectancies on retirement at age 65 are:

2019 2018

years
South  
Africa Europe

Other  
regions

South  
Africa Europe

Other  
regions

Retiring today

Males 16.2 14.1-22.9 15.3-20.7 16.2 14.1-22.9 15.1-20.7

Females 20.3 17.8-27.4 17.7-25.3 20.2 17.7-27.4 17.7-25.3

Retiring in 20 years

Males 21.8 14.1-25.5 15.3-21.0 21.7 14.1-25.4 15.1-21.0

Females 25.9 17.8-27.8 17.7-25.3 25.8 17.7-27.8 17.7-25.3

The mortality assumptions have been based on published mortality tables in the relevant jurisdictions.

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are determined as follows:

2019 2018

€ million
South 
Africa Europe

Other 
regions Total

South  
Africa Europe

Other  
regions Total

Present value of unfunded liabilities (47) (129) (20) (196) (45) (126) (16) (187)

Present value of funded liabilities — (140) (2) (142) — (173) (3) (176)

Present value of plan liabilities (47) (269) (22) (338) (45) (299) (19) (363)

Fair value of plan assets — 130 — 130 — 135 — 135

Plan liabilities net of plan assets (47) (139) (22) (208) (45) (164) (19) (228)

Amounts reported in consolidated 
statement of financial position

Defined benefit pension plans — 17 — 17 — 6 — 6

Net retirement benefits asset — 17 — 17 — 6 — 6

Defined benefit pension plans — (156) (22) (178) — (149) (19) (168)

Post-retirement medical plans (47) — — (47) (45) (21) — (66)

Net retirement benefits liability (47) (156) (22) (225) (45) (170) (19) (234)

The changes in the present value of defined benefit liabilities and fair value of plan assets are as follows:

Defined benefit liabilities Fair value of plan assets Net liability

€ million 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

At 1 January (363) (367) 135 142 (228) (225)

Included in consolidated income statement

Current service cost (5) (5) — — (5) (5)

Past service cost (1) (1) — — (1) (1)

Gain/(loss) from settlement 59 (2) (16) — 43 (2)

Interest (12) (11) 3 3 (9) (8)

Included in consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Remeasurement losses (31) (6) — — (31) (6)

Return on plan assets — — 10 (6) 10 (6)

Acquired through business combinations — (1) — — — (1)

Disposal of businesses 2 — (2) — — —

Contributions paid by scheme members (3) (3) 3 3 — —

Contributions paid by employer — — 1 3 1 3

Benefits paid 25 24 (10) (10) 15 14

Currency movements (9) 9 6 — (3) 9

At 31 December (338) (363) 130 135 (208) (228)
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The expected maturity analysis of undiscounted retirement benefits is as follows:

2019 2018

€ million
Defined benefit 

pension plans
Post-retirement 

medical plans Total
Defined benefit 

pension plans
Post-retirement 

medical plans Total

Less than a year 10 4 14 10 11 21

Between one and two years 11 4 15 13 4 17

Between two to five years 31 14 45 31 13 44

After five years 227 118 345 248 133 381

The weighted average duration of the defined retirement benefits liability for South Africa is nine years (2018: nine years), Europe 14 years 
(2018: 15 years) and other regions 13 years (2018: 13 years).

It is expected that the Group’s share of contributions will increase as the schemes’ members age. The expected contributions to be paid to 
defined benefit pension plans and post-retirement medical plans during 2020 are €15 million.

The market values of the plan assets in these plans are detailed below:

2019 2018

€ million Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total

External equity 12 — 12 12 — 12

Bonds 32 — 32 51 — 51

Insurance contracts 11 15 26 — 17 17

Cash 1 — 1 8 — 8

Liability driven investment (LDI) portfolio 59 — 59 47 — 47

Fair value of plan assets 115 15 130 118 17 135

The majority of the Group’s plan assets are located in the UK and the asset-liability matching/investing strategy in the UK is that the 
trustees invest in diverse portfolios of pooled funds and insured annuities. The long-term objective is to ensure that each plan can 
continue to meet the benefit payments without exposing either the plan or the Group to an undue level of risk. The mix of investments 
in each plan is determined taking into account the maturity, currency and nature of the expected benefit payments required. The LDI 
portfolio is constituted of bonds and derivatives and is a UK plan asset which is designed to hedge the interest rate risk of the pension 
fund liabilities.

There are no other financial instruments or property owned by the Group included in the fair value of plan assets.

The fair values of equity, bonds and cash are determined based on quoted prices in active markets. The fair value of insurance contracts is 
determined in accordance with IAS 19.

The actual return on plan assets in respect of defined benefit plans was a gain of €13 million (2018: loss of €3 million).

The market value of assets is used to determine the funding level of the plans and is sufficient to cover 92% (2018: 77%) of the benefits 
which have accrued to members, after allowing for expected increases in future earnings and pensions. Companies within the Group 
are paying contributions at rates agreed with the plans’ trustees and in accordance with local independent actuarial advice and 
statutory provisions. 

In certain jurisdictions, Group plans are subject to minimum funding requirements. At 31 December 2019, these minimum funding 
requirements did not give rise to the recognition of any additional liabilities.

Sensitivity analyses

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes to the respective assumptions occurring at 
the end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant.

The sensitivity analyses may not be representative of the actual changes in the net retirement benefits asset/(liability) as it is unlikely that 
the changes in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another and some of the assumptions may be inter-related. The projected unit 
credit method was used to calculate the sensitivity analyses below.
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23 Retirement benefits
The sensitivity table is based on an illustrative 1% change, however the estimates may vary by greater amounts. Therefore the Group 
considers the retirement benefit obligations a key estimate.

€ million 1% increase 1% decrease

Discount rate

(Decrease)/increase in current service cost (1) 1

(Decrease)/increase in net retirement benefits liability (39) 47

Rate of inflation

Increase in current service cost 1 —

Increase/(decrease) in net retirement benefits liability 33 (29)

Rate of increase in salaries

Increase in current service cost 1 —

Increase/(decrease) in net retirement benefits liability 11 (11)

Rate of increase of pensions in payment

Decrease in current service cost — —

Increase/(decrease) in net retirement benefits liability 19 (16)

Medical cost trend rate

Decrease in aggregate of the current service cost and interest cost — (1)

Increase/(decrease) in net retirement benefits liability 4 (3)

Mortality rates 1 year increase

Increase in current service cost —

Increase in net retirement benefits liability 12

24 Consolidated cash flow analysis 
(a) Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

€ million 2019 2018

Profit before tax 1,103 1,105

Depreciation and amortisation 433 444

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (not included in special items) 2 2

Share-based payments 11 11

Net cash flow effect of current and prior year special items (6) 97

Net finance costs 104 88

Net profit from equity accounted investees — (1)

Decrease in provisions and net retirement benefits (23) (7)

Increase in inventories (1) (112)

Decrease/(increase) in operating receivables 91 (84)

(Decrease)/increase in operating payables (55) 79

Fair value gains on forestry assets (71) (43)

Felling costs 64 60

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2) (1)

Net (profit)/loss from disposal of businesses and equity accounted investees (9) 3

Other adjustments (6) 13

Cash generated from operations 1,635 1,654
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(b) Cash and cash equivalents

€ million 2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents per consolidated statement of financial position 74 52

Bank overdrafts included in short-term borrowings (81) (44)

Cash and cash equivalents per consolidated statement of cash flows (7) 8

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents approximate their carrying values presented.

The Group operates in certain countries (principally South Africa) where the existence of exchange controls may restrict the use of certain 
cash balances. These restrictions are not expected to have any material effect on the Group’s ability to meet its ongoing obligations.

(c) Movement in net debt

The Group’s net debt position is as follows:

€ million

Cash and  
cash  

equivalents

Current 
financial asset 

investments Total assets

Debt due  
within one  

year

Debt due  
after one  

year

Debt-related 
derivative 

financial 
instruments Total debt

Total net  
debt

At 1 January 2018 (66) 1 (65) (187) (1,280) — (1,467) (1,532)

Cash flow 67 — 67 16 (765) — (749) (682)

Additions to lease liabilities — — — (5) (19) — (24) (24)

Disposal of lease liabilities — — — 2 4 — 6 6

Acquired through business 
combinations — — — (31) (1) — (32) (32)

Movement in unamortised loan costs — — — — (2) — (2) (2)

Net movement in derivative financial 
instruments — — — — — (2) (2) (2)

Reclassification — — — (39) 42 — 3 3

Currency movements 7 — 7 20 19 (1) 38 45

At 31 December 2018 8 1 9 (224) (2,002) (3) (2,229) (2,220)

Cash flow (16) — (16) 43 48 — 91 75

Additions to lease liabilities — — — (10) (48) — (58) (58)

Disposal of lease liabilities — — — 2 9 — 11 11

Disposal of businesses — — — 1 — — 1 1

Movement in unamortised loan costs — — — — (2) — (2) (2)

Net movement in derivative financial 
instruments — — — — — (3) (3) (3)

Reclassification — — — (517) 517 — — —

Currency movements 1 — 1 6 (18) — (12) (11)

At 31 December 2019 (7) 1 (6) (699) (1,496) (6) (2,201) (2,207)
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24 Consolidated cash flow analysis
(d) Cash flow generation 
€ million 2019 2018

Net cash generated from operating activities 1,388 1,407

Investing activities (50) (42)

Net cash used in investing activities (794) (1,157)

Investment in property, plant and equipment 757 709

Investment in equity accounted investees 5 7

Proceeds from the disposal of businesses, net of cash and cash equivalents (20) (3)

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash and cash equivalents 2 402

Financing activities (123) (139)

Interest paid (96) (73)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (3) (18)

Purchases of treasury shares (12) (15)

Transaction costs relating to the issue of share capital (6) —

Financing special item (14) —

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from derivatives 3 (25)

Other financing activities 5 (8)

Cash flow generation 1,215 1,226

25 Capital commitments
€ million 2019 2018

Contracted for but not provided 442 434

Approved, not yet contracted for 1,214 1,606

Total capital commitments 1,656 2,040

These capital commitments relate to the following categories of non-current non-financial assets:

€ million 2019 2018

Intangible assets 47 40

Property, plant and equipment 1,609 2,000

Total capital commitments 1,656 2,040

The expected maturity of these capital commitments is:

€ million 2019 2018

Within one year 744 842

One to two years 487 663

Two to five years 425 535

Total capital commitments 1,656 2,040

Capital commitments are based on capital projects approved by the end of the financial year and the budget approved by the Board. 
Major capital projects still require further approval before they commence and are not included in the above analysis. The Group’s capital 
commitments are expected to be financed from existing cash resources and borrowing facilities.
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26 Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities comprise aggregate amounts as at 31 December 2019 of €3 million (2018: €6 million) in respect of loans and 
guarantees given to banks and other third parties. No acquired contingent liabilities have been recorded in the Group’s consolidated 
statement of financial position for either year presented.

The Group is subject to certain legal proceedings, claims, complaints and investigations arising out of the ordinary course of business. 
Legal proceedings may include, but are not limited to, alleged breach of contract and alleged breach of environmental, competition, 
securities and health and safety laws. The Group may not be fully, or partly, insured in respect of such risks. The Group cannot predict the 
outcome of individual legal actions or claims or complaints or investigations. The Group may settle litigation or regulatory proceedings 
prior to a final judgement or determination of liability. The Group may do so to avoid the cost, management efforts or negative business, 
regulatory or reputational consequences of continuing to contest liability, even when it considers it has valid defences to liability. The Group 
considers that no material loss to the Group is expected to result from these legal proceedings, claims, complaints and investigations. 
Provision is made for all liabilities that are expected to materialise through legal and tax claims against the Group.

27 Financial instruments
The Group’s trading and financing activities expose it to various financial risks that, if left unmanaged, could adversely impact current or 
future earnings. Although not necessarily mutually exclusive, these financial risks are categorised separately according to their different 
generic risk characteristics and include market risk (foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group 
is actively engaged in the management of all of these financial risks in order to minimise their potential adverse impact on the Group’s 
financial performance.

The principles, practices and procedures governing the group-wide financial risk management process have been approved by the Board 
and are overseen by the executive committee. In turn, the executive committee delegates authority to a central treasury function (Group 
treasury) for the practical implementation of the financial risk management process across the Group and for ensuring that the Group’s 
entities adhere to specified financial risk management policies. Group treasury continually reassesses and reports on the financial risk 
environment; identifying, evaluating and hedging financial risks by entering into derivative contracts with counterparties where appropriate. 
The Group does not take speculative positions on derivative contracts.

(a) Financial instruments by category

2019/€ million
Fair value 
hierarchy

At amortised  
cost

At fair value 
through profit 

or loss
At fair value 
through OCI Total

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables1 959 — — 959

Financial asset investments Level 2 12 19 — 31

Derivative financial instruments Level 2 — 5 — 5

Cash and cash equivalents 74 — — 74

Total 1,045 24 — 1,069

2018/€ million
Fair value 
hierarchy

At amortised  
cost

At fair value 
through profit 

or loss
At fair value 
through OCI Total

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables1 1,047 — — 1,047

Financial asset investments Level 2 3 18 — 21

Derivative financial instruments Level 2 — 8 1 9

Cash and cash equivalents 52 — — 52

Total 1,102 26 1 1,129

Note:

1 	 Excludes tax, social security, prepayments and accrued income

The fair values of financial assets investments represent the published prices of the securities concerned.
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27 Financial instruments

2019/€ million
Fair value 
hierarchy

At amortised  
cost

At fair value 
through profit 

or loss
At fair value 
through OCI Total

Financial liabilities

Borrowings – bonds Level 1 (1,594) — — (1,594)

Borrowings – loans and overdrafts Level 2 (464) — — (464)

Lease liabilities Level 3 (218) — — (218)

Trade and other payables1 (1,084) — — (1,084)

Derivative financial instruments Level 2 — (7) (2) (9)

Other non-current liabilities Level 2/3 (16) — — (16)

Total (3,376) (7) (2) (3,385)

2018/€ million
Fair value 
hierarchy

At amortised  
cost

At fair value 
through profit 

or loss
At fair value 
through OCI Total

Financial liabilities

Borrowings – bonds Level 1 (1,592) — — (1,592)

Borrowings – loans and overdrafts Level 2 (494) — — (494)

Lease liabilities Level 3 (184) — — (184)

Trade and other payables1 (1,121) — — (1,121)

Derivative financial instruments Level 2 — (12) (1) (13)

Other non-current liabilities Level 2/3 (14) — — (14)

Total (3,405) (12) (1) (3,418)

Note:

1 	 Excludes tax, social security and deferred income

(b) Fair value measurement

There have been no transfers of assets or liabilities between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year.

Except as detailed below, the carrying values of financial instruments at amortised cost as presented in the consolidated financial 
statements approximate their fair values.

Carrying amount Fair value

€ million 2019 2018 2019 2018

Financial liabilities

Borrowings 2,276 2,270 2,343 2,287

(c) Financial risk management

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to foreign exchange and interest rate risk. Both risks are actively monitored on a regular basis 
and managed through the use of foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps as appropriate. Although the Group’s cash flows 
are exposed to movements in key input and output prices, such movements represent commercial rather than financial risk inherent to 
the Group.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates globally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk in the normal course of its business. Multiple currency exposures arise 
from commercial transactions denominated in foreign currencies, recognised financial assets and liabilities (monetary items) denominated in 
foreign currencies and translational exposure on net investments in foreign operations.

Foreign exchange contracts

The Group’s treasury policy requires subsidiaries to actively manage foreign currency transactional exposures against their functional 
currencies by entering into foreign exchange contracts. For segmental reporting purposes, each subsidiary enters into, and accounts 
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for, foreign exchange contracts with Group treasury or with counterparties that are external to the Group, whichever is more 
commercially appropriate. 

Only material balance sheet exposures and highly probable forecast capital expenditure transactions are hedged.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

Foreign exchange risk sensitivity analysis has been performed on the foreign currency exposures inherent in the Group’s financial assets and 
financial liabilities at the reporting dates presented, net of related foreign exchange contracts. The sensitivity analysis provides an indication 
of the impact on the Group’s reported earnings of reasonably possible changes in the currency exposures embedded within the functional 
currency environments that the Group operates in. In addition, an indication is provided of how reasonably possible changes in foreign 
exchange rates might impact on the Group’s equity, as a result of fair value adjustments to foreign exchange contracts designated as cash 
flow hedges. Reasonably possible changes are based on an analysis of historical currency volatility, together with any relevant assumptions 
regarding near-term future volatility.

Net monetary foreign currency exposures by functional currency zone

Net monetary foreign currency exposures – assets/(liabilities)1

2019 2018

€ million EUR Other EUR Other

Functional currency zones2

Euro — (4) — (10)

South African rand (3) (3) (6) (4)

Czech koruna 1 1 14 —

Polish zloty (11) 1 (7) 2

Russian rouble (26) (1) 13 (11)

Swedish krona (41) — (26) —

Turkish lira (5) 1 (22) (2)

Other (68) 12 (66) 17

Notes:

1 	 Presented in euro, the presentation currency of the Group

2 	Net monetary exposures represent financial assets less financial liabilities denominated in currencies other than the applicable functional currency, adjusted for the effects 
of foreign exchange risk hedging, excluding cash flow hedging of non-monetary assets and liabilities

Resultant impacts of reasonably possible changes to foreign exchange rates

The Group considers that for each functional to foreign currency net monetary exposure it is reasonable to assume a 5% appreciation/
depreciation of the functional currency. If all other variables are held constant, the table below presents the impacts on the Group’s 
consolidated income statement if these currency movements had occurred.

Income/(expense)

2019 2018

€ million +5% -5% +5% -5%

Functional currency zones

Czech koruna — — 1 (1)

Swedish krona 2 (2) 1 (1)

Other 5 (5) 5 (5)

The corresponding fair value impact on the Group’s equity, resulting from the application of these reasonably possible changes to the valuation  
of the Group’s foreign exchange contracts designated as cash flow hedges, would have been €1 million. It has been assumed that changes 
in the fair value of foreign exchange contracts designated as cash flow hedges of non-monetary assets and liabilities are fully recorded in 
equity and that all other variables are held constant.

Interest rate risk

The Group holds cash and cash equivalents, which earn interest at a variable rate and has variable and fixed rate debt in issue. Consequently,  
the Group is exposed to interest rate risk. Although the Group has fixed rate debt in issue, the Group’s accounting policy stipulates that all 
borrowings be held at amortised cost. As a result, the carrying value of fixed rate debt is not sensitive to changes in credit conditions in the 
relevant debt markets and there is, therefore, no exposure to fair value interest rate risk.
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27 Financial instruments
Management of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with short-term highly liquid investments which have a 
maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Centralised cash pooling arrangements are in place, which ensure that cash 
is utilised most efficiently for the ongoing working capital needs of the Group’s operating units and, in addition, to ensure that the Group 
earns the most advantageous rates of interest available.

Management of variable rate debt

The Group has multiple variable rate debt facilities, of which the most significant is the Syndicated Revolving Credit Facility (see note 19). 
When deemed necessary, Group treasury uses interest rate swaps to hedge certain exposures to movements in the relevant interbank 
lending rates.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents act as a natural hedge to movements in the relevant interbank lending rates on its variable rate debt, 
subject to any interest rate differentials that exist between the Group’s corporate saving and lending rates.

Net variable rate debt sensitivity analysis

The net variable rate exposure represents variable rate debt less the future cash outflows swapped from variable-to-fixed via interest rate 
swap instruments and cash and cash equivalents. Reasonably possible changes in interest rates have been applied to the net variable rate 
exposure, denominated by currency, in order to provide an indication of the possible impact on the Group’s consolidated income statement.

Interest rate risk sensitivities on variable rate debt

Interest rate risk exposures

2019 2018

€ million EUR Other Total EUR Other Total

Total debt 1,837 439 2,276 1,836 434 2,270

Less:

Fixed rate debt (1,608) (34) (1,642) (1,593) (24) (1,617)

Lease liabilities (71) (147) (218) (47) (137) (184)

Cash and cash equivalents (13) (61) (74) (10) (42) (52)

Net variable rate debt and exposure 145 197 342 186 231 417

Included in other is net variable exposure to various currencies, the most significant of which are Polish zloty and South African rand  
(2018: South African rand and Turkish lira).

The Group did not have any outstanding interest rate swaps at 31 December 2019 (2018: €nil).

The potential impact on the Group’s consolidated equity resulting from the application of +50 basis points to the variable interest rate 
exposure would be a gain of €2 million and vice versa for a -50 fall in basis points.

In addition to the above, the Group swaps euro and pound sterling debt into other currencies through the foreign exchange market using 
foreign exchange contracts which has the effect of exposing the Group to the interest rates of these currencies. The currencies swapped 
into/(out of) and the amounts as at 31 December were as follows:

€ million 2019 2018

Short-dated contracts with tenures of less than 12 months

Pound sterling (48) (145)

Czech koruna 369 378

Polish zloty 339 285

Russian rouble 28 (91)

Swedish krona 40 39

US dollar 50 54

Other 141 118

Total swapped against the euro 919 638
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Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is mainly confined to the risk of customers defaulting on sales invoices raised. The Group’s exposure to the credit 
risk inherent in its trade receivables and the associated risk management techniques that the Group deploys in order to mitigate this risk 
are discussed in note 16.

Several Group entities have also issued certain financial guarantees to external counterparties in order to achieve competitive funding rates 
for specific debt agreements entered into by other Group entities. None of these financial guarantees contractually obligates the Group to 
pay more than the recognised financial liabilities in the entities concerned. As a result, these financial guarantee contracts have no bearing 
on the credit risk profile of the Group as a whole.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group could experience difficulties in meeting its commitments to creditors as financial liabilities fall due for 
payment. The Group manages its liquidity risk by using reasonable and retrospectively assessed assumptions to forecast the future cash-
generative capabilities and working capital requirements of the businesses it operates and by maintaining sufficient reserves, committed 
borrowing facilities and other credit lines as appropriate.

The following table shows the amounts available to draw down on the Group’s committed loan facilities:

€ million 2019 2018

Expiry date

Within one year 57 48

Two to five years 603 568

Total committed facilities available (see note 19) 660 616

Forecast liquidity represents the Group’s expected cash inflows, principally generated from sales made to customers, less the Group’s 
expected cash outflows, principally related to the payment of employees, supplier payments and the repayment of borrowings plus the 
payment of any interest accruing thereon. The matching of these cash inflows and outflows rests on the expected ageing profiles of the 
underlying assets and liabilities.

Short-term financial assets and financial liabilities are primarily represented by the Group’s trade receivables and trade payables. The  
matching of the cash flows that result from trade receivables and trade payables typically takes place over a period of three to four months 
from recognition in the consolidated statement of financial position and is managed to ensure the ongoing operating liquidity of the Group.

Financing cash outflows may be longer-term in nature. The Group does not hold long-term financial assets to match against these 
commitments, but is significantly invested in long-term non-financial assets which generate the sustainable future cash inflows, net of future 
capital expenditure requirements, needed to service and repay the Group’s borrowings.

(d) Derivative financial instruments

At 31 December 2019, the Group recognised total derivative assets of €5 million (2018: €9 million) and derivative liabilities of €9 million 
(2018: €13 million). The full net liability of €4 million (2018: net liability of €4 million) will mature within one year.

The notional amount of €1,691 million (2018: €1,725 million) is the aggregate face value of all derivatives outstanding at the reporting date.  
They do not indicate the contractual future cash flows of the derivative instruments held or their current fair value and, therefore, do not  
indicate the Group’s exposure to credit or market risks. Of the €1,691 million (2018: €1,725 million) aggregate notional amount, €1,301 million  
(2018: €1,300 million) relates to the economic hedging of foreign exchange exposures on short-term inter-company funding balances, 
which are fully eliminated on consolidation.

Derivative financial instruments are subject to International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) master netting agreements. The amounts  
are not offset in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Hedging

Cash flow hedges

The Group designates certain derivative financial instruments as cash flow hedges. The fair value gains/(losses) are reclassified from the 
cash flow hedge reserve to the consolidated income statement in the period when the hedged transaction affects profit and loss. For non-
current non-financial assets, these gains/(losses) are included in the carrying value of the asset and depreciated over the same useful life as 
the cost of the asset.

Fair value losses of €2 million (2018: €nil) were reclassified from the cash flow hedge reserve to property, plant and equipment during 
the current year. There was no ineffectiveness recognised in the consolidated income statement arising on cash flow hedges for both 
years presented.
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28 Related party transactions
The Group and its subsidiaries, in the ordinary course of business, enter into various sale, purchase and service transactions with equity 
accounted investees and others in which the Group has a material interest. These transactions are under terms that are no less favourable 
than those arranged with third parties. These transactions, in total, are not considered to be significant.

Transactions between Mondi plc and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, and transactions between its subsidiaries have been 
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

Associates

€ million 2019 2018

Sales to related parties 23 18

Purchases from related parties 213 208

Receivables due from related parties 1 2

Payables due to related parties 36 44

Compensation for the Board and key management

In accordance with IAS 24, ‘Related Party Disclosures’, key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, and includes directors (both Executive and Non-
Executive) of Mondi plc. The Board and those members of the Group executive committee who are not directors comprise the key 
management personnel of the Group. The remuneration of the directors is disclosed in the Remuneration report.

€ million 2019 2018

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 7.4 8.4

Non-Executive Directors 1.1 1.1

Defined contribution plan payments 0.9 0.9

Social security costs 0.9 0.7

Share-based payments 4.8 5.1

Total 15.1 16.2

Details of the transactions between the Group and its pension and post-retirement medical plans are disclosed in note 23.
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29 Group companies
Composition of the Group

The subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December 2019 are set out in note 11 of the Mondi plc parent company financial statements. All of 
these interests are consolidated within the Group’s financial statements. 

The Group has no material joint ventures or associates.

Refer to Mondi’s global footprint on pages 6 and 7 of the overview to the Integrated report for more information on the places of operation.

A list of subsidiaries taking advantage of an exemption from audit under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 is disclosed in note 9 of 
the Mondi plc parent company financial statements.

Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries

Proportion of ownership  
interests and voting rights held by  

non-controlling interests (%)
Profit attributable to  

non-controlling interests
Equity attributable to  

non-controlling interests

€ million, unless otherwise stated 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Mondi SCP, a.s. 49 49 22 30 297 278

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with 
non-controlling interests 12 12 73 62

Total 34 42 370 340

Summarised financial information of the Group’s material non-controlling interest is as follows:

Mondi SCP, a.s.

€ million 2019 2018

Statement of financial position

Non-current assets 687 542

Current assets 253 352

Current liabilities (196) (193)

Non-current liabilities (129) (126)

Net assets 615 575

Equity attributable to owners of the company 318 297

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 297 278

Income statement and statement of comprehensive income

Revenue 759 806

Operating costs (including taxation) (713) (743)

Profit for the year 46 63

Attributable to owners of the company 24 33

Attributable to non-controlling interests 22 30

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 46 63

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests — 15

Statement of cash flows

Net cash inflow from operating activities 93 113

Net cash outflow from investing activities (183) (79)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (1) (34)

Net cash outflow (91) —

The summarised financial information represents amounts before intra-group eliminations.
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30 Events occurring after 31 December 2019
In addition to the final ordinary dividend proposed for 2019 (see note 9), there have been the following material reportable events since 
31 December 2019:

ee The Group has concluded the consultation with employee representatives relating to the closure of two consumer flexibles plants 
in the UK. Restructuring and closure costs and related impairment of assets of €4 million were recognised as a special item in 2019. 
Total restructuring and closure costs are expected to exceed €10 million.

ee In February 2020, the Group entered into a €250 million debt facility maturing in August 2021.

31 Accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, equity and cash flows of Mondi plc and its 
subsidiaries (the Group), and the Group’s share of equity accounted investees drawn up to 31 December each year. All intra-group balances 
and transactions are eliminated. 

Prior to the Simplification (see note 21), Mondi Limited and Mondi plc were reported on a combined and consolidated basis as a single 
reporting entity. The combined and consolidated financial statements incorporated the revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, equity and 
cash flows of Mondi Limited and Mondi plc, and its respective subsidiaries and the Group’s share of equity accounted investees. 

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has control. Control is evident where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with that entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over that entity.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the years presented are included in the consolidated income statement from the 
effective date of acquiring control or up to the effective date of disposal.

Non-controlling interests are measured, at initial recognition, as the non-controlling proportion of the fair values of the assets and liabilities 
recognised at acquisition.

After initial recognition, non-controlling interests are measured as the aggregate of the value at initial recognition and their subsequent 
proportionate share of profits and losses less any distributions made. 

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a change in control are accounted for as equity transactions. 
Any resulting difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration 
payable or receivable is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the shareholders.

Foreign currency transactions and translation

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the entity that has undertaken the transaction using the 
exchange rates ruling on the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing on the reporting date. Gains and losses arising on translation are included in the 
consolidated income statement and are classified as either operating or financing consistent with the nature of the monetary item giving 
rise to them.

Translation of overseas operations

The Group’s results are presented in euro, the currency in which most of its business is conducted. On consolidation, the assets and 
liabilities of the Group’s overseas operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group at exchange rates prevailing on 
the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the month in which they occur where 
these approximate the rates on the dates of the underlying transactions. Exchange differences, if any, are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income, and accumulated in equity. Such translation differences are reclassified to profit or loss only on disposal or partial 
disposal of the overseas operation.
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Fair value measurement

Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value, or where the fair value of financial instruments has been disclosed in notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, are based on the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

ee level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

ee level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as 
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices); and

ee level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

The assets measured at fair value on level 3 of the fair value measurement hierarchy are the Group’s forestry assets as set out in note 14.

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) are determined 
using generally accepted valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as 
possible on Group specific estimates.

Specific valuation methodologies used to value financial instruments include:

ee the fair values of interest rate swaps and foreign exchange contracts are calculated as the present value of expected future cash flows 
based on observable yield curves and exchange rates;

ee the fair values of the Group’s commodity price derivatives are calculated as the present value of expected future cash flows based on 
observable market data; and

ee other techniques, including discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine the fair values of other financial instruments.

Segmental reporting (note 2)

The Group’s operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the executive committee, the 
chief operating decision-making body. The operating segments are managed based on the nature of the underlying products produced by 
those businesses and comprise four distinct segments (2018: three distinct segments).

Measurement of operating segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and non-current non-financial assets

Each of the reportable segments derives its income from the sale of manufactured products.

The operating segment measures adhere to the recognition and measurement criteria presented in the Group’s accounting policies and are 
presented on an underlying basis, excluding special items. The Group has presented certain non-IFRS measures (Alternative Performance 
Measures) by segment to supplement the user’s understanding. All intra-group transactions are conducted on an arm’s length basis. 

Revenue from contracts with customers (note 2)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and is measured at the amount of the transaction price received in exchange for transferring 
goods. The transaction price is the expected consideration to be received, to the extent that it is highly probable that there will not be 
a significant reversal of revenue in future, after deducting discounts, volume rebates, value added tax and other sales taxes. When the 
period of time between delivery of goods and subsequent payment by the customer is less than one year, no adjustment for a financing 
component is made.

Control of the goods is passed when title and insurance risk have passed to the customer, which is typically when the goods have been 
delivered to a contractually agreed location.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract are recognised as an expense when the period of amortisation over which the costs would 
have been recognised is one year or less. If not, these costs are capitalised and amortised on a basis consistent with the transfer of goods 
to the customer to which the asset relates.

Transport revenue

Transport revenue is considered distinct when the Group provides transport services after the point in time when control of goods has 
passed to the customer. Such revenue is recognised over time. 

Other income

Sale of green energy and CO2e credits (note 15)

Income generated from the sale of green energy and CO2e credits issued under international trading schemes is measured at the 
consideration received in exchange for transferring such credits. The income is recorded within other net operating expenses in the 
consolidated income statement when ownership rights pass to the buyer. Any unsold green energy credits are recorded in inventory.

Mondi Group 
Integrated report and financial statements 2019

205

O
verview

Strategic report
G

overnance
Financial statem

ents



31 Accounting policies
Investment income (note 6)

Interest income, which is derived from cash and cash equivalents and other interest-bearing financial assets, is accrued on a time 
proportion basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the applicable effective interest rate.

Taxation (note 7)

The tax expense represents the sum of the current tax charge and the deferred tax charge.

Current tax

The current tax charge is based on taxable profit for the year. The Group’s asset/liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. The Group is regularly subject to routine tax audits. Provision is made 
based on the tax laws in the relevant country and the expected outcomes of any negotiations or settlements.

The Group is subject to corporate taxes in a number of jurisdictions and a degree of estimation and judgement is required in determining 
the appropriate tax provision for transactions where the tax treatment is uncertain. In these circumstances, the Group recognises provisions 
for taxes based on information available where the anticipated liability is both probable and estimable.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities in the Group’s consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is 
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences 
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences arise from the initial 
recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition, other than in a business combination, of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 
that affects neither the tax profit nor accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where 
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date. The carrying amount is reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered within a reasonable period of 
time. Similarly, it is increased to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available in the future for all or part 
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered within a reasonable period of time.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted and are expected to apply in the year when the 
liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the consolidated income statement, except when it relates 
to items charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also 
taken directly to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority and the Group intends to 
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

The Group applies the initial recognition exemption model to account for any investment tax credits. Deferred tax is not recognised for 
temporary differences relating to investment tax credits due to the availability of the initial recognition exemption.

Earnings per share (EPS) (note 8)

Basic EPS

The basic EPS is calculated by dividing net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of Mondi plc 
shares in issue during the year, net of treasury shares.

Prior to the Simplification (see note 21) the basic EPS was calculated by dividing net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders by the 
weighted average number of the sum of ordinary Mondi Limited and Mondi plc shares in issue during the year, net of treasury shares. 
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Diluted EPS

For diluted EPS, the weighted average number of Mondi plc ordinary shares in issue, net of treasury shares, is adjusted to assume 
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. At present these only include share awards granted to employees. Potential or contingent 
share issues are treated as dilutive when their conversion to shares would decrease EPS.

Prior to the Simplification (see note 21), for diluted EPS the weighted average number of the sum of Mondi Limited and Mondi plc ordinary 
shares in issue, net of treasury shares, was adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

Non-current non-financial assets excluding goodwill, deferred tax and net retirement benefit assets

Property, plant and equipment (note 10)

Property, plant and equipment principally comprise land and buildings, plant and equipment and assets under construction.

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Land and assets under construction are 
carried at cost less impairment. Cost includes site preparation, the purchase price of the equipment and directly attributable labour and 
installation costs. Borrowing costs are capitalised on qualifying assets. The capitalisation of costs ceases when the asset is in the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of commercial operation. Start-up and ongoing maintenance costs are recognised immediately 
as an expense.

Depreciation is charged to the consolidated income statement so as to write off the cost of assets, other than freehold land and assets 
under construction, over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis to their estimated residual values. 

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at least annually. Depreciation commences when the assets are ready for their intended 
use. Estimated useful lives range from three years to 25 years (2018: three years to 20 years) for items of plant and equipment and other 
categories and to a maximum of 50 years for buildings.

The Group has revised the estimated useful economic lives of plant and equipment. In accordance with IAS 8, ‘Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’, the effect of the change in accounting estimate has been recognised prospectively in the 
consolidated income statement and is considered not material.

Leases (note 11)

To the extent that a right-of-control exists over an asset subject to a lease, a right-of-use asset, representing the Group’s right to use 
the underlying leased asset, and a lease liability, representing the Group’s obligation to make lease payments, are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at the commencement of the lease. 

The right-of-use asset is measured initially at cost and includes the amount of initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct 
costs incurred, including advance lease payments, and an estimate of the dismantling, removal and restoration costs required in terms of the 
lease. Depreciation is charged to the consolidated income statement so as to depreciate the right-of-use asset from the commencement 
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The lease term shall include the period 
of an extension option where it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised. Where the lease contains a purchase option the 
asset is written off over the useful life of the asset when it is reasonably certain that the purchase option will be exercised.

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the future lease payments, including variable lease payments that depend on an index 
and the exercise price of purchase options where it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised, discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease, if readily determinable. If the implicit interest rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate 
is used. Finance charges are recognised in the consolidated income statement over the period of the lease.

Lease expenses for leases with a duration of one year or less and low-value assets are not recognised in the consolidated statement 
of financial position, and are charged to the consolidated income statement when incurred. Low-value assets are determined based on 
quantitative criteria.

Intangible assets and research and development expenditure (note 13)

Intangible assets are measured initially at purchase consideration and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 
Estimated useful lives vary between three years and 10 years and are reviewed at least annually.

Research expenditure is expensed in the year in which it is incurred. Development costs are capitalised when the completion of the asset 
is both commercially and technically feasible and are amortised on a systematic basis over the economic life of the related development. 
Development costs are recognised immediately as an expense if they do not qualify for capitalisation.
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31 Accounting policies
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated. If the recoverable amount of an asset, or cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the asset relates, is less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset, or CGU, is reduced to its recoverable amount and an impairment recognised as an expense.

The recoverable amount of the asset, or CGU, is the higher of its fair value less costs to dispose and its value-in-use. In assessing value-
in-use, the estimated future cash flows generated by the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which estimates of future cash flows 
have not been adjusted. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the smallest CGU to which the asset belongs. 

Where the underlying circumstances change such that a previously recognised impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount 
of the asset, or CGU, is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount. Such a reversal is limited to the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (taking into account depreciation or amortisation in the intervening period) had no impairment been 
recognised for the asset, or CGU, in prior years. A reversal of an impairment is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Agriculture – owned forestry assets (note 14)

Owned forestry assets are biological assets measured at fair value less costs to sell, calculated by applying the expected selling price, 
less costs to harvest and deliver, to the estimated volume of timber on hand at each reporting date. The fair value less costs to sell is 
determined using a market approach. The estimated volume of timber on hand is determined based on the maturity profile of the area 
under afforestation, the species, the geographic location and other environmental considerations and excludes future growth. The product 
of these is then adjusted for risks associated with forestry assets.

Changes in fair value are recognised in the consolidated income statement within other net operating expenses. At point of harvest, the 
carrying value of forestry assets is transferred to inventory and recorded as a felling cost reduction to the fair value of forestry assets.

Directly attributable costs incurred during the year of biological growth and investments in standing timber are capitalised and presented 
within cash flows from investing activities.

Goodwill (note 12)

Any excess of the consideration of the acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is attributed to goodwill. 
Goodwill is subsequently measured at cost less any impairment.

Impairment of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the group of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination and represents the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. The recoverable amount of 
the group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually in the fourth quarter of each financial year and 
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that it may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of a group of CGUs is determined based on value-in-use calculations. Value-in-use calculations use cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets covering a three-year period that are based on the latest forecasts for revenue and costs as 
approved by the Board. Projected revenues and costs are determined taking into consideration relevant industry forecasts for individual 
product lines, management’s projections, historical performance and announced industry capacity changes.

Cash flow projections beyond three years are based on internal management projections. Growth rates in the countries in which the Group 
operates are determined with reference to published gross domestic product information, and for specific product lines are determined 
with reference to published industry studies.

The discount rate is determined as the Group’s weighted average cost of capital using published market data and published borrowing 
rates and adjusted for country risk and tax.

Any impairment is recognised in the consolidated income statement. Impairments of goodwill are not subsequently reversed.

Current non-financial assets

Inventories (note 15)

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) or weighted average 
cost basis, as appropriate. Costs comprise direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been 
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is defined as the selling price less any 
estimated costs to sell.
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Provisions (note 18)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, which it is probable it will be required to 
settle. Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting date, 
and are discounted to present value using country specific discount rates for periods matching the duration of the underlying liability where 
the effect of discounting is material.

Equity instruments

Treasury shares (note 21)

The purchase by any Group entity of Mondi plc’s equity instruments results in the recognition of treasury shares. The consideration paid 
or payable is deducted from equity. Where treasury shares are subsequently sold, reissued or otherwise disposed of, any consideration 
received or receivable is included in equity attributable to the shareholders of Mondi plc, net of any directly attributable incremental 
transaction costs and the related tax effects.

Prior to the Simplification (see note 21), the purchase by any Group entity of either Mondi Limited’s or Mondi plc’s equity instruments 
resulted in the recognition of treasury shares. The consideration paid was deducted from equity. Where treasury shares were subsequently 
sold, reissued or otherwise disposed of, any consideration received was included in equity attributable to the shareholders of either Mondi 
Limited or Mondi plc, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related tax effects.

Dividend payments (note 9)

The dividend distributions to Mondi plc’s ordinary shareholders are recognised as a liability when the dividends are declared and approved. 
Final dividends are accrued when approved by Mondi plc’s ordinary shareholders at its Annual General Meeting and interim dividends are 
recognised when approved by the Board.

Prior to the Simplification (see note 21) the dividend distributions to Mondi Limited’s and Mondi plc’s ordinary shareholders were recognised 
as a liability when the dividends were declared and approved. Final dividends were accrued when approved by both Mondi Limited’s and 
Mondi plc’s ordinary shareholders at their respective Annual General Meetings and interim dividends were recognised when approved by 
the Boards.

Share-based payments (note 22)

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation schemes. The fair value of the employee services received 
in exchange for the grant of share awards is recognised concurrently as an expense and an adjustment to equity. The total amount to 
be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the share awards granted, as adjusted for market 
performance conditions and non-market vesting conditions. Vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of awards 
that are expected to vest. At each reporting date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of share awards that are expected to 
vest as a result of changes in non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the 
consolidated income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Financial instruments (note 27)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position when the Group becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) 
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in the 
consolidated income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents (note 24b)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with short-term, highly liquid investments of a maturity 
of three months or less from the date of acquisition that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and that are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. Cash and cash equivalents presented in the consolidated statement of cash flows are net of overdrafts.

Trade receivables (note 16)

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method, less an allowance for impairment.

Mondi Group 
Integrated report and financial statements 2019

209

O
verview

Strategic report
G

overnance
Financial statem

ents



31 Accounting policies
Impairment of trade receivables (note 16)

A simplified lifetime Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model is used to assess trade receivables for impairment. ECL is the present value of 
all cash shortfalls over the expected life of a trade receivable. Expected credit losses are based on historical loss experience on trade 
receivables, adjusted to reflect information about current economic conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future 
economic conditions. At the date of initial recognition, the credit losses expected to arise over the lifetime of a trade receivable are 
recognised as an impairment. 

Trade payables (note 17)

Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Borrowings (note 20)

Interest bearing loans and overdrafts are initially recognised at fair value, net of direct transaction costs. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds, net of transaction costs, and the redemption value is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement over the term of the borrowings using the effective interest rate method.

Borrowing costs (note 6)

Interest on borrowings directly relating to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets is capitalised until such time as 
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. Where funds have been borrowed specifically to finance a project, the amount 
capitalised represents the actual borrowing costs incurred. Where the funds used to finance a project form part of general borrowings, 
the amount capitalised is calculated using a weighted average of rates applicable to relevant general borrowings of the Group during the 
construction period.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (note 27d)

The Group enters into forward, option and swap contracts in order to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity 
price risks.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and subsequently measured at fair value in 
the consolidated statement of financial position within financial instruments, and are classified as current or non-current depending on the 
maturity of the derivative.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not formally designated in hedge relationships are recognised 
immediately in the consolidated income statement and are classified within operating profit or net finance costs, depending on the type of 
risk to which the derivative relates.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated as hedges of future cash flows 
are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement. If the cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction results in the recognition 
of a non-financial asset then, at the time the asset is recognised, the associated gains or losses on the derivative that had previously been 
recognised in the Group’s cash flow hedge reserve in equity are included in the initial measurement of the asset. For hedges that do not 
result in the recognition of a non-financial asset, amounts deferred in the Group’s cash flow hedge reserve in equity are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement in the same period in which the hedged item affects profit or loss on a proportionate basis.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedge relationship is revoked or the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, 
exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. At that time, any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity remains in equity and is 
recognised in the consolidated income statement when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised. If a hedge transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity is included immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Retirement benefits (note 23)

The Group operates defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution pension plans for the majority of its employees as well as post-
retirement medical plans.

Defined contribution plans

For defined contribution plans, the amount charged to the consolidated income statement is the contributions paid or payable during the 
reporting period.
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Defined benefit pension plans and post-retirement medical plans

For defined benefit pension and post-retirement medical plans, actuarial valuations are performed at each financial year end using the 
projected unit credit method. The average discount rate for the plans’ liabilities is based on investment grade rated corporate bonds 
or similar government bonds of a suitable duration and currency. Plans’ assets are measured using market values at the end of the 
reporting period.

The net retirement benefits liability recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the present value of the 
defined benefit liability as reduced by the fair value of any plan assets.

Any increase in the present value of plan liabilities expected to arise from employee service during the year is charged to personnel costs 
as service costs. Past service costs resulting from plan amendments or curtailments and gains or losses on settlements are charged to 
personnel costs. A net interest expense or net interest income is calculated by applying the discount rate, on a per plan basis, to the net 
defined benefit liability or asset and recognised in the consolidated income statement within finance costs.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses and the return on plan assets (after recognising the net finance charge) 
are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income, net of deferred tax, in the reporting period in which they occur. 
Remeasurements recorded in other comprehensive income are not recycled to the consolidated income statement, but those amounts 
recognised in other comprehensive income may be transferred within equity.

Simplification accounting (note 21)

With the effect of the Simplification, Mondi Limited became a wholly owned subsidiary of Mondi plc and subsequently the stated capital 
of Mondi Limited is eliminated in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. The difference between the nominal value of new 
shares issued by Mondi plc (€23 million) and the stated capital of Mondi Limited recorded within the Group equity immediately prior to the 
Simplification (€431 million) is recognised in the merger reserve within equity. 

The Simplification was accounted for outside the scope of IFRS 3, and consequently, the carrying values of the assets and liabilities of 
Mondi Limited were not adjusted to fair value, but continue to be reported under the same measurement principles as applied prior to 
the transaction. 

Transaction costs incurred to effect the Simplification are charged as a financing special item in the consolidated income statement, except 
for costs incremental and directly attributable to the issuance of new shares of Mondi plc, which are debited directly to retained earnings 
within equity in accordance with IAS 32. 

The Simplification accounting is identified as a critical accounting judgement in terms of IAS 1 due to the exceptional nature of the 
underlying transaction and the limited guidance available in IFRS, in particular the judgement applied by management that the transaction 
does not represent a business combination and so assets and liabilities of the Mondi Limited group were not remeasured to their fair value 
as at the transaction date. Instead the assets and liabilities continued to be held at their previous carrying amounts.

New accounting policies, early adoption and future requirements

Amendments to published Standards effective during 2019

The following amendments to Standards and a new Interpretation have been adopted for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2019, 
and have had no significant impact on the Group’s results:

ee Annual improvements 2015-2017 cycle

ee Amendments to IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments 

ee Amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits 

ee Amendments to IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

ee IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments	

New Standards and amendments to published Standards that are not yet effective 

The following amendments to Standards will be effective for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2020 and, while the Group’s 
assessment of the impact is ongoing, are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s results:

ee Amendments to IFRS 3 – Business Combinations

ee Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements

ee Amendments to IAS 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

ee Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
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31 Accounting policies
Alternative Performance Measures (APMs)

The Group presents certain measures of financial performance, position or cash flows in the consolidated financial statements that are not 
defined or specified according to IFRS. These measures, referred to as APMs, are prepared on a consistent basis for all periods presented 
in this report.

The most significant APMs are:

Special items (note 3)

Those financial items which the Group considers should be separately disclosed on the face of the consolidated income statement to assist 
in understanding the underlying financial performance achieved by the Group. Such items are generally material by nature and exceed 
€10 million and the Group, therefore, excludes these items when reporting underlying earnings and related measures in order to provide 
a measure of the underlying performance of the Group on a basis that is comparable from year to year. Subsequent adjustments to items 
previously recognised as special items continue to be reflected as special items in future periods even if they do not exceed the quantitative 
reporting threshold.

Underlying EBITDA (consolidated income statement)

Operating profit before special items, depreciation, amortisation and impairments not recorded as special items. Underlying EBITDA 
provides a measure of the cash generating ability of the business that is comparable from year to year.

Underlying EBITDA margin (note 2)

Underlying EBITDA expressed as a percentage of revenue provides a measure of the cash-generating ability relative to revenue.

Underlying operating profit (consolidated income statement)

Operating profit before special items. Underlying operating profit provides a measure of operating performance that is comparable from 
year to year.

Underlying operating profit margin

Underlying operating profit expressed as a percentage of revenue provides a measure of the profitability of the operations relative 
to revenue.

Underlying profit before tax (consolidated income statement)

Profit before tax and special items. Underlying profit before tax provides a measure of the Group’s profitability before tax that is comparable 
from year to year.

Underlying earnings (and per share measure) (note 8)

Net profit after tax attributable to shareholders, before special items. Underlying earnings (and the related per share measure based on the 
basic, weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding), provides a measure of the Group’s earnings that is comparable from year 
to year.

Headline earnings (and per share measure) (note 8)

The presentation of headline earnings (and the related per share measure based on the basic, weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding) is mandated under the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited and is calculated in accordance with Circular 1/2019, 
‘Headline Earnings’, as issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Return on capital employed (ROCE) (notes 2 and 19)

Trailing 12-month underlying operating profit, including share of equity accounted investees’ net profit/(loss), divided by trailing 12-month 
average capital employed. ROCE provides a measure of the efficient and effective use of capital in the business.

Capital employed (and related trailing 12-month average capital employed) (notes 2 and 19)

Capital employed comprises equity, non-controlling interests in equity and net debt providing a measure of the level of invested capital in 
the business. Trailing 12-month average capital employed is the average capital employed over the last 12 months adjusted for spend on 
major capital expenditure projects which are not yet in production. 
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Net debt (note 24c)

A measure comprising short, medium, and long-term interest-bearing borrowings and the fair value of debt-related derivatives less 
cash and cash equivalents, net of overdrafts, and current financial asset investments. Net debt provides a measure of the Group’s net 
indebtedness or overall leverage.

Operating segment assets and operating segment net assets (note 2)

Operating segment assets and operating segment net assets comprise total assets (excluding financial instruments) and capital employed 
respectively but excludes investment in equity accounted investees, deferred tax assets and liabilities and other non-operating assets and 
liabilities, and provide a measure of the operating assets in the business. 

Working capital as a percentage of revenue

Working capital, defined as the sum of trade and other receivables and inventories less trade and other payables, expressed as a 
percentage of annualised Group revenue. A measure of the Group’s effective use of working capital relative to revenue.

Net interest expense (note 6)

Net interest expense comprises interest expense on bank overdrafts, loans and lease liabilities net of investment income providing an 
absolute measure of the cost of borrowings. 

Effective interest rate (note 6)

Annualised net interest expense expressed as a percentage of trailing average net debt over the period provides a measure of the cost 
of borrowings. 

Effective tax rate (note 7a)

Underlying tax charge expressed as a percentage of underlying profit before tax. A measure of the Group’s tax charge relative to its profit 
before tax expressed on an underlying basis.

Net debt to 12-month trailing underlying EBITDA (note 19)

Net debt divided by trailing 12-month underlying EBITDA. A measure of the Group’s net indebtedness relative to its cash-generating ability.

Gearing (note 19)

Net debt expressed as a percentage of capital employed provides a measure of the financial leverage of the Group. 

Ordinary dividend cover

Basic underlying EPS divided by total ordinary dividend per share paid and proposed provides a measure of the Group’s earnings relative to 
its deployment towards ordinary dividend payments.

Cash flow generation (note 24d)

A measurement of the Group’s cash generation before considering deployment of cash towards investment in property, plant and 
equipment (‘capex’ or ‘capital expenditure’), acquisitions and disposals of businesses, investment in equity accounted investees and 
payment of dividends to shareholders. Cash flow generation is a measure of the Group’s ability to generate cash through the cycle before 
considering deployment of such cash.
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Mondi plc parent company balance sheet
as at 31 December 2019

€ million Notes 2019 2018

Fixed asset investments 5 3,721 2,938

Total debtors: due within one year 6 35 3

Total assets 3,756 2,941

Total creditors: due within one year 7 (12) (451)

Total provisions: due after more than one year (1) (2)

Total liabilities (13) (453)

Net assets 3,743 2,488

Capital and reserves

Share capital 8 97 103

Profit or loss account 2,846 2,367

Merger reserve 754 —

Legal reserve 29 —

Share-based payments reserve 17 18

Total shareholders’ funds 3,743 2,488

Mondi plc reported a profit of €818 million (2018: profit of €292 million) for the year ended 31 December 2019. The balance sheet and 
statement of changes in equity of Mondi plc and related notes were approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 26 February 2020 
and were signed on its behalf by:

David Williams	 Andrew King
Chair	 Director

Mondi plc company registered number: 6209386

Mondi plc parent company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2019

€ million Share capital
Profit or loss 

account Merger reserve Legal reserve
Share-based 

payments reserve
Total  

equity

At 1 January 2018 103 2,952 — — 19 3,074

Total comprehensive income for the year — 292 — — — 292

Dividends — (603) — — — (603)

Issue of shares under employee share schemes — 11 — — (11) —

Purchases of treasury shares — (16) — — — (16)

Mondi share schemes’ charge — — — — 10 10

Transfer to Mondi Limited — (269) — — — (269)

At 31 December 2018 103 2,367 — — 18 2,488

Total comprehensive income for the year — 818 — — — 818

Dividends — (332) — — — (332)

Issue of shares under employee share schemes — 11 — — (11) —

Purchases of treasury shares — (12) — — — (12)

Mondi share schemes’ charge — — — — 10 10

Cancellation of deferred shares (29) — — 29 — —

Acquisition of Mondi Limited 23 (6) 754 — — 771

At 31 December 2019 97 2,846 754 29 17 3,743
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Notes to the Mondi plc parent company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

1 Accounting policies
Basis of preparation

Mondi plc meets the definition of a qualifying entity under Financial Reporting Standard 100 (FRS 100) issued by the Financial Reporting 
Council. Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101, ‘Reduced 
Disclosure Framework’ (FRS 101) as issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

As permitted by FRS 101, Mondi plc has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in relation to 
share-based payments, financial instruments, capital management, presentation of comparative information in respect of certain items, 
presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet effective, impairment of assets and related party transactions. 

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the Group accounts of Mondi plc, which are publicly available. The results, assets and 
liabilities of Mondi plc are included in the publicly available consolidated Group financial statements.

Mondi plc has made use of the exemption from presenting a profit and loss account, in accordance with Section 408 of the Companies 
Act 2006.

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. This is discussed in the Strategic report within ‘Principal risks’ 
under the heading ‘Going concern’.

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration 
given in exchange for the assets. The principal accounting policies adopted are described below. They have all been applied consistently 
throughout the year and the preceding year.

Principal accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied by Mondi plc are the same as those presented in notes 1 and 31 to the consolidated Group 
financial statements, to the extent that the Group’s transactions and balances are applicable to the company financial statements. 
Principally, the accounting policies which are not directly relevant to the Mondi plc parent company financial statements are those relating 
to consolidation accounting and the recognition and subsequent measurement of goodwill.

The accounting policy, that is additional to those applied by the Group, is stated as follows:

Investments

Fixed asset investments are stated at cost, less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment. Any potential impairment is determined on a 
basis consistent with the Group accounting policy on the impairment of goodwill.

Costs incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition of investments are capitalised. 

Simplification accounting

With the effect of the Simplification (see note 21 of the consolidated Group financial statements), Mondi plc became the sole holder of 
issued shares in Mondi Limited and recognised a fixed asset investment on the statement of financial position, as set out above. Mondi plc 
applied merger relief in accordance with Section 612 of the Companies Act 2006.

The difference between the nominal value (€23 million) and the fair value (€2,403 million) of new shares issued by Mondi plc netted by the 
fair value of the premium for the DLC structure cancelled (€1,626 million) at the transaction date is recognised in the merger reserve within 
equity (€754 million).

The cancellation of the deferred shares of Mondi plc is recognised in the legal reserve within equity in accordance with Section 733 of the 
Companies Act 2006.

Costs incremental and directly attributable to the issuance of new shares of Mondi plc are debited directly to the profit or loss account 
within equity in accordance with IAS 32. 

The Simplification accounting is identified as a critical accounting judgement in terms of IAS 1 due to the exceptional nature of the 
underlying transaction and the limited guidance available in IFRS, in particular:

ee whether the transaction is in scope of the merger relief in accordance with Section 612 of the Companies Act 2006, under which the 
share premium that would otherwise have resulted on the issue of Mondi plc shares to cancel the DLC structure are not classified as a 
share premium but as merger reserve, and

ee the presentation of the corresponding movements in equity, whether there should be separate gross entries reflecting the fair value 
of new Mondi plc shares issued to cancel the DLC structure (credit to merger reserve) and the fair value of the premium for the DLC 
structure cancelled (debit to merger reserve), or whether it is appropriate for these items to be reported net.

In the absence of any further guidance, management decided to report a net entry to merger reserve as a result of the shares issued to 
cancel the DLC structure, as management believes that this is a fair representation of the transaction.
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Notes to the Mondi plc parent company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

1 Accounting policies
Critical accounting judgements and significant accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial statements of Mondi plc includes the use of estimates and assumptions. Although the estimates used are 
based on management’s best information about current circumstances and future events and actions, actual results may differ from those 
estimates. The significant accounting estimates and critical accounting judgements in terms of IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, 
are:

Significant accounting estimates

ee Valuation of fixed asset investments – refer to note 5

Critical accounting judgements

ee Accounting for Simplification of corporate structure – as described in this note

2 Auditors’ remuneration
Disclosure of the audit fees payable to the auditors for the audit of Mondi plc’s financial statements is set out in note 4 of the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

3 Share-based payments
The share schemes and the underlying assumptions used to estimate the associated fair value charge are set out in note 22 of the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

4 Deferred tax
A deferred tax asset of €2 million (2018: €2 million) has not been recognised in relation to temporary differences regarding the share-
based payment arrangements. A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in relation to tax losses brought forward of €26 million 
(2018: €25 million) due to the low probability of future profit streams or gains against which these could be utilised.

5 Fixed asset investments
€ million 2019 2018

Unlisted

Shares at cost 3,721 2,938

The investments are in Mondi Investments Limited (incorporated in the UK), a wholly-owned subsidiary which acts as an investment holding 
company, and Mondi South Africa (Pty) Limited (previously Mondi Limited, incorporated in South Africa), a wholly-owned subsidiary which 
manages forestry operations and manufactures pulp, uncoated fine paper and containerboard. 

On 9 May 2019 the Group’s shareholders approved the Simplification of the corporate structure from a DLC structure into a single holding 
company structure under Mondi plc by way of a South African scheme of arrangement (the ‘Scheme’) proposed by the Mondi Limited 
board between Mondi Limited and the Mondi Limited ordinary shareholders. On 11 July 2019 the Scheme became unconditional and, 
with effect from 26 July 2019, Mondi plc became the holder of all the Mondi Limited ordinary shares while, by other related actions, the 
DLC arrangements were terminated. Pursuant to the Scheme, Mondi Limited shareholders received one new Mondi plc ordinary share in 
exchange for each Mondi Limited ordinary share held.
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Mondi plc measured the fair value of the investment in Mondi South Africa (Pty) Limited on the transaction date using an income approach 
and valuation multiples from comparable companies. The key assumptions in the income approach were:

ee cash flow forecasts which were derived from the budget most recently approved by the Board covering the period from the transaction 
date to 31 December 2022;

ee sales volumes, sales prices and variable input cost assumptions in the budget period were derived from a combination of economic 
forecasts, industry forecasts, internal management projections, historical performance, and announced industry capacity changes;

ee 12.9% post-tax discount rate was derived based on the weighted average cost of capital of Mondi South Africa (Pty) Limited;

ee zero growth rate was applied beyond the budget period into perpetuity; and 

ee capital expenditure forecasts were based on historical experience and include expenditure necessary to maintain the projected cash 
flows from operations at current operating levels.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes to the significant assumptions, while holding 
all other assumptions constant. Changes in the assumptions would have had the following effect on the carrying value of the fixed asset 
investment in Mondi South Africa (Pty) Limited at the transaction date and remains unchanged at 31 December 2019:

€ million Increase Decrease

Effect of 100 bps change in discount rate (28) 33

Effect of 5% change in sales prices 163 (163)

The carrying value of the investment in Mondi South Africa (Pty) Limited is subject to an annual impairment review and is sensitive to any 
adverse future changes in key assumptions as outlined in the sensitivity analyses above.

6 Total debtors: due within one year
Amounts held on deposit in a cash pool facility with a subsidiary of €29 million (2018: €nil) are included within debtors due within one year.

7 Total creditors: due within one year 
€nil (2018: €439 million) is owed in relation to a cash pool facility with a subsidiary.

8 Share capital
Full disclosure of the share capital of Mondi plc is set out in note 21 of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

9 Contingent liabilities
Mondi plc has issued financial guarantees in respect of the UK pension schemes of its subsidiaries, obligations incurred in the ordinary 
course of business and the borrowings of other Group undertakings. The likelihood of these financial guarantees being called is considered 
to be remote and, therefore, the estimated financial effect of issuance is €nil (2018: €nil). The fair value of these issued financial guarantees 
is deemed to be immaterial.

€ million 2019 2018

Pension scheme guarantees 79 79

Guarantees of obligations of subsidiaries of Mondi plc

- Incurred in the ordinary course of business 32 29

- In favour of banks and bondholders 2,890 2,826

At 31 December 3,001 2,934

The following subsidiaries have taken advantage of an exemption from audit under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006. As the 
ultimate parent, Mondi plc has provided a statutory guarantee for any outstanding liabilities of those subsidiaries. All subsidiaries 
undertakings have been included in the consolidation of the Group.

ee Mondi Glossop Ltd 

ee Mondi Packaging Limited 

ee Mondi Packaging UK Holdings Limited 

ee Mondi Scunthorpe Limited

ee Powerflute Group Holdings Limited 
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9 Contingent liabilities
Mondi plc is subject to certain legal proceedings, claims, complaints and investigations arising out of the ordinary course of business. 
Legal proceedings may include, but are not limited to, alleged breach of contract and alleged breach of environmental, competition, 
securities and health and safety laws. Mondi plc may not be insured fully, or at all, in respect of such risks. Mondi plc cannot predict the 
outcome of individual legal actions or claims or complaints or investigations. Mondi plc may settle litigation or regulatory proceedings prior 
to a final judgment or determination of liability. Mondi plc may do so to avoid the cost, management efforts or negative business, regulatory 
or reputational consequences of continuing to contest liability, even when it considers it has valid defences to liability. Mondi plc considers 
that no material loss to Mondi plc is expected to result from these legal proceedings, claims, complaints and investigations. Provision is 
made for all liabilities that are expected to materialise through legal and tax claims against Mondi plc.

10 Events occurring after 31 December 2019
In addition to the final ordinary dividend proposed for 2019, included in note 9 of the Group’s consolidated financial statements, there has 
been the following material reportable event since 31 December 2019:

ee In February 2020, Mondi plc entered into a €250 million debt facility maturing in August 2021.

11 List of subsidiaries and associated undertakings and other significant holdings as at 31 December 2019
All shares are held indirectly through a subsidiary or associated undertaking except where noted. Except where stated, the shares held are 
ordinary shares.

On 30 September 2019, the Group disposed its specialised extrusion solutions plant Mondi Belcoat N.V. in Duffel (Belgium).

Company Registered office Principal activities

% of  
shares  

held by 
Group

Austria
Mondi AG Marxergasse 4A, 1030 Vienna Holding, Corporate 100.00

Mondi Bags Austria 
GmbH

Bahnhofstrasse 3, 8740 
Zeltweg

Service, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Coating Zeltweg 
GmbH

Bahnhofstrasse 3, 8740 
Zeltweg

Production, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Consumer 
Packaging GmbH

Marxergasse 4A, 1030 Vienna Holding, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Corrugated 
Holding Österreich GmbH

Marxergasse 4A, 1030 Vienna Holding, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Corrugated 
Services GmbH

Marxergasse 4A, 1030 Vienna Service, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Engineered 
Materials GmbH

Marxergasse 4A, 1030 Vienna Holding, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Finance Europe 
GmbH1

Marxergasse 4A, 1030 Vienna Service, Corporate 100.00

Mondi Frantschach 
GmbH

Frantschach 5, 9413 St. 
Gertraud

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Grünburg GmbH Steyrtalstrasse 5, 4594 
Grünburg

Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Holdings Austria 
GmbH

Marxergasse 4A, 1030 Vienna Holding, Corporate 100.00

Mondi Industrial Bags 
GmbH

Marxergasse 4A, 1030 Vienna Holding, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Korneuburg  
GmbH

Stockerauer Strasse 110, 2100 
Korneuburg

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Neusiedler GmbH Theresienthalstrasse 50, 3363 
Ulmerfeld-Hausmening

Production, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

51.00

Mondi Oman Holding 
GmbH

Marxergasse 4A, 1030 Vienna Holding, Flexible 
Packaging

70.00

Mondi Paper Sales  
GmbH

Marxergasse 4A, 1030 Vienna Distribution, Corrugated 
Packaging, Flexible 
Packaging, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

100.00

Mondi Release Liner 
Austria GmbH

Waidhofnerstrasse 11, 3331 
Hilm

Production, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Styria GmbH Bahnhofstrasse 3, 8740 
Zeltweg

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Notes to the Mondi plc parent company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Company Registered office Principal activities

% of  
shares  

held by 
Group

Mondi Uncoated Fine & 
Kraft Paper GmbH

Marxergasse 4A, 1030 Vienna Holding, Corrugated 
Packaging, Flexible 
Packaging, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

100.00

Papierholz Austria GmbH Frantschach 5, 9413 St. 
Gertraud

Service, Flexible 
Packaging

25.00

Sulbit Handels GmbH Marxergasse 4A, 1030 Vienna Service, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Ybbstaler Zellstoff GmbH Theresienthalstrasse 50, 3363 
Ulmerfeld-Hausmening

Production, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

51.00

Belgium
Mondi Poperinge N.V. Nijverheidslaan 11, 8970 

Poperinge
Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Bulgaria
Mondi Stambolijski E.A.D 1 Zavodska Street, 

Stambolijski 4210, Plovdiv 
Region

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

China
Mondi (China) Film 
Technology Co., Ltd.

No 29 Xinggang Road, 
Taicang Port Development 
Zone

Production, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Trading (Beijing) 
Co., Ltd.

0912, Air China Plaza, Building 
1, No.36 Xiaoyun Road, 
Chaoyang, Beijing

Dormant, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Côte d’Ivoire
Mondi Abidjan S.A. Zone Industrielle de 

Yopougon 01, Abidjan, BP 
5676

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

50.00

Czech Republic
EURO WASTE a.s.2 Litoměřická 272, 41108 Štětí Service, Flexible 

Packaging
100.00

Labe Wood s.r.o. Litoměřická 272, 41108 Štětí Production, Flexible 
Packaging

24.99

Lignocel s.r.o Poupětova 3, 17000 Prague 7 In liquidation, Flexible 
Packaging

20.00

Mondi Bags Štětí a.s. Litoměřická 272, 41108 Štětí Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00
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Company Registered office Principal activities

% of  
shares  

held by 
Group

Mondi Bupak s.r.o. Papírenská 41, 37052 České 
Budějovice

Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Coating Štětí a.s. Litoměřická 272, 41108 Štětí Production, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Štětí a.s. Litoměřická 272, 41108 Štětí Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Štětí White Paper 
s.r.o

Litoměřická 272, 41108 Štětí Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Roto a.s. Litoměřická 272, 41108 Štětí Dormant, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Wood & Paper a.s. Hlina 57/18, 66491 Brno Service, Flexible 
Packaging

46.50

Egypt
Mondi Cairo for 
Packaging Material S.A.E.

Plots No. 6 and No. 7 in 
the Northern Expansion 
Area, Industrial Zone, 6th of 
October, Giza

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Suez Bags Company 
(S.A.E.)3

30 Maadi Road, Katameya, 
Kilo 138, Cairo

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

98.34

Finland
Harvestia Oy Selluntie 142, 70420 Kuopio Service, Corrugated 

Packaging
94.70

Mondi Finland Services 
Oy

Peltotie 20, 28400 Ulvila Holding, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Powerflute Oy Selluntie 142, 70420 Kuopio Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

France
Mondi Gournay Sarl 5, rue Vernet, 75008 Paris Service, Flexible 

Packaging
100.00

Mondi Lembacel SAS 11 Rue de Reims, 51490 
Bétheniville

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Paper Sales  
France Sarl

5, rue Vernet, 75008 Paris Distribution, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Germany
Mondi Ascania GmbH Daimlerstrasse 8, 06449 

Aschersleben
Production, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Bad Rappenau 
GmbH

Wilhelm-Hauff-Strasse 41, 
74906 Bad Rappenau

Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Consumer 
Packaging International 
GmbH

Jöbkesweg 11, 48599 Gronau Holding, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Eschenbach 
GmbH

Am Stadtwald 14, 92676 
Eschenbach

Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Gronau GmbH Jöbkesweg 11, 48599 Gronau Production, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Halle GmbH Wielandstrasse 2, 33790  
Halle

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Hammelburg 
GmbH

Thüringenstrasse 1-3, 97762 
Hammelburg

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Holding 
Deutschland GmbH

Jöbkesweg 11, 48599 Gronau Holding, Corporate 100.00

Mondi Inncoat GmbH Angererstrasse 25, 83064 
Raubling

Production, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Jülich GmbH Rathausstrasse 29, 52428 
Jülich

Production, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Lindlar GmbH Wielandstrasse 2, 33790  
Halle

Dormant, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Paper Sales 
Deutschland GmbH

Oberbaumbrücke 1, 20457 
Hamburg

Distribution, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Company Registered office Principal activities

% of  
shares  

held by 
Group

Mondi Sendenhorst 
GmbH

Thüringenstrasse 1-3, 97762 
Hammelburg

Distribution, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Trebsen GmbH Erich-Hausmann-Strasse 1, 
04687 Trebsen

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Wellpappe 
Ansbach GmbH

Robert-Bosch-Strasse 3, 
91522 Ansbach

Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

wood2M GmbH Hauptstrasse 16, 07366 
Blankenstein

Service, Corporate 50.00

Greece
Mondi Thessaloniki A.E. Sindos Industrial Zone –  

Block 18, 57022 Thessaloniki
Distribution, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Hungary
Mondi Bags Hungária Kft. Tünde u. 2, 4400 Nyíregyháza Production, Flexible 

Packaging
100.00

Mondi Békéscsaba Kft. Tevan Andor u. 2, 5600 
Békéscsaba

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Szada Kft. Vasút u. 13, 2111 Szada Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Iraq
Mondi Kaso Iraq Industrial 
Bags Ltd.

Takya, Bazian, Sulaimaniyah Production, Flexible 
Packaging

34.55

Italy
Mondi Gradisac S.r.l. Via dell´Industria 11, 34072 

Gradisca d´Isonzo, Gorizia
Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Italia S.r.l. Via Balilla 32, 24058 Romano 
di Lombardia, Bergamo

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Padova S.r.l. Via Mazzini 21, 35010 San 
Pietro in Gu, Padua

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Paper Sales Italia 
S.r.l.

Via Fara Gustavo 35, 20124 
Milano

Distribution, Corrugated 
Packaging, Flexible 
Packaging, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

100.00

Mondi Silicart S.r.l. Via Zanchetta 27, 35010 San 
Pietro in Gu, Padua

Dormant, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Tolentino S.r.l. Via Giovanni Falcone 1, 62029 
Tolentino, Macerata

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

NATRO TECH S.r.l. Via Balilla 32, 24058 Romano 
di Lombardia, Bergamo

Service, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Powerflute Italia S.r.l. Via Giacomo Matteotti 2, 
21013 Gallarate

Distribution, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Japan
Mondi Tokyo KK 7th floor 14-5, Akasaka 

2-chrome, Minato-ku, Tokyo
Service, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Jordan
Jordan Paper Sacks 
Co. Ltd.

Al Salt, Industrial Area, P.O. 
Box 119, 19374, Balqa

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

67.74

Republic of Korea
Krauzen Co., Ltd. 1420, Keumkang-Penterium 

IT tower, 282 Hakeui-ro, 
Dongang-gu, Anyang-si, 
Gyunggi-do

Service, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi KSP Co., Ltd. 48-29, 439 Hongandaero, 
Dongang-gu, Anyang-si, 
Gyunggi-do

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

95.00

Lebanon
Mondi Lebanon SAL 7th Floor, Bloc C, Kassis 

Building, Antelias Highway, 
Antelias

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

66.00

Mondi Group 
Integrated report and financial statements 2019

219

O
verview

Strategic report
G

overnance
Financial statem

ents



11 List of subsidiaries and associated undertakings and other significant holdings as at 31 December 2019

Company Registered office Principal activities

% of  
shares  

held by 
Group

Luxembourg
Mondi Packaging S.à r.l. 1, rue Hildegard von Bingen, 

1282
Holding, Corporate 100.00

Mondi S.à r.l. 1, rue Hildegard von Bingen, 
1282

Holding, Corporate 100.00

Mondi Services S.à r.l. 1, rue Hildegard von Bingen, 
1282

Holding, Corporate 100.00

Malaysia
Mondi Kuala Lumpur 
Sdn. Bhd.

Lot Nos.PT 5034 & 5036, 
Jalan Teluk Datuk 28/40, 
40000 Shah Alam, Selangor

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

62.00

Mexico
Caja de Ahorro de 
Personal de Mondi 
Mexico Servicios A.C.

Av. San Nicolás No. 249, 
Colonia Cuauhtémoc, San 
Nicolás de los Garza, Nuevo 
Léon, 66450

Service, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Mexico S. de R.L. 
de C.V.

Av. San Nicolás No. 249, 
Colonia Cuauhtémoc, San 
Nicolás de los Garza, Nuevo 
Léon, 66450

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Mexico Servicios 
S. de R.L. de C.V.

Av. San Nicolás No. 249, 
Colonia Cuauhtémoc, San 
Nicolás de los Garza, Nuevo 
Léon, 66450

Service, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Morocco
Ensachage Moderne Sarl Rue Boukraa N1, Quartier 

Industriel Dokkarat, Fes
Dormant, Flexible 
Packaging

80.64

Pap Sac Maghreb SA Km 16, Route d´El Jadida, 
Casablanca

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

80.64

Netherlands
Mondi Coating B.V. Fort Willemweg 1, 6219 PA 

Maastricht
Holding, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Consumer Bags & 
Films B.V.

Fort Willemweg 1, 6219 PA 
Maastricht

Holding, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Consumer Bags & 
Films Benelux B.V.

Fort Willemweg 1, 6219 PA 
Maastricht

Distribution, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Corrugated B.V. Fort Willemweg 1, 6219 PA 
Maastricht

Holding, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Corrugated  
Poland B.V.

Fort Willemweg 1, 6219 PA 
Maastricht

Holding, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Heerlen B.V. Imstenraderweg 15, 6422 PM 
Heerlen

Production, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Industrial Bags B.V. Fort Willemweg 1, 6219 PA 
Maastricht

Holding, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi International 
Holdings B.V.

Fort Willemweg 1, 6219 PA 
Maastricht

Holding, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Maastricht N.V. Fort Willemweg 1, 6219 PA 
Maastricht

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi MENA B.V. Fort Willemweg 1, 6219 PA 
Maastricht

Holding, Flexible 
Packaging

70.00

Mondi Packaging Paper 
B.V.

Fort Willemweg 1, 6219 PA 
Maastricht

Holding, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Paper Sales 
Netherlands B.V.

Bruynvisweg 14, 1531 AZ 
Wormer

Distribution, Corrugated 
Packaging, Flexible 
Packaging, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

100.00

Mondi SCP Holdings B.V. Fort Willemweg 1, 6219 PA 
Maastricht

Holding, Uncoated Fine 
Paper

100.00

Company Registered office Principal activities

% of  
shares  

held by 
Group

Norway
Mondi Moss AS Rådmann Sirasvei 1, 1712 

Grålum
Distribution, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Oman
Mondi Oman LLC P.O. Box 20, 124, Muscat 

Governorate, As Seeb, Al 
Rusayl

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

49.00

Poland
Agromasa Sp. z o.o. ul. Bydgoska 1, 86-100  

Świecie
Service, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Fredonia Investments 
Sp. z o.o.

ul. Bukowa 21, 87-148 
Łysomice

Service, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Bags Mielec Sp. 
z o.o.

ul. Wojska Polskiego 12,  
39-300 Mielec

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Bags Świecie Sp. 
z o.o.

ul. Bydgoska 12, 86-100 
Świecie

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi BZWP Sp. z o.o. ul. Zamenhofa 36, 57-500 
Bystrzyca Kłodzka

Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Corrugated 
Świecie Sp. z o.o.

ul. Bydgoska 1, 86-100  
Świecie

Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Dorohusk  
Sp. z o.o.

Brzezno 1, 22-174 Brzezno Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Kutno Sp. z o.o. ul. Żołnierska 1, 99-300  
Kutno

In liquidation, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Poznań Sp. z o.o. ul. Wyzwolenia 34/36,  
62-070 Dopiewo

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Recykling Polska 
Sp. z o.o.

ul. Bydgoska 1, 86-100  
Świecie

Service, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Simet Sp. z o.o. Grabonóg 77, 63-820 Piaski Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Solec Sp. z o.o. Solec, 05-532 Baniocha Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Świecie S.A. ul. Bydgoska 1, 86-100  
Świecie

Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Szczecin Sp. z o.o. ul. Sloneczna 20, 72-123 
Kliniska Wielkie

Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Warszawa Sp. 
z o.o.

ul. Tarczyńska 98, 96-320 
Mszczonów

Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Wierzbica Sp. 
z o.o.

Kolonia Rzecków 76, 26-680 
Wierzbica

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Świecie Rail Sp. z o.o. ul. Bydgoska 1, 86-100  
Świecie

Service, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Świecie Recykling Sp. 
z o.o.

ul. Bydgoska 1/417, 86-100 
Świecie

Service, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Romania
Mondi Bucharest S.R.L. Filderman Wilhelm Nr. 4/3/19, 

Sector 3, 030353 Bucharest
Distribution, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Russia
LCC Mondi Aramil 25 Klubnaya Street, 62400 

Aramil, Sverdlovskii Region
Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

LLC Mondi Lebedyan Lva Tolstogo, Building 80, 
Office 52, 399612 Lebedyan, 
Lipetsk Region

Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

LLC Mondi Pereslavl Mendeleeva sq. 2, Building 55, 
152025 Pereslavl-Zalesski

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

LLC Mondi Syktyvkar 
Energy Company

pr. Bumazhnikov 2, 167026 
Syktyvkar, Republic of Komi

Service, Uncoated Fine 
Paper

100.00

Notes to the Mondi plc parent company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Company Registered office Principal activities

% of  
shares  

held by 
Group

OJSC Mondi Syktyvkar4 pr. Bumazhnikov 2, 167026 
Syktyvkar, Republic of Komi

Production, Corrugated 
Packaging, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

100.00

OOO Mondi Sales CIS 2nd Brestskaya str. 8 Floor 13, 
123047 Moscow

Distribution, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

100.00

Serbia
Mondi Šabac d.o.o.  
Šabac

Nova 9, 15000 Šabac Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Singapore
Mondi Packaging Paper 
Sales Asia Pte. Limited

3 Anson Road 27-01, 
Springleaf Tower, 079909

Distribution, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Slovakia
East Paper, spol. s.r.o. Rastislavova 98, 04346  

Kosice
Service, Corrugated 
Packaging

26.01

Mondi SCP, a.s. Tatranská cesta 3, 03417 
Ružomberok

Production, Flexible 
Packaging, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

51.00

Obaly SOLO, s.r.o Tatranská cesta 3, 03417 
Ružomberok

Production, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

51.00

RECOPAP, s.r.o. Bratislavska 18, 90051 Zohor Service, Corrugated 
Packaging

25.50

Slovpaper Recycling s.r.o. Tatranská cesta 3, 03417 
Ružomberok

Service, Corrugated 
Packaging

51.00

SLOVWOOD 
Ružomberok a.s.

Tatranská cesta 3, 03417 
Ružomberok

Distribution, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

33.66

STRÁŽNA SLUŽBA  
VLA-STA s.r.o.

Tatranská cesta 3, 03417 
Ružomberok

Distribution, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

51.00

South Africa
Arctic Sun Trading 17 
Proprietary Limited

380 Old Howick Road, Mondi 
House, Hilton, 3245

Distribution, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

50.00

Bongani Development 
Close Corporation

4th Floor, No 3 Melrose 
Boulevard, Melrose Arch, 2196

Service, Uncoated Fine 
Paper

100.00

Mondi Africa Holdings 
Proprietary Limited

4th Floor, No 3 Melrose 
Boulevard, Melrose Arch, 2196

Dormant, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

100.00

Mondi Forests Partners 
Programme Proprietary 
Limited

380 Old Howick Road, Mondi 
House, Hilton, 3245

Service, Uncoated Fine 
Paper

100.00

Mondi Newsprint 
Proprietary Limited

Merebank Mill, Travencore 
Drive, Merebank, 4052

In liquidation, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

100.00

Mondi Sacherie Moderne 
Holdings Proprietary 
Limited

Merebank Mill, Travencore 
Drive, Merebank, 4052

Holding, Uncoated Fine 
Paper

100.00

Mondi South Africa (Pty) 
Limited5

4th Floor, No 3 Melrose 
Boulevard, Melrose Arch, 2196

Production, Corrugated 
Packaging, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

100.00

Mondi Timber (Wood 
Products) Proprietary 
Limited

Merebank Mill, Travencore 
Drive, Merebank, 4052

Holding, Uncoated Fine 
Paper

100.00

Mondi Zimele Job Funds 
Proprietary Limited

380 Old Howick Road,  
Mondi House, Hilton, 3245

Service, Uncoated Fine 
Paper

100.00

Mondi Zimele Proprietary 
Limited

380 Old Howick Road,  
Mondi House, Hilton, 3245

Service, Uncoated Fine 
Paper

100.00

MZ Business Services 
Proprietary Limited

128 Lansdowne Road,  
Jacobs, 4052

In liquidation, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

100.00

MZ Technical Services 
Proprietary Limited

380 Old Howick Road,  
Mondi House, Hilton, 3245

In liquidation, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

56.00

Professional Starch 
Proprietary Limited

380 Old Howick Road,  
Mondi House, Hilton, 3245

In liquidation, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

100.00

Siyaqhubeka Forests 
Proprietary Limited

4th Floor, No 3 Melrose 
Boulevard, Melrose Arch, 2196

Service, Uncoated Fine 
Paper

51.00

Company Registered office Principal activities

% of  
shares  

held by 
Group

Zimshelf Eight Investment 
Holdings Proprietary 
Limited

4th Floor, No 3 Melrose 
Boulevard, Melrose Arch, 2196

In liquidation, Uncoated 
Fine Paper

100.00

Spain
Mondi Bags Ibérica S.L. Autovía A-2, Km 582, 08630 

Abrera
Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Ibersac S.L. Calle La Perenal 4, 48840 
Güeñes, Bizcaia

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Sales Ibérica S.L. Calle Joaquin Costa 36 2a, 
28002 Madrid

Distribution, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Powerflute International 
S.L.

Josep Irla I Bosch, 1-3 P.6 
PTA.2, 08034 Barcelona

Distribution, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Sweden
Mondi Dynäs AB 87381 Väja Production, Flexible 

Packaging
100.00

Mondi Örebro AB Papersbruksallen 3A,  
Box 926, 70130 Örebro

Production, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Switzerland
Dipeco AG Bruehlstrasse 5, 4800 

Zofingen
Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Thailand
Mondi Bangkok 
Company, Limited

789/10 Moo 9 Bang Pla Sub-
District, Bang Phli District, 
Bangkok, Samut Prakan 
Province

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Coating (Thailand) 
Co. Ltd.

Nr 888/100-101 Soi 
Yingcharoen Moo 19, 
Bangplee-Tamru Road, 
Bangpleeyai, Bangplee, 
Samutprakam 10540

Service, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi TSP Company 
Limited

110, Moo 3, Nong Chumphon 
Nuea, Khao Yoi District, 
Petchaburi Province, 76140

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

97.55

Trinidad and Tobago
TCL Packaging Limited Southern Main Road, Claxton 

Bay
Production, Flexible 
Packaging

20.00

Turkey
Mondi Istanbul Ambalaj 
Limited Şti.

No. 12A Türkgücü OSB Mah. 
Yilmaz Alpaslan Caddesi 
Corlu, Tekirdag, 59870

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Kale Nobel 
Ambalaj Sanayi Ve  
Ticaret A.Ş.

Sevketiye Cobancesme 
Kavsagi, A2 Blok, No. 229/230 
Yeşilköy, Bakirköy/Istanbul

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Tire Kutsan Kagit 
Ve Ambalaj Sanayi A.Ş.

Toki Mahallesi, Hasan Tahsin 
Caddesi, No. 28, Tire, Izmir 
35900

Production, Corrugated 
Packaging

79.15

Ukraine
Mondi Packaging Bags 
Ukraine LLC

Fabrychna Street 20, 
Zhydachiv, Lviv Region, 81700

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

UK
Frantschach Holdings UK 
Limited

Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Dormant, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Hypac Limited Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Dormant, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Medway Packaging 
Pension Trustee Limited

Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Service, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00
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Company Registered office Principal activities

% of  
shares  

held by 
Group

Mondi Aberdeen Limited Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Distribution, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Consumer Goods 
Packaging UK Ltd

Parkway, Deeside Industrial 
Park, Deeside, Clwyd, Wales, 
CH5 2NS

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Finance plc Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Service, Corporate 100.00

Mondi German 
Investments Limited

Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Holding, Corporate 100.00

Mondi Glossop Ltd Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Dormant, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Holcombe Limited Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Dormant, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Investments 
Limited5

Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Holding, Corporate 100.00

Mondi Packaging (Delta) 
Limited

Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Dormant, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Packaging Limited Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Dormant, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Packaging UK 
Holdings Limited

Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Dormant, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Pension Trustee 
Limited5

Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Service, Corporate 100.00

Mondi Scunthorpe 
Limited4

Parkway, Deeside Industrial 
Park, Deeside, Clwyd, Wales, 
CH5 2NS

Dormant, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Services (UK) 
Limited

Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Service, Corporate 100.00

Mondi UK Consumer 
Packaging Holding 1 Ltd

Parkway, Deeside Industrial 
Park, Deeside, Clwyd, Wales, 
CH5 2NS

Holding, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi UK Consumer 
Packaging Holding 2 Ltd

Parkway, Deeside Industrial 
Park, Deeside, Clwyd, Wales, 
CH5 2NS

Holding, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Powerflute Group 
Holdings Limited

Building 1, 1st Floor, 
Aviator Park, Station Road, 
Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2PG

Dormant, Corrugated 
Packaging

100.00

Company Registered office Principal activities

% of  
shares  

held by 
Group

USA
Mondi Akrosil, LLC 251 Little Falls Drive, 

Wilmington DE 19808
Production, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Bags USA, LLC 251 Little Falls Drive, 
Wilmington DE 19808

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Jackson LLC 251 Little Falls Drive, 
Wilmington DE 19808

Production, Flexible 
Packaging, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Minneapolis, Inc. 220 South Sixth Street, Suite 
2200, Minneapolis 55402

Service, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Mondi Romeoville LLC 251 Little Falls Drive, 
Wilmington DE 19808

Production, Flexible 
Packaging

100.00

Mondi Tekkote LLC 251 Little Falls Drive, 
Wilmington DE 19808

Production, Engineered 
Materials

100.00

Notes:

1 	% of shares held by the Group in 2018: nil

2	 % of shares held by the Group in 2018: 33.33

3	 % of shares held by the Group in 2018: 96.00

4	 These companies have ordinary and preference shares

5 	These companies are held directly

Notes to the Mondi plc parent company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Production statistics
2019 2018

Containerboard ’000 tonnes 2,524 2,530

Kraft paper ’000 tonnes 1,162 1,118

Uncoated fine paper ’000 tonnes 1,526 1,649

Newsprint ’000 tonnes 201 207

Pulp ’000 tonnes 4,387 4,330

Internal consumption ’000 tonnes 3,883 3,844

Market pulp ’000 tonnes 504 486

Corrugated solutions million m2 1,653 1,635

Paper bags million units 5,228 5,255

Consumer flexibles million m2 2,457 2,711

Engineered materials million m2 5,506 5,797

Exchange rates 
Average Closing

versus euro 2019 2018 2019 2018

South African rand 16.18 15.62 15.78 16.46

Czech koruna 25.67 25.65 25.41 25.72

Polish zloty 4.30 4.26 4.26 4.30

Pound sterling 0.88 0.88 0.85 0.89

Russian rouble 72.45 74.04 69.96 79.72

Turkish lira 6.36 5.71 6.68 6.06

US dollar 1.12 1.18 1.12 1.15
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Financial performance 2010–2019
Consolidated income statement

€ million, unless otherwise stated 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Group revenue 7,268 7,481 7,096 6,662 6,819 6,402 6,476 5,790 5,739 5,610

Underlying EBITDA 1,658 1,764 1,482 1,366 1,325 1,126 1,068 927 964 798

Corrugated Packaging (restated1) 583 707 477 408 427 381 341 249 284 211

Flexible Packaging (restated1) 543 461 442 380 365 317 302 276 294 198

Engineered Materials (restated1) 122 112 136 131 119 111 96 51 34 39

Uncoated Fine Paper 444 516 464 481 448 349 359 383 394 379

Corporate (34) (32) (37) (34) (34) (32) (30) (32) (32) (32)

Discontinued and disposed 
operations — — — — — — — — (10) 3

Underlying operating profit 1,223 1,318 1,029 981 957 767 699 574 622 458

Special items (16) (126) (61) (38) (57) (52) (87) (91) (55) (21)

Net finance costs (excluding 
financing special item) (104) (88) (85) (101) (105) (97) (115) (110) (111) (106)

Underlying earnings 829 916 721 667 647 519 460 334 340 206

Basic earnings 812 824 668 638 600 471 386 242 330 224

Basic underlying EPS (euro cents) 171.1 189.1 148.9 137.8 133.7 107.3 95.0 69.2 68.1 40.6

Basic EPS (euro cents) 167.6 170.1 137.9 131.8 124.0 97.4 79.8 50.1 57.5 37.8

Total ordinary dividend per share 
paid and proposed (euro cents)2 83.0 76.0 62.0 57.0 52.0 42.0 36.0 28.0 26.0 20.0

Notes:

1	 Comparative information for 2010 to 2018 has been restated to reflect the changes from the reorganisation of the business units as described in note 2

2	 A special dividend of 100 euro cents was paid in 2018 in addition to the 2017 ordinary dividend

Significant ratios

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Underlying EBITDA growth (%) (6.0) 19.0 8.5 3.1 17.7 5.4 15.2 (3.8) 20.8 23.7

Underlying EBITDA margin (%) 22.8 23.6 20.9 20.5 19.4 17.6 16.5 16.0 16.8 14.2

Underlying operating profit margin (%) 16.8 17.6 14.5 14.7 14.0 12.0 10.8 9.9 10.8 8.2

ROCE (%) 19.8 23.6 19.3 20.3 20.5 17.2 15.3 13.6 15.0 12.3

Net debt to 12-month trailing 
underlying EBITDA (times) 1.3 1.3 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.4 1.5 2.0 0.9 1.7

Ordinary dividend cover (times) 2.1 2.5 2.4 2.4 2.6 2.6 2.6 2.5 2.6 2.0

PE Ratio 12.2 9.6 14.6 14.2 13.5 12.6 13.2 11.9 8.0 14.8

Mondi plc (LSE) – Share price at end 
of year (GBP pence per share) 1,773 1,634 1,931 1,666 1,334 1,050 1,046 670 455 514

Mondi plc (JSE) – Share price at end 
of year (ZAR per share) 326 304 319 279 309 190 181 91 57 54

Market capitalisation (€ million)1 10,165 8,901 10,523 9,457 8,803 6,563 6,081 4,001 2,655 3,097

Note:

1	 The number of shares of Mondi plc increased in 2019 as a result of the Simplification of the corporate structure as described in note 21 with the effect that the total number 
of shares in issue was the same as the total in issue for the Group prior to Simplification

Group financial record
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Significant cash flows

€ million 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Cash generated from operations 1,635 1,654 1,363 1,401 1,279 1,033 1,036 849 917 778

Working capital cash flows 35 (117) (122) 68 9 (87) (27) (83) (68) (121)

Income tax paid (248) (248) (151) (173) (160) (106) (126) (109) (85) (47)

Capital expenditure cash outflows (757) (709) (611) (465) (595) (562) (405) (294) (263) (394)

Interest paid (96) (73) (97) (82) (93) (125) (124) (92) (106) (117)

Ordinary dividends paid to 
shareholders1 (396) (309) (273) (274) (209) (193) (138) (128) (126) (54)

Note:

1	 A special dividend of €484 million was paid in 2018 in addition to the 2017 ordinary dividend

Consolidated statement of financial position

€ million 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Property, plant and equipment 4,800 4,340 4,128 3,788 3,554 3,432 3,428 3,709 3,377 3,976

Goodwill 948 942 698 681 590 545 550 561 202 274

Working capital 952 972 899 799 794 811 711 764 575 660

Other assets 620 540 530 532 422 434 429 503 408 466

Other liabilities (728) (749) (716) (721) (675) (715) (653) (789) (696) (788)

Net assets excluding net debt 6,592 6,045 5,539 5,079 4,685 4,507 4,465 4,748 3,866 4,588

Equity 4,015 3,485 3,683 3,392 2,905 2,628 2,591 2,572 2,586 2,763

Non-controlling interests in equity 370 340 324 304 282 266 255 301 449 461

Net debt1 2,207 2,220 1,532 1,383 1,498 1,613 1,619 1,875 831 1,364

Capital employed 6,592 6,045 5,539 5,079 4,685 4,507 4,465 4,748 3,866 4,588

Note:

1	 Net debt prior to 2012 does not include the effect of net debt-related derivatives
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Additional information for Mondi plc shareholders

The disclosures below form part of the Directors’ report on pages 144 and 145 of this report. 

Introduction
Set out below is a summary of certain provisions of Mondi plc’s articles of association (Articles) and applicable English law concerning 
companies (the Companies Act). This is a summary only and the relevant provisions of the Articles or the Companies Act should be 
consulted if further information is required. On 26 July 2019, Mondi completed a simplification of its corporate structure, pursuant to which 
Mondi plc adopted new articles of association and cancelled all shares issued under the previous dual listed company structure. 

Share capital 
Mondi plc’s issued share capital as at 31 December 2019 comprised 485,553,780 ordinary shares of 20 euro cents each (the Ordinary 
Shares) representing 100% of the total share capital.

The shares are in registered form.

Purchase of own shares
Subject to the provisions of the Articles and the Companies Act, Mondi plc may purchase, or may enter into a contract under which it will 
or may purchase, any of its own shares of any class, including any redeemable shares.

Ordinary Shares

Dividends and distributions

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, Mondi plc may by ordinary resolution from time to time declare dividends not exceeding 
the amount recommended by the Board. The Board may pay interim dividends whenever the financial position of Mondi plc, in the opinion 
of the Board, justifies such payment.

The Board may withhold payment of all or any part of any dividends or other monies payable in respect of Mondi plc’s shares from a person 
with a 0.25% or more interest in nominal value of the issued shares, if such a person has been served with a notice after failure to provide 
Mondi plc with information concerning interest in those shares required to be provided under the Companies Act.

Voting rights

Subject to any special rights or restrictions attaching to any class of shares, at a general meeting, every member present in person has, 
upon a show of hands, one vote. Every duly appointed proxy has, upon a show of hands, one vote unless the proxy is appointed by more 
than one member, in which case the proxy has one vote for and one vote against if (i) the proxy has been instructed by one or more 
members to vote for the resolution and by one or more members to vote against the resolution or (ii) the proxy has been instructed by one 
or more members to vote either for or against the resolution and by one or more members to use their discretion as to how to vote. On a 
poll every member who is present in person or by proxy has one vote for every fully paid share of which they are the holder. In the case of 
joint holders of a share, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote whether in person or by proxy shall be accepted to the exclusion of the 
votes of the other joint holders and for this purpose seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the register 
of members in respect of the shares. Under the Companies Act, members are entitled to appoint a proxy, who need not be a member 
of Mondi plc, to exercise all or any of their rights to attend and to speak and vote on their behalf at a general meeting or class meeting. 
A member may appoint more than one proxy in relation to a general meeting or class meeting provided that each proxy is appointed to 
exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by that member. A proxy is not entitled to delegate the proxy’s authority to 
act on behalf of a member to another person. A member that is a corporation may appoint one or more individuals to act on its behalf at a 
general meeting or class meeting as a corporate representative. 

Restrictions on voting

No member shall be entitled to vote either in person or by proxy at any general meeting or class meeting in respect of any shares held by 
him if any call or other sum then payable by him in respect of that share remains unpaid. In addition no member shall be entitled to vote 
if he has been served with a notice after failure to provide Mondi plc with information concerning interests in those shares required to be 
provided under the Companies Act. 

Deadlines for exercising voting rights

Votes are exercisable at a general meeting of Mondi plc in respect of which the business being voted upon is being heard. Votes may 
be exercised in person, by proxy, or in relation to corporate members, by corporate representatives. The Articles provide a deadline for 
submission of proxy forms of not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or adjourned meeting.
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Variation of rights

Subject to the Companies Act, the Articles specify that rights attached to any class of shares may be varied with the written consent of 
the holders of not less than three-quarters in nominal value of the issued shares of that class, or with the sanction of a special resolution 
passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of those shares. At every such separate general meeting the quorum shall be two 
persons holding or representing by proxy at least one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of the class (calculated excluding any 
shares held as treasury shares). The rights conferred upon the holders of any shares shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided in the 
rights attaching to those shares, be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking pari passu with them.

Notwithstanding the above, the relevant plan rules provide that any shares held by the trustee of the Mondi plc Share Incentive Plan from 
time to time will not be voted. 

Transfer of shares

All transfers of shares which are in certificated form may be effected by transfer in writing in any usual or common form or in any other 
form acceptable to the directors. The instrument of transfer shall be signed by or on behalf of the transferor and (except in the case of 
fully-paid shares) by or on behalf of the transferee and shall specify the name of the transferor, the name of the transferee and the number 
of shares being transferred. Transfers of shares which are in uncertificated form are effected by means of the CREST system.

The directors may also refuse to register an allotment or transfer of shares (whether fully paid or not) in favour of more than four persons 
jointly. If the directors refuse to register an allotment or transfer they shall, within 30 days after the date on which the letter of allotment or 
transfer was lodged with Mondi plc, send to the allottee or transferee a notice of the refusal.

The directors may decline to register any instrument of transfer unless: (i) the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of 
share, (ii) when submitted for registration is accompanied by the relevant share certificates and such other evidence as the directors may 
reasonably require and (iii) it is fully paid.

Subject to the Companies Act and regulations and applicable CREST rules, the directors may determine that any class of shares may 
be held in uncertificated form and that title to such shares may be transferred by means of the CREST system or that shares of any class 
should cease to be so held and transferred.

A shareholder does not need to obtain the approval of Mondi plc, or of other shareholders of shares in Mondi plc, for a transfer of shares to 
take place.

Notwithstanding the above, some of the Mondi plc employee share plans include restrictions on transfer of shares while the shares are 
subject to such plan.

Directors

Appointment and replacement of directors

Directors shall be no less than four and no more than 20 in number. A director is not required to hold any shares of Mondi plc by way of 
qualification. Mondi plc may by special resolution increase or reduce the maximum or minimum number of directors. Each director shall 
retire at the Annual General Meeting held in the third calendar year following the year in which the director was elected or last re-elected 
by Mondi plc, or at such earlier Annual General Meeting as the directors resolve. A retiring director shall be eligible for re-election. 

The Board may appoint any person to be a director (so long as the total number of directors does not exceed the limit prescribed in the 
Articles). Any such director shall hold office only until the next Annual General Meeting (or if the notice of the next Annual General Meeting 
has already been sent at the time of such person’s appointment, the Annual General Meeting following that one) and shall then be eligible 
for re-election.

Powers of the directors

Subject to the Articles, the Companies Act and any directions given by special resolution, the business of Mondi plc will be managed by 
the Board who may exercise all the powers of Mondi plc.

The Board may exercise all the powers of Mondi plc to borrow money and to mortgage or charge any of its undertaking, property and 
uncalled capital and to issue debentures and other securities, whether outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation of 
Mondi plc or of any third party.

Significant agreements: change of control

All of Mondi plc’s employee share plans contain provisions relating to a change of control. Outstanding awards and options would normally 
vest and become exercisable on a change of control, subject to the satisfaction of any performance conditions at that time.

Amendment of the Articles
Any amendments to the Articles may be made in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act by way of special resolution. 
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Shareholder information

Mondi plc is a company registered in the UK. It has a premium listing on the London Stock Exchange and a secondary listing on the 
JSE Limited.

Financial calendar

7 May 2020 2020 Annual General Meeting

7 May 2020 Trading update

14 May 2020 Payment date for 2019 final ordinary dividend

6 August 2020 2020 half-yearly results announcement

September 2020 2020 interim ordinary dividend payment

15 October 2020 Trading update

Analysis of shareholders
As at 31 December 2019 Mondi plc had 485,553,780 ordinary shares in issue, of which 152,963,432 were held on the South African 
branch register.

By size of holding
Number of shareholders % of shareholders Size of shareholding Number of shares % of shares

2,022 51.91 1 – 500 425,127 0.09

469 12.04 501 – 1000 337,896 0.07

554 14.22 1,001 – 5,000 1,306,440 0.27

449 11.53 5,001 – 50,000 8,532,198 1.76

348 8.94 50,001 – 1,000,000 91,781,963 18.90

53 1.36 1,000,001 – highest 383,170,156 78.91

3,895 100.00  485,553,780 100.00

Managing your shares

Registrars

To manage your shares or if you have any queries, please contact the relevant Registrar:

Shares held on the UK register Shares held on the South African branch register

Registrar Link Asset Services Link Market Services South Africa Proprietary Limited 
(Link Market Services)

Postal address The Registry 
34 Beckenham Road 
Beckenham 
Kent 
BR3 4TU 
UK

PO Box 4844 
Johannesburg, 2000 
South Africa

Helpline number 0371 664 0300 
(calls are charged at the standard geographic rate and 
will vary by provider; lines are open Monday to Friday 
between 9:00am to 5:30pm excluding public holidays in 
England and Wales)

+44 371 664 0300 (if calling from outside the UK; calls 
will be charged at the applicable international rate)

011 713 0800 
(if calling from South Africa)

+27 11 713 0800 
(if calling from outside South Africa)

Email enquiries@linkgroup.co.uk info@linkmarketservices.co.za

Online www.signalshares.com Not available 
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Sign up to email communications 

Many of our shareholders have chosen to receive shareholder information electronically rather than by post. Benefits include faster 
notification of shareholder information, reduced costs and being more environmentally friendly.

Shareholders on the UK register can sign up to email communications by contacting Link Asset Services or via their online portal, 
Signal Shares.

Shareholders on the South African branch register holding their shares in certificated form can sign up to email communications by 
contacting Link Market Services or by emailing ecomms@linkmarketservices.co.za. Shareholders on the South African branch register with 
dematerialised shares should contact their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker.

You will be notified by email each time new financial reports, notices of shareholder meetings and other shareholder communications are 
published on our website at: www.mondigroup.com.

Manage your shares online

Shareholders on the UK register can sign up to Signal Shares, a free secure online site provided by Link Asset Services, where you can 
manage your shareholding quickly and easily. You can:

ee View your holding and get an indicative valuation ee Make dividend payment choices

ee Change your address ee Buy and sell shares and access stock market news and information

ee Arrange to have dividends paid into your bank account ee Register your proxy voting instruction

ee Request to receive shareholder communications by email 
rather than post

ee Download a Stock Transfer form

ee View your dividend payment history

To register for Signal Shares just visit www.signalshares.com. All you need is your investor code which can be found on your share 
certificate or dividend confirmation.

Dividends
A proposed final ordinary dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 of 55.72 euro cents per ordinary share will be paid to shareholders 
in accordance with the below timetable. 

Payment of the final ordinary dividend is subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting scheduled for 7 May 2020. 

Last date to trade shares cum-dividend

JSE Limited Tue 31 March 2020

London Stock Exchange  Wed 1 April 2020

Shares commence trading ex-dividend

JSE Limited Wed 1 April 2020

London Stock Exchange Thu 2 April 2020

Record date Fri 3 April 2020

Last date for receipt of Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRIP) elections by Central Securities Depository Participants Thu 9 April 2020

Last date for DRIP elections to South African Transfer Secretaries by shareholders Tue 14 April 2020

Last date for DRIP elections to UK Registrar by shareholders Tue 21 April 2020

Payment date Thu 14 May 2020

DRIP purchase settlement dates 
(subject to the purchase of shares in the open market):

South African Register Wed 20 May 2020

UK Register Mon 18 May 2020

Currency conversion dates

ZAR/euro Thu 27 February 2020

Euro/sterling Tue 28 April 2020

Share certificates on Mondi plc’s South African register may not be dematerialised or rematerialised between Wednesday 1 April 2020 
and Friday 3 April 2020, both dates inclusive, nor may transfers between the UK and South African registers take place between Tuesday 
24 March 2020 and Friday 3 April 2020, both dates inclusive.

Dividend tax will be withheld from the amount of the gross final ordinary dividend paid to shareholders on the South African branch register 
at the rate of 20%, unless a shareholder qualifies for an exemption.
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Your dividend currency

All dividends are declared and paid in euro with the following exceptions:

UK residents pound sterling

South African residents South African rand

Shareholders on the UK register resident in the UK may however elect to receive their dividends in euro and shareholders on the UK 
register resident outside the UK may elect to receive their dividends in pound sterling. 

Shareholders on the UK register wishing to elect to receive their dividends in an alternative currency should contact Link Asset Services 
using the details provided.

Payment of your dividends

Mondi encourages shareholders to have their dividends paid directly into their bank accounts. This means that the dividend will reach your 
bank account more securely and on the payment date without the inconvenience of depositing a cheque.

Shareholders on the UK register:

ee Shareholders with a UK bank account can elect to receive dividends directly into their bank account via Signal Shares or by contacting 
Link Asset Services.

ee Shareholders without a UK bank account may be able to take advantage of the International Payment Service offered by Link Asset 
Services. Find out more via Signal Shares or by contacting Link Asset Services.

Shareholders on the South African branch register:

ee The 2019 Interim dividend was the last dividend to be paid by cheque. Shareholders who previously received cheques should contact 
Link Market Services, if they have not already done so, to provide their bank details and ensure they continue to receive their dividends.

ee Shareholders without a South African bank account are encouraged to dematerialise their shares with a CSDP in South Africa as a 
CSDP is often able to pay dividends into foreign bank accounts. Find out more by contacting Link Market Services or any CSDP.

Reinvest your dividends

The dividend reinvestment plans (DRIPs) provide an opportunity for shareholders to have their cash dividends reinvested in Mondi plc 
ordinary shares.

The plans are available to all ordinary shareholders (excluding those in certain restricted jurisdictions). Fees may apply. 

If you wish to participate in the DRIPs you can sign up via Signal Shares or by contacting either Link Asset Services in the UK or Link 
Market Services in South Africa as appropriate.

South African dematerialisation
Mondi encourages shareholders on the South African branch register to consider dematerialising their shares. By surrendering your share 
certificate, you will hold your shares electronically with a CSDP in South Africa. 

Holding shares electronically can help to prevent share fraud, theft and loss of share certificates. 

Find out more by contacting Link Market Services or any CSDP.

Shareholders who previously held Mondi Limited shares 
Prior to 26 July 2019, Mondi had a dual listed company (DLC) structure comprising Mondi Limited, a company registered in South Africa 
and Mondi plc. Following the completion of the corporate simplification on 26 July 2019, this changed to a single holding company structure 
under Mondi plc. Mondi Limited (now Mondi South Africa (Pty) Limited) became a subsidiary of Mondi plc and the DLC arrangements 
between the two companies were terminated. Mondi Limited shareholders received Mondi plc shares held on the South African branch 
register. Shareholders who have any questions relating to their old Mondi Limited shares should contact Link Market Services.

Taxation
Mondi is unable to advise shareholders on taxation. Your tax obligations will vary depending on your jurisdiction and financial circumstances. 
With regard to your Mondi shareholding, we recommend all shareholders maintain records of dividend payments, share purchases and 
sales. A dividend confirmation will be sent with all dividend payments. For further assistance, please speak to an independent professional 
tax or financial adviser.

Shareholder information
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Donating shares to charity
If you have a small number of shares which would cost you more to sell than they are worth, there is the option to donate these unwanted 
shares to charity free of charge. These shares are then aggregated, sold and the proceeds distributed to various charities. Donate your 
shares or find out more using the relevant contact details below:

Shares held on the UK register Shares held on the South African branch register

ShareGift Strate Charity Shares

Postal address PO Box 72253 
London 
SW1P 9LQ 
UK

PO Box 78608 
Sandton, 2146 
South Africa

Helpline number +44 (0)20 7930 3737 0800 202 363 
(if calling from South Africa)

+27 11 870 8207 
(if calling from outside South Africa)

Email help@sharegift.org charityshares@computershare.co.za

Online www.sharegift.org http://www.strate.co.za/we-care/strate-charity-shares

Fraud

Shareholders should be aware that they may be targeted by certain organisations offering unsolicited investment advice or the 
opportunity to buy or sell worthless or non-existent shares. Should you receive any unsolicited calls or documents to this effect, you are 
advised not to give out any personal details or to hand over any money without ensuring that the organisation is authorised by the UK 
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and doing further research.

If you are unsure or think you may have been targeted you should report the organisation to the FCA. For further information, please 
visit the FCA’s website at www.fca.org.uk, email consumer.queries@fca.org.uk or call the FCA consumer helpline on 0800 111 6768 if 
calling from the UK or +44 20 7066 1000 if calling from outside the UK.

Shareholders can also contact Link Asset Services in the UK, Link Market Services in South Africa or Mondi’s company secretarial 
department on +44 (0)1932 826300.

Account amalgamations
If you receive more than one copy of any documents sent out by Mondi or for any other reason you believe you may have more than one 
Mondi plc account, please contact the relevant Registrar who will be able to confirm and, if necessary, arrange for the accounts to be 
amalgamated into one.

Alternative formats
If you would like to receive this report in an alternative format, such as in large print, Braille or in audio format, please contact Mondi’s 
company secretarial department on +44 (0)1932 826300. 

Mondi plc 
Registered office 
Building 1, 1st Floor 
Aviator Park 
Station Road 
Addlestone  
Surrey 
KT15 2PG 
UK

Tel. +44 (0)1932 826300 
Fax. +44 (0)1932 826350

Registered in England and Wales 
Registered No. 6209386

Website: www.mondigroup.com
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Glossary of terms

In addition to the terms explained below, the Group presents certain financial measures that are not defined or specified according to 
IFRS. These measures, referred to as Alternative Performance Measures (APMs), are defined in note 31 in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. A full glossary of sustainability-related terms and partner organisations can be found in Mondi’s online Sustainable 
development report 2019.

Sustainable Development report –  
www.mondigroup.com/sd19

Certified wood
Certified wood is produced from wood fibre 
which originates from sustainably managed 
forest lands. The most recognised forest 
certification schemes are PEFCTM and FSCTM.

FSCTM

Forest Stewardship CouncilTM is an 
international not-for-profit, multi-stakeholder 
organisation established in 1993 to promote 
socially and environmentally responsible 
management of the world’s forests by way of 
standard setting, third-party certification and 
labelling of forest products.

PEFCTM

Programme for the Endorsement of Forest 
CertificationTM is an international not-
for-profit non-government organisation 
dedicated to promoting sustainable forest 
management through independent third-
party certification.

Circular economy
An industrial system that is restorative 
or regenerative by intention and design. 
It replaces the ‘end-of-life’ concept with 
restoration, shifts towards the use of 
renewable energy, eliminates the use of toxic 
chemicals which impair reuse, and aims for 
the elimination of waste through the superior 
design of materials, products, systems and 
business models.
Ellen MacArthur Foundation definitionTM

CoC
Chain-of-Custody is a tracking system 
that allows manufacturers and traders to 
demonstrate that timber comes from a forest 
that is responsibly managed in accordance 
with credible standards.

COD
Chemical oxygen demand is a measure of 
the oxygen consuming capacity of inorganic 
and organic matter present in the waste 
water. It is a metric for emissions to water.

Controlled wood (CW)
Controlled wood is a special category of 
wood material which has been verified 
as having a low probability of including 
wood from:

ee illegally harvested wood

ee wood harvested in violation of traditional 
and civil rights

ee wood harvested in forests in which high 
conservation values are threatened by 
management activities

ee wood harvested in forests being 
converted from natural and semi-natural 
forest to plantations and non-forest use

ee wood from forests in which genetically 
modified trees are planted

GHG and CO2e
Greenhouse gases (GHG) are gases 
listed in the Kyoto Protocol of the United 
Nations Framework Convention on Climate 
Change (UN-FCCC) that contribute to the 
greenhouse effect and are regulated by the 
Kyoto Protocol. We convert non-CO2 GHGs 
(such as CH4 or N2O) into an amount of 
CO2 with an equivalent warming potential. 
Total GHG emissions are the sum of the 
equivalent amount of CO2 for each GHG, 
abbreviated as CO2e.

Scope 1 emissions
Total GHG emissions from sources owned 
or controlled by Mondi and its subsidiaries. 
This includes CO2e from fossil fuels and 
processes, company leased/owned vehicles, 
waste and waste water treatment, make-up 
chemicals, and other GHGs.

Scope 2 emissions
Total GHG emissions from sources that are 
related to generation of purchased energy 
outside the company boundaries.

Scope 3 emissions
Total GHG emissions from the production 
of fuel and raw materials business travel; 
raw materials; transport of products and raw 
materials; and employee commuting.

GRI
The Global Reporting Initiative is a not-for-
profit organisation that produces one of 
the world’s most prevalent frameworks for 
sustainability reporting.

Specific
Figures reported in specific terms are 
normalised to saleable production tonnes.

SDGs
The UN Sustainable Development 
Goals were launched in 2015, involving a 
comprehensive, far-reaching and people-
centred set of 17 universal and transformative 
goals and 169 targets. They are integrated 
and indivisible, and will stimulate action 
over the next years until 2030 in areas of 
critical importance for humanity and the 
planet: people, planet, prosperity, peace 
and partnerships.

TRCR
Total recordable case rate is calculated as 
the number of total recordable cases (the 
sum of fatalities, lost-time injuries, restricted 
work cases, medical treatment cases 
and compensated occupational illnesses) 
divided by the number of hours worked per 
200,000 man hours.

TRS
Total reduced sulphur compounds, 
generated in the pulping process, and a 
source of odorous emissions to air.

UNGC
United Nations Global Compact is a 
strategic policy initiative for businesses that 
are committed to aligning their operations 
and strategies with 10 universally accepted 
principles in the areas of human rights, labour, 
environment and anti-corruption.
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Forward-looking statements
This document includes forward-looking statements. 
All statements other than statements of historical facts 
included herein, including, without limitation, those 
regarding Mondi’s financial position, business strategy, 
market growth and developments, expectations of 
growth and profitability and plans and objectives of 
management for future operations, are forward-looking 
statements. Forward-looking statements are sometimes 
identified by the use of forward-looking terminology 
such as ‘believe’, ‘expects’, ‘may’, ‘will’, ‘could’, ‘should’, 
‘shall’, ‘risk’, ‘intends’, ‘estimates’, ‘aims’, ‘plans’, ‘predicts’, 
‘continues’, ‘assumes’, ‘positioned’ or ‘anticipates’ or the 
negative thereof, other variations thereon or comparable 
terminology. Such forward-looking statements involve 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 
factors which may cause the actual results, performance 
or achievements of Mondi, or industry results, to be 
materially different from any future results, performance 
or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements. Such forward-looking statements 
and other statements contained in this document 
regarding matters that are not historical facts involve 
predictions and are based on numerous assumptions 
regarding Mondi’s present and future business strategies 
and the environment in which Mondi will operate in the 
future. These forward-looking statements speak only as 
of the date on which they are made.

No assurance can be given that such future results will be 
achieved; various factors could cause actual future results, 
performance or events to differ materially from those 
described in these statements. Such factors include in 
particular but without any limitation: (1) operating factors, 
such as continued success of manufacturing activities 
and the achievement of efficiencies therein, continued 
success of product development plans and targets, 
changes in the degree of protection created by Mondi’s 
patents and other intellectual property rights and the 
availability of capital on acceptable terms; (2) industry 
conditions, such as strength of product demand, intensity 
of competition, prevailing and future global market prices 
for Mondi’s products and raw materials and the pricing 
pressures thereto, financial condition of the customers, 
suppliers and the competitors of Mondi and potential 
introduction of competing products and technologies 
by competitors; and (3) general economic conditions, 
such as rates of economic growth in Mondi’s principal 
geographical markets or fluctuations of exchange rates 
and interest rates.

Mondi expressly disclaims a) any warranty or liability as 
to accuracy or completeness of the information provided 
herein; and b) any obligation or undertaking to review or 
confirm analysts’ expectations or estimates or to update 
any forward-looking statements to reflect any change 
in Mondi’s expectations or any events that occur or 
circumstances that arise after the date of making any 
forward-looking statements, unless required to do so 
by applicable law or any regulatory body applicable to 
Mondi, including the JSE Limited and the LSE.

This document includes market position estimates 
prepared by the Group based on industry publications 
and management estimates. Main industry publication 
sources are:  
Fastmarkets RISI, Pöyry, Henry Poole Consulting, 
Eurosac, Freedonia, Alexander Watson Associates, PCI 
Wood Mackenzie, EMGE, EURO-GRAPH, Pulp and 
Paper Products Council, Bumprom and SBO.
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Integrated report and financial statements 2019
A balanced overview of Mondi’s performance in 2019  
and insight into how our approach to strategy, governance,  
people and performance combine to generate 
value in a sustainable way. Also available online at: 
www.mondigroup.com/ir19

Sustainable Development report 2019
A comprehensive view of our approach to sustainable 
development and our performance in 2019, prepared 
in accordance with the GRI Standards: Core 
option. Available online as an interactive pdf at: 
www.mondigroup.com/sd19 
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Mondi investor relations team
Building 1, 1st floor, Aviator Park 
Station Road, Addlestone 
Surrey KT15 2PG, UK 
+44 1932 826 300

www.mondigroup.com

Our 2019 suite of reports

Please visit our Group website where copies of our reports can be downloaded: 
www.mondigroup.com/reports19




